
 

www.local.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City Regions Board 
 
Agenda 
 
 
 
 
 

Wednesday, 7 June 2023 
10.00 am 
 
 
  
 
 
 
Hybrid Meeting - 18 Smith Square and 
Online 
 
 



 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk     
Local Government Association company number 11177145   

Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 0367557 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson OBE   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 
City Regions Board 
Wednesday, 7 June 2023 
 
There will be a meeting of the City Regions Board at 10.00 am on Wednesday, 7 June 2023 Hybrid 
Meeting - 18 Smith Square and Online. 
 
LGA Hybrid Meetings 
All of our meetings are available to join in person at 18 Smith Square or remotely via 
videoconference as part of our hybrid approach. We will ask you to confirm in advance if you will be 
joining each meeting in person or remotely so we can plan accordingly, if you wish to attend the 
meeting in person, please also remember to confirm whether you have any dietary/accessibility 
requirements. 18 Smith Square is a Covid-19 secure venue and measures are in place to keep you 
safe when you attend a meeting or visit the building in person. 
 
Please see guidance for Members and Visitors to 18 Smith Square here  
 
Catering and Refreshments: 
If the meeting is scheduled to take place at lunchtime, a sandwich lunch will be available. 
 
Political Group meetings and pre-meetings for Lead Members: 
Please contact your political group as outlined below for further details. 
 
Apologies: 
Please notify your political group office (see contact telephone numbers below) if you are unable to 
attend this meeting. 
 
Conservative: Group Office: 020 7664 3223     email:     lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk   
Labour:  Group Office: 020 7664 3263     email:     labgp@lga.gov.uk   
Independent:  Group Office: 020 7664 3224     email:     independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk   
Liberal Democrat: Group Office: 020 7664 3235     email:     libdem@local.gov.uk 
 
Attendance: 
Your attendance, whether it be in person or virtual, will be noted by the clerk at the meeting. 
 
LGA Contact:  
Emma West 
emma.west@local.gov.uk 
 
Carers’ Allowance  
As part of the LGA Members’ Allowances Scheme a Carer’s Allowance of £9.00 per hour or £10.55  
if receiving London living wage is available to cover the cost of dependants (i.e. children, elderly 
people or people with disabilities) incurred as a result of attending this meeting. 
 
 

https://www.18smithsquare.co.uk/
https://www.local.gov.uk/guidance-members-and-visitors-18-smith-square
mailto:lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk
mailto:labgp@lga.gov.uk
mailto:independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk
mailto:libdem@local.gov.uk


 

 

 
 
City Regions Board – Membership 
Click here for accessible information on membership  
 
Councillor Authority 
  
Conservative ( 4)  
Cllr Robert Alden Birmingham City Council 
Cllr Barry Anderson Leeds City Council 
Cllr Joanne Laban Enfield Council 
Cllr James Moyies Southend-on-Sea Borough Council 
  
Substitutes  
Cllr Simon Bennett Wolverhampton City 
Cllr Lewis Chinchen Sheffield City Council 
  
Labour ( 13)  
Mayor Marvin Rees (Chair) Bristol City Council 
Cllr Susan Hinchcliffe (Vice-
Chair) 

Bradford Metropolitan District Council 

Cllr Bev Craig Manchester City Council 
Cllr Nazia Rehman Wigan Metropolitan Borough Council 
Cllr Graeme Miller Sunderland City Council 
Cllr Kerrie Carmichael Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 
Cllr Jason Brock Reading Borough Council 
Cllr John Merry CBE Salford City Council 
Cllr Anthony Hunt Torfaen County Borough Council 
Cllr Ian Ward Birmingham City Council 
Cllr David Mellen Nottingham City Council 
Cllr Denise Scott-McDonald Royal Borough of Greenwich 
Cllr Satvir Kaur Southampton City Council 
  
Substitutes  
Cllr Chris Penberthy Plymouth City Council 
Cllr Bob Cook Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 
Cllr Brenda Dacres Lewisham London Borough 
  
Liberal Democrat ( 2)  
Cllr Gareth Roberts (Deputy 
Chair) 

Richmond upon Thames London Borough 
Council 

Cllr Greg Stone Newcastle upon Tyne City Council 
  
Substitutes  
  
  
Independent ( 2)  
Cllr Gillian Ford (Deputy Chair) Havering London Borough Council 
Cllr Martin Fodor Bristol City Council 
  
Substitutes  
Cllr James Giles Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames 
 

https://lga.moderngov.co.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?


 

 

 
 

Agenda 

City Regions Board 

Wednesday, 7 June 2023 

10.00 am 

Hybrid Meeting - 18 Smith Square and Online 

 
 Item  
  
1.   Welcome, Apologies and Substitutes, Declarations 

of Interest 
 

  

 
2.   Minutes of the last meeting 

 
1 - 12  

 
 OPEN SESSION Page  
     
3.   Theme 1: Future of Cities 

 
13 - 22  

 
4.   Theme 2: Levelling Up 

 
  

 
a) Supporting Economic Inclusion 
 

23 - 56  
 

b) Update on the health and devolution working 
group with NHS Confederation 

 

57 - 62  

 
5.   Theme 3: Urban Resilience 

 
  

 
a) Local Resilience Act 
 

63 - 70  
 
6.   Theme 5: Growth Funding 

 
  

 
a) Supporting Economic Growth and Prosperity 
 

71 - 114  
 

b) Growth Funding Update 
 

115 - 122  
 
7.   Work Programme 

 
  

 
8.   City Regions Annual Report 

 
123 - 128  

 
 
 



 

 

  
 CONFIDENTIAL SESSION Page  
     
9.   Theme 4: Green Jobs and Skills 

 
129 - 144  

 
10.   Theme 5: Growth Funding 

 
  

 
a) Councils' Future Role in Driving Growth and 

Prosperity 
 

145 - 158  

 
b) Presentation from WPI economics 
 

  

    
 
 
 Date of Next Meeting: Wednesday, 20 September 2023, 1.00 pm, 

Westminster Room, 8th Floor, 18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ 
 





Document is Restricted

Page 1

Agenda Item 2





  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

Theme 1: Future of Cities 

Purpose of Report 
For direction. 

Is this report confidential? No 

Summary 
This report provides an update on the recent urban summit and an overview of follow-up 
work. 
 

LGA Plan Theme: Stronger local economies, thriving local democracy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact details 

Contact officer: Philip Clifford 

Position: Senior Adviser 

Phone no: 07909 898327  

Email: philip.clifford@local.gov.uk 

Recommendation(s)

That the Board note the success of the urban summit and provide a steer 
on any additional activities or areas of focus they would like to see in the 
coming months.

Page 13

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:philip.clifford@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

Error! Reference source not found. 

Background   
 
Outcome and Purpose 
  
1. The purpose of this project is to reach an agreed set of asks and offers around the 

future of cities, which can inform the LGA’s lobbying to Government and political 
manifestos ahead of the next general election, as well as being used by cities and 
urban areas themselves. This will be achieved by bringing together the voices of city 
leaders, experts, and now urban residents, to draw on their understanding of how cities 
need to change to meet the needs of the future and the strong offer cities can make to 
some of the important challenges facing the nation.   

2. Key stakeholders to engage for this work include the RSA, Core Cities, Key Cities, 
London Councils, SIGOMA and 3Ci. Officers will continue to work with these 
organisations, particularly where similar projects can be brought together.   

3. The desired outcome of this work is that the leaders of our city regions will be 
empowered to play a key role to play in the shaping of cities in the future, ensuring that 
they are inclusive, flourishing regions able to manage global challenges and access a 
diverse range of funding.  

Context 
  
4. On 22 March 2023, the LGA held its second urban summit, hosting more than 100 

delegates and facilitating contributions from a wide range of speakers, including: Andy 
Haldane, Bruce Katz, Alice Charles, Joy Warmington and Alex Norris MP. 

5. The day’s events were captured in an article for First Magazine and a selection of 
presentations from the various sessions are available on the LGA’s website. It also saw 
the launch of a series of commissioned videos ‘City Citizens’ and the publication of an 
open letter from the leaders of Core Cities, Key Cities and London Councils to 
government, setting out the case for further investment in cities. Andy Haldane’s 
comments were also picked up in the Local Government Chronicle. 

6. A write-up providing an overview of two sessions from the event is attached at Appendix 
A. The RSA also undertook an evidence gathering exercise to ensure that the views of 
participants were captured for consideration and inclusion in their UK Urban Futures 
Commission. The commission is due to be launched in September and will provide a 
practical blueprint to effect and fund change in the UK’s Cities. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.lgafirst.co.uk/features/urban-futures/
https://www.local.gov.uk/urban-summit-22-march
https://www.local.gov.uk/urban-summit-22-march
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/devolution/future-cities
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/devolution/joint-letter-michael-gove-mp-cities-platform-change
https://www.lgcplus.com/politics/devolution-and-economic-growth/haldane-levelling-up-plans-insufficiently-ambitious-24-03-2023/
https://www.thersa.org/projects/uk-urban-futures-commission
https://www.thersa.org/projects/uk-urban-futures-commission


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

7. Since the event the LGA has been approached by ITN Business to act as an editorial 
partner on their Cities of the Future programme, which is due to launch in October, in 
time for Party Conference season. 

8. We are also planning to hold an ‘urban fringe’ at the LGA’s Annual Conference in 
Bournemouth on Wednesday 5 July. This reception-style event will provide an 
opportunity to hear an update from the RSA on their Urban Futures Commission and 
receive a short presentation from 3Ci on progress with their climate investment model. 
Closer to the event we will be sending out targeted invitations to key stakeholders with 
an interest in cities and urban areas. In order to support this event we will also be 
updating our Future of Cities microsite with new analysis and data. 

9. Furthermore, now that the pre-election period has ended, we are working with our 
public affairs team to arrange a follow-up meeting with Alex Norris MP, Shadow Minister 
for Levelling Up and Dehenna Davidson MP, Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State 
for Levelling Up to discuss the proposals contained in the open letter and the wider offer 
from city leaders. 

Proposal   
10. Members are asked to review the context set out above and provide a steer on any 

additional activities they would like to see put in train over the summer, to better position 
the City Regions Board in advance of party conferences in the autumn. 

Implications for Wales  
11. This work is being carried out within the context of the Levelling Up White Paper, which 

presents a vision for the UK. While many of the investment and policy levers are likely 
different within the Welsh context there will be value in drawing on the experience of 
Welsh cities and the aspirations of Welsh city leaders as part of this work. 

Financial Implications   
12. The costs of facilitating the urban fringe as well as any additional policy or lobbying 

activities arising from this paper will be met from Board’s policy and research resources. 

Equalities implications  
13. Officers ensured that the urban summit and city citizens involved a diverse range of 

perspectives reflecting the diversity of cities in the UK. We will continue to do so as part 
of any follow-up work and use data and evidence to make the case for investment in 
cities, recognising the differential impact of national policies on the characteristics of 
urban areas. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/itn-business-produce-news-style-programme-cities-future-itnbusiness?trk=organization_guest_main-feed-card_reshare_feed-article-content#:~:text='Cities%20of%20the%20Future'%20will,to%20meet%20net%20zero%20targets.
https://www.local.gov.uk/events/lga-annual-conference-2023


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

Next steps  
14. Subject to the comments of Members, LGA Officers will take forward the work identified 

above: working with ITN Business to develop a television programme in time for the 
autumn, hosting an ‘urban fringe’ at LGA Conference, organising meetings with key 
political stakeholders, carrying out further analysis in order to better understand the 
challenges facing UK cities and working to support and promote the activities of 
organisations such as 3Ci and the RSA. 

  

Page 16

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

Appendix A – Notes from the Urban Summit 
 
Response to RSA’s UK Urban Futures Commission findings: panel discussion  
Cllr Susan Hinchliffe, Leader of Bradford, introduced the panel and chaired the 
discussion. 
Dr Miatta Fahnbulleh (Chief Executive, New Economics Foundation), welcomed the 
initial findings and said the RSA work takes the debate about cities further. 
She commented that we need to ask people what they want from their cities. She 
believes they want things that fundamentally linked to environment and social 
infrastructure. 
She advocated pushing power and resources down to citizens in our cities but noted 
that some of the devolution debate tends to be technocratic and out of citizens’ 
control.  
She asked: where is the public to put the pressure on and how do we involve them 
more? 
Adam Hawksbee (Deputy Director, Onward), opened by asking how do you make 
agglomeration work? He cautioned that our cities not dense enough, not connected 
enough and not safe enough. 
He claimed that personal safety and criminality is a barrier to levelling up and we 
must recognise this. 
He noted that every area is frustrated with Whitehall, but argued that leadership in 
places is often fractured. He claimed that devolution forces people to get involved 
and that matures the political conversation.  
He concluded by arguing that the foundation for change has to be public services 
and the engine of growth is still agglomeration in cities.  
Lord Nat Wei (Conservative Peer), began by asking: how does the Shoreditch effect 
happen in other places, how do we attract tech jobs to our regional cities and create 
clusters of change and how do we manage gentrification that comes with that, in 
particular feelings of local people around house prices?  
He noted that half the growth in the local economy was digital advertising. He saw 
part of the solution was to grow the top performing businesses and use business 
rates from their success to provide entrepreneurs with access to office or retail 
space. 
He claimed that we don't focus enough on the liquid city, the post war city. He raised 
the example of empty car parks and asked what space have you got that we can do 
stuff with for a season? 
He concluded by arguing that to get an agile Britain, we need to be help urban areas 
to be nimble and see cities as places of resilience.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://neweconomics.org/profile/miatta-fahnbulleh


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

Joy Warmington (Chief Executive, Brap), commented that despite successive 
waves of regeneration in Birmingham, some areas of the city remain untouched. She 
noted that the issues around the potential of citizens and the changing demographics 
of urban areas is often missing from the conversation.  
She asked, are cites keeping pace with the needs of citizens and noted that 
sometimes it appears citizens needs are almost bolted on as an afterthought. 
She argued that in Birmingham as well as in other cities we now have a complete 
diverse melting pot. She followed-up by asking how do we get into the heads of our 
different populations, particularly young people and utilise their thoughts to create 
cities that everyone wants to occupy? 
She concluded by noting that there is a legacy of discrimination; people are reluctant 
to participate and do well, because they suffer sustained discrimination. She 
cautioned that as policy makers we don't realise how this is woven into the fabric of 
our society and our cities. 
Will Garton (Director General, DLUHC), opened by arguing that the six pillars of the 
Levelling Up White Paper are a pretty good organising framework in terms of 
creating change in urban areas. 
He believe that institutions and relationships matter hugely and noted that 
densification is happening right now in Manchester and elsewhere, with some of our 
biggest city centres are growing substantially. 
He welcomed the trailblazers in Greater Manchester and West Midlands and 
concluded by saying that driving investment through the investment zone 
programme is a big part of what we're doing. 
How do we get there: aspirations for cities and what we need to deliver change 

Sue Jarvis, Co-director of the Heseltine Institute, introduced the panel, outlining the 
work that the Heseltine Institute does on developing sustainable and inclusive cities, 
and thinking about regional inequalities and how these can be overcome.  

Sue, as chair of the panel, asked what the barriers are to greater success for cities in 
the UK, and can these barriers be overcome locally or if not, what do we need from 
Government for our cities to succeed? 

Cllr Abi Brown, Leader of Stoke-On-Trent City Council responded first, saying that 
two significant challenges were the need for inward investment into cities, and the 
question of how to create better jobs. She said that Stoke-on-Trent created a 
recovery plan as the city left the pandemic, which had four priorities: transport, 
economic development, education and skills, and health and productivity. She said 
that they have used this recovery plan as a framework to make decisions about what 
to bid for, and when they do bid for money from central Government they always try 
to fit the bid into one or more of these priorities. They also use their priorities as a 

Page 18

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

framework for lobbying Government and try and influence them to create things they 
can bid for within these priority areas.  

Cllr Ian Ward, Leader of Birmingham City Council spoke next. He said that the 
starting point for what we need from Government is a reset of the relationship 
between local and national government. Local government needs to be seen as 
equals and working together in partnerships. This happened during the pandemic, 
where local government was trusted to deliver bespoke services locally.  

Beyond the need for a reset in the relationship with government, Cllr Ward said that 
we need to bring the benefit of growth to the city as a whole. The current competitive 
bidding system is a barrier to this, as cities are competing against each other, and 
wasting money, sometimes bidding with little chance of success. There needs to be 
a shift away from a centralised state, and also we need more double devolution. 
Devolution should not stop at the regional level, but have a further level down to the 
city level. If we don’t address these issues, he said, we won’t be able to move cities 
forward, and if we want the UK to be successful, cities need to be successful.  

Cllr Gareth Roberts, Leader of Richmond upon Thames London Borough Council 
responded next. He outlined the issues of the overuse and overreliance of cars, 
saying that this is a barrier to both the success of cities now and the ability to carry 
out further development. He argued that the more we can free people from the 
reliance on personal car use, the easier it will be to create cities that are good for 
people to live in. He argued that the move away from a reliance on cars is necessary 
both in terms of creating a greener, more sustainable city, but also a healthier city.  

Sue next asked the panel: do our city leaders have enough power? And does the 
Government’s plans to extend devolution help cities to level up?  
 
Cllr Roberts answered this first, saying that the question is not necessarily whether 
or not leaders have enough powers, but whether they have the right powers. He 
gave the example of the Mayor of London, who has powers over certain parts of the 
transport network in London, such as the tube and bus network, but he has little to 
no real authority over the rail network. His area of Richmond is reliant on rail 
connections to central London, but the Mayor has no power to improve these or align 
these. There is also a cost implication for residents, as a single train fare is more 
than twice as expensive as a single tube fare for an equivalent journey.  
 
Cllr Roberts also stressed the need for the right level of accountability, saying that 
the GLA has few powers to hold the Mayor to account. He argued that ‘with great 
power comes great accountability’.  

Page 19

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

 
Cllr Ward spoke next, on the need for decisions to be made at the closest level to 
where people live. Cities are the scale at which leaders can take on the big 
challenges like the transition to net zero. He said that in Birmingham, 40 per cent of 
children and young people grow up in relative poverty, but that it is hard to tackle 
these issues due to the fragmented and uncertain approach to public investment 
from the current government. He argued that there is a need to join up funding 
streams and empower leaders at a local level. He also said there is a need to 
change the view that exists in Government around combined authority powers – 
local authorities are the conveners and place shapers for cities and need 
corresponding powers. He said he could not see that the answers to the challenges 
cities face will come from Whitehall, and instead Government should see cities as a 
system and give powers to local authorities as well as metro mayors to accelerate 
whole place regeneration.  
 
Cllr Brown said that she did think that local leaders needed more powers. She 
reminded everyone that Stoke had been mentioned 20 times in the Levelling Up 
White Paper but the benefits of devolution had yet to be felt, and this was in part 
because the three levels of the devolution framework didn’t match where Stoke is 
now and the kinds of powers that would be helpful for them to have.  
 
She went on to say that the proposals for devolution are interesting but not 
necessarily right for all places. She said she knows Stoke-on-Treant better than the 
Government, and that transport is the top power that needs to be devolved to the 
area.  
 
Finally, Sue asked: are there urban success stories from your local experience that 
could be replicated in other UK cities?   
 

Cllr Ward answered, giving the example of the Commonwealth Games, which 
delivered under budget, and levered considerable investment into the city and the 
surrounding area. He said that this was a good example of how procurement can be 
used to deliver social value, as they had put conditions on procurement for the 
commonwealth games which had reaped significant benefits for Birmingham. 

Cllr Roberts said that as a member of London Councils, he has seen the benefits of 
working on a cross-party basis, and that when councils come together, they can 
deliver better outcomes. He said that this was seen particularly during the pandemic, 
where councils worked together on the response to covid-19, and this work now 

Page 20

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

continues in London on the work they are doing to tackle health inequalities.  

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk




  
City Region Board  

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

V1 2023 
 

Theme 2: Levelling Up 

The role of councils in supporting economic inclusion: Unlocking 
talent to level-up   

Purpose of Report 
For direction. 

Is this report confidential? No 

Summary 
This paper sets out below an overview of the six guiding principles to realise 
economic inclusion in employment and skills, and the key role we would like to see 
local government play.  

LGA Plan Theme: Stronger local economies, thriving local democracy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact details 

Contact officer: Bushra Jamil  

Position: Adviser  

Phone no: 07881528420 

Email: bushra.jamil@local.gov.uk   

  

Recommendation(s)

That the Board Members  

1. Provide comments and a steer on the Economic Inclusion Principles paper (Appendix 
1.)

2. Comment on the proposed next steps to take this work forward (para 17 – 21).

Page 23

Agenda Item 4a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:bushra.jamil@local.gov.uk


  
City Region Board  

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

V1 2023 
 

Theme 2: Levelling Up 

Theme 2: Levelling Up 

The role of councils in supporting economic inclusion: Unlocking 
talent to level-up   

Purpose and outcome 
1. The purpose of the LGA’s economic inclusion work is to bolster our Work Local vision 

and objectives and to demonstrate local government’s key role in improving equality 
and diversity in jobs and skills to levelling up local areas.  
 

2. The desired outcome of this work is that councils will be empowered on how to enhance 
their key role in supporting economic inclusion in their local communities and identify 
the challenges that exist. 
 

3. This project is led jointly with the People and Places Board. We propose further work 
with the Economy, Environment, Housing and Transport and Innovation and 
Improvement Boards for members’ consideration.  

Background   
4. As part of the LGA’s Work Local and the Government’s Levelling up ambitions we have 

undertaken to better understand the challenges of employment and skills inequalities 
that restrict economic inclusion for people and places. The Board agreed to explore how 
the role of councils in supporting economic inclusion in employment and skills could be 
advanced to help unlock talent and level up local areas. 
 

5. Our analysis revealed that despite councils having wide-ranging responsibilities to 
tackle inequalities and promote youth participation, and working hard at the vanguard of 
this agenda, stark inequalities are prevalent in both people and places; therefore, more 
remains to be done to address the longstanding and systemic issues. 
  

6. At the last Board meeting an update paper set out our work to date including evidence 
to illustrate the regional disparities in employment, education participation/outcomes; 
the key findings from our three roundtable events and recommendations, and potential 
next steps for this piece of work. It was agreed that ‘The Economic Inclusion Principles’ 
paper and a selection of case studies to highlight ‘what good looks like’ will be shared 
with the Board for comments and approval.  
 

7. An overview of the Economic Inclusion Principles paper is provided below for 
discussion and a steer, and a full paper is Appended. To note, this paper will also be 
presented to the City Regions Board for comments and a steer. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/work-local-unlocking-talent-level
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1052708/Levelling_up_the_UK_white_paper.pdf


  
City Region Board  

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

V1 2023 
 

Proposal   
8. Economic inclusion is essential for building strong and resilient communities, reducing 

inequality and poverty, and promoting economic growth. Local government as leaders 
of place can play a key leadership role in supporting economic inclusion both as 
employers and enablers of economic growth. This important role includes: 

 
• supporting everyone regardless of their age, disability, gender reassignment, 

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, 
sexual orientation, caring responsibilities, or offending background is equipped to 
achieve their full potential in education and employment; 

• promoting equal access to sustainable employment or skills opportunities; 
• creating job opportunities for all to benefit from; 
• ensuring its workforce better reflects its local communities; 
• assisting businesses to provide training/skills opportunities for everyone; and 
• promoting policies that can create a more inclusive and equitable local economy. 
 

9. Councils have statutory responsibilities to ensure that all young people up to the age of 
18 (25 for those with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) or an 
Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan) have access to opportunities that allow them to 
participate in education, employment and training and thus contribute to the economy. 
Councils also have Corporate Parent responsibilities for children who are looked after 
and care leavers. This includes supporting initiatives and programmes that can help 
these children and young people overcome barriers to economic inclusion.  
 

10. Despite having these wide-ranging responsibilities that demand close working with local 
providers, partners and employers, councils have very few formal levers over 
commissioning or co-ordination of national provision to ensure their statutory duties for 
young people are met, and even less in areas where there are no statutory 
requirements for services. This also makes it challenging for local government to 
coordinate, plan, target and join-up provision, or build in the right wider support for 
those with complex or additional needs. As a consequence, national and regional 
disparities exist showing stark variations in both people and places. Many of these 
inequalities exist in employment and skills across many areas – age, disability, ethnicity, 
gender – and in combinations (intersectionality). 
 

11. Notwithstanding these challenges, local government is leading from the front in terms of 
supporting participation in education, employment and training through commissioning 
devolved and local discretionary provision, and by joining-up and adding value to 
national schemes. However, more remains to be done to address some of the 
longstanding and systemic issues. 

 
12. Based on our analysis and discussions with local government through a series of 

roundtable events, the six guiding principles to realise economic inclusion in 
employment and skills and the key role we would like to see local government play are 
listed below. (See Appendix 1 for full Principles paper.) This piece of work aims to 
share learning across councils and combined authorities to help them build on both 
national and devolved employment and skills provision to progress this agenda further. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  
City Region Board  

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

V1 2023 
 

 
13. Economic Inclusion Principles  
 

• Principle 1: Economic inclusion strategies, action plans, and initiatives 
informed by data on individual needs and local labour market intelligence can 
be more effective. 

 
• Principle 2: Investment in infrastructure is vital to fully achieve economic 

inclusion in people and places. 
 
• Principle 3: Local government may want to foster collaborative internal and 

external partnerships to maximise economic inclusion.  
 
• Principle 4: Local government may want to assist businesses and employers to 

support good work practices to maximise economic inclusion in local areas. 
         

• Principle 5: Local government may want to promote workforce equality, 
diversity and economic inclusion as an employer. 

 
• Principle 6: Local government may want to monitor and evaluate progress to 

ensure economic inclusion is achieved for everyone. 

Implications for Wales  
14. Employment and skills are largely devolved matters; however, the Local Government 

Association collaborates closely with Welsh local authorities and the Welsh Local 
Government Association to share best practice and expertise on our programmes. 

Financial Implications   
15. Any financial implications arising from this work will be met from the board’s core policy 

budget.  

Equalities implications  
16. This piece of work focuses on the inequalities in employment and skills faced by 

specific cohorts and communities. It set out how a more localised and partnership 
approach can be more effective in supporting economic inclusion within communities.  

Next steps  
17. A full ‘Economic Inclusion Principles’ paper is appended with details on how local 

government can advance economic inclusion in their areas. Members’ comments or 
suggestions are welcome on the Principles outline in Appendix 1. 
 

18. As mentioned at the last Board meeting Transport connectivity is a key policy strand 
that merits further examination.  

 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  
City Region Board  

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

V1 2023 
 

41.1. We are planning to collaborate with the transport policy team and EEHT 
Board to explore how councils can support individuals with transport challenges better 
and commission a specific piece of research to illustrate in more detail the different 
challenges faced by learners and young people in rural and urban areas. 

 
41.1. We could also explore if it is possible to quantify the economic cost of the 
lack of transport connectivity to regions/local areas to make a powerful case to the 
Government for the need to have local influence over transport decisions and funding.  
 

19. As highlighted above Government departments and agencies need to share detailed 
data that they hold to enable local government to target specific cohorts and deliver 
economic inclusion for their communities. So, we will continue to seek opportunities to 
make a case for access to detailed data.  

  
20. A range of activities are planned to promote our economic inclusion work, including: 

 
43.1.  First magazine article showcasing our principles paper and case studies to 
demonstrate how local government is working hard to advance this agenda, and to 
share good practice. 
 
43.2.  Webinar in the Autumn to bring together local government and stakeholders 
to discuss our economic inclusion work.   

 
21. Members’ comments on the suggested next steps and if there is anything else 

that should be included in the next steps is welcome.  
 

22. Officers to take forward actions in accordance with Board Members’ steer. 
 
 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk




DRAFT 

 

1 

 

Appendix 1: The role of local government in supporting economic 
inclusion: Unlocking talent to level-up   
 
LGA guiding principles underpinning equality, diversity and 
economic inclusion in employment and skills 
 
 

1. Purpose of the paper  
 
To set out the guiding principles to support equality, diversity and economic 
inclusion in employment and skills provision in local areas.  
 
Based on our analysis and discussions with local government (councils and combined 
authorities) through a series of roundtable events, this paper sets out below six guiding 
principles to realise economic inclusion (equality in access and outcomes) to employment 
and skills opportunities, and the key role we would like to see local government play.  
 
This piece of work aims to share learning across councils and combined authorities to help 
them build on both national and devolved employment and skills provision to progress this 
agenda further. 
 

2. The current picture of equality, diversity and economic inclusion in 
employment and skills: an overview  
 

To understand the current state of economic inclusion in local areas and in England as a 
whole, it is important to look at a range of indicators and measures that can provide an 
insight into the extent to which everyone in the community is able to participate in the 
economy and benefit from economic growth. These include for example, the unemployment 
rate, employment rate, economic inactivity rate, skills levels, and participation in education 
and skills.    

 
Some useful data and the latest developments below paint a concerning picture of the 
national and regional disparities that exist, showing stark regional variations in both people 
and places. Some of these disparities exist within regions including London and also local 
areas. Despite councils' concerted efforts to reduce these inequalities, many of them still 
persist. 

 
The Cities Outlook 2023 shows the employment rate, jobs, qualifications, and 
unemployment in cities in England. It also ranks cities with highest and lowest rates 
according to these metrics. These statistics reveal that significant gaps continue to persist in 
some measures, for example – the employment gap between disabled and non-disabled 
people remains wider than it was before the pandemic, and disabled people are still two-
and-a-half times more likely to be out of work than their non-disabled peers.  
 
A new report found that significantly fewer rural young people apply for undergraduate 
degrees – 19 per cent compared to 39 per cent from urban areas. The gap widens even 
further at a postgraduate level with 11 per cent of students coming from inner cities 
compared to just 2 per cent from the countryside. Consequently, many young people from 
rural and coastal areas face being trapped in ‘social mobility cold spots’ which leaves many 
UK businesses without a truly diverse workforce. 

 
The Department for Education (DfE) post 16 education and labour market activities, 
pathways and outcomes (LEO) research report shows that education and labour market 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4a

https://www.centreforcities.org/publication/cities-outlook-2023/?utm_source=Centre+for+Cities+Newsletter&utm_campaign=d13d70b8db-EMAIL_CAMPAIGN_5_6_2022_14_47_COPY_01&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_2a9c9d5ef9-d13d70b8db-45022801&mc_cid=d13d70b8db&mc_eid=d2e64c5049
https://www.aldridgefoundation.com/news-item/the-forgotten-generation-city-v-countryside-divide-revealed/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1122775/Research_report_-_Post_16_education_and_labour_market_activities_pathways_and_outcomes_LEO.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1122775/Research_report_-_Post_16_education_and_labour_market_activities_pathways_and_outcomes_LEO.pdf


DRAFT 

 

2 

 

pathways are incredibly diverse. It reveals that post-16 education outcomes differ according 
to individual characteristics and regions as well. For example, individuals from London were 
more likely to move through further and higher education than individuals from North East 
and East Midlands after leaving school.   

 
Recent research by the Learning and Work Institute confirms the gap between the highest 
and lowest performing regions of adult education participation is continuing to widen risking 
the success of the levelling up agenda. 
 
The Youth Futures Foundations evidence review shows that young people from ethnic 
minority backgrounds are more likely than their white peers to be in low-paid or insecure 
employment, to be on a zero-hours contract, or to have more than one job. 

 
A good transport system is fundamental to connecting people, businesses, and support 
services. It enables individuals to access education, training, or job opportunities and helps 
businesses to meet their workforce needs; however, the current inadequate transport 
connectivity is costing regions, for example, poor public transport connections in cities in the 
North of England result in a loss of productivity worth more than £16 billion a year. 
 
These disparities are often the result of a range of factors, such as, discrimination, lack of 
access to education and training, and limited job opportunities in certain regions. So, in 
response to some of these challenges, there has been a range of policies and initiatives 
developed at both a national and local level to promote economic inclusion and level up 
areas, however, more needs to be done.  
 
The Government’s Levelling Up White Paper states that ‘not everyone shares equally in the 
UK’s success. While talent is spread equally across our country, opportunity is not.’. The 
Levelling Up agenda provides an opportunity to tackle some of the most entrenched 
inequalities in our communities. To achieve economic inclusion for local communities, we 
need to focus on two of the twelve levelling up missions: Mission 1, to raising pay, 
employment, and productivity to close the gap between areas, and Mission 2 to increase 
high-quality skills in the lowest skilled areas. 
 

3. How local government is engaged in supporting equality, diversity and 
economic inclusion in employment and skills 

 
Economic inclusion is essential for building strong and resilient communities, reducing 
inequality and poverty, and promoting economic growth. Local government as leaders of 
place can play a key leadership role in supporting economic inclusion both as employers 
and enablers of economic growth. This important role includes: 
 

• supporting everyone regardless of their age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, 
sexual orientation, caring responsibilities, or offending background is equipped to 
achieve their full potential in education and employment; 

• promoting equal access to sustainable employment or skills opportunities; 
• creating job opportunities for all to benefit from; 
• ensuring its workforce better reflects its local communities; 
• assisting businesses to provide training/skills opportunities for everyone; and 
• promoting policies that can create a more inclusive and equitable local economy. 
 

Page 30

Agenda Item 4a

https://learningandwork.org.uk/what-we-do/lifelong-learning/adult-participation-in-learning-survey/
https://youthfuturesfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Youth-Futures-Foundation-Narrowing-the-gap-tackling-ethnic-disparities.pdf
https://www.newcivilengineer.com/latest/poor-transport-connectivity-costs-the-north-16bn-a-year-in-productivity-losses-23-03-2022/
https://www.newcivilengineer.com/latest/poor-transport-connectivity-costs-the-north-16bn-a-year-in-productivity-losses-23-03-2022/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1052708/Levelling_up_the_UK_white_paper.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1052708/Levelling_up_the_UK_white_paper.pdf


DRAFT 

 

3 

 

Councils have statutory responsibilities to ensure that all young people up to the age of 18 
(25 for those with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) or an Education, Health 
and Care (EHC) plan) have access to opportunities that allow them to participate in 
education, employment and training and thus contribute to the economy. Councils also have  
Corporate Parent responsibilities for children who are looked after and care leavers. This 
includes supporting initiatives and programmes that can help these children and young 
people overcome barriers to economic inclusion.  
 
Many councils run adult and community learning (ACL) provision in devolved and non-
devolved areas supporting around 600,000 adults every year to develop skills for work and 
life. Mayoral Combined Authorities (MCAs) and the Greater London Authority (GLA) 
continue to shape their adult skills offer locally and bring the further education sector 
together through a devolved Adult Education Budget (AEB). 
 
Despite having these wide-ranging responsibilities that demand close working with local 
providers, partners and employers, councils have very few formal levers over commissioning 
or co-ordination of national provision to ensure their statutory duties for young people are 
met, and even less in areas where there are no statutory requirements for services. This 
also makes it challenging for local government to coordinate, plan, target and join-up 
provision, or build in the right wider support for those with complex or additional needs. As a 
consequence, national and regional disparities exist showing stark variations in both people 
and places. Many of these inequalities exist in employment and skills across many areas – 
age, disability, ethnicity, gender – and in combinations (intersectionality). 
 
Notwithstanding these challenges, local government continue to lead from the front in terms 
of supporting participation in education, employment and training through commissioning 
devolved and local discretionary provision, and by joining-up and adding value to national 
schemes. For example, Cambridgeshire & Peterborough CA used its Adult Education 
Budget (AEB) £12 million allocation to increase participation by nearly 10 per cent (2020/21), 
targeting low-skilled residents in deprived areas (Fenland and Peterborough), and 
introduced a £1,200 bursary for Care Leavers aged 19-22, fully funded English for Speakers 
of Other Languages (ESOL). Staffordshire County Council’s Celebrating Differences 
promotional campaign supports those with autism and learning difficulties and Staffordshire 
Connects has helped individuals with multiple barriers into education, training or 
employment through the Evolve - Steps To Work programme. 
 
However, more remains to be done to address some of the longstanding and systemic 
issues to ensure a more inclusive and equitable local economy. Therefore, as part of the 
LGA’s Work Local and Levelling up ambitions we have undertaken to better understand the 
challenges of employment and skills inequalities across people and places. 
 
In Work Local we set out our ambition to work with Government to unlock talent by 
spreading opportunity to all parts of the country. This is critical for the economy and local 
areas as significant skills gap are predicted by 2030.  
 
Furthermore, diversity is also essential to improve economic performance as Delivering 
through diversity, reaffirms the link between diversity - a greater proportion of women and a 
more mixed ethnic and cultural composition - and a company financial performance. The 
Race in the workplace report, estimates the potential benefit to the UK economy from a full 
representation of Black Minority Ethnic (BME) in the workforce as £24 billion a year.  
 
Overall, while there are still significant challenges to achieving economic inclusion in 
England, there is also a strong commitment from local government to address these 
challenges and promote greater economic opportunity and access for everyone in their 
community. A range of case studies are given below to demonstrate how local government 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4a

https://www.local.gov.uk/learning-life-role-adult-community-education-developing-thriving-local-communities
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/qxITCBgE9cPvmJ7hNOKUv
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/qxITCBgE9cPvmJ7hNOKUv
https://www.staffordshireconnects.info/kb5/staffordshire/directory/service.page?id=hrQFtk_km_4
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/work-local-unlocking-talent-level
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1052708/Levelling_up_the_UK_white_paper.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/work-local-unlocking-talent-level
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/FINAL%20LGA%202019%20Skills%20Gaps%20report%20final%20December%202019.pdf
https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/people-and-organizational-performance/our-insights/delivering-through-diversity
https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/people-and-organizational-performance/our-insights/delivering-through-diversity
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/594336/race-in-workplace-mcgregor-smith-review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/594336/race-in-workplace-mcgregor-smith-review.pdf


DRAFT 

 

4 

 

is working to achieve this ambition and how much further it would be able to go if 
empowered more fully to act on local inequalities. 
 

4. Economic Inclusion Roundtables  
 

To build on our initial research and evidence base, we hosted a series of roundtables 
between December 2022 and January 2023 to hear directly from local government around 
the country. The three roundtables were as follows: 
 

• the first roundtable focused on rural and coastal issues; 
• the second looked at urban challenges, and;  
• the third and concluding roundtable focussed on London and the South East.  

 
The purpose of the roundtables was to explore how local government is working to improve 
equality and diversity in employment and skills outcomes to encourage economic inclusion 
for their communities. The sessions aimed to develop a better understanding by capturing 
the thoughts and experiences of those working to advance this agenda.  
 
The evidence gathered provides a snapshot of the challenges and how these are being 
addressed. A summary report of the roundtables is provided in Appendix 2. 
 
The findings from the roundtables identify a number of emerging themes set out below. We 
believe these warrant further consideration to improve services on the ground. The key 
themes include: 
 

• Specific needs of individuals and lack of data 
• Fragmented funding  
• Digital connectivity 
• Transport connectivity 
• The role of employers and businesses  
• Partnership working 

 
5. Principles to support equality, diversity and economic inclusion in 

employment and skills in local areas 
 
Based on our analysis and discussions with local government through a series of roundtable 
events, the six guiding principles to realise economic inclusion in employment and skills 
and the key role we would like to see local government play are set out below.  
 
Principle 1: Economic inclusion strategies, action plans, and initiatives informed by 
data on individual needs and local labour market intelligence can be more effective. 

 
Key to promoting economic inclusion in employment and skills is understanding the specific 
needs and opportunities that exist in the local and regional area. This includes 
understanding the local labour markets, the skills and qualification levels of individuals, the 
specific characteristics of individuals - age, disability, ethnicity, gender, and intersectionality, 
and the needs of local businesses and employers.  
 
At present, there is an inconsistent approach to sharing data that often results in a lack of 
access to granular and high-quality local and national data held by government 
departments/agencies. This often hampers local government’s efforts to understand how 
national provision is being used locally to meet the needs of individuals and target provision 
effectively. For example, the lack of detailed data from the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP), Jobcentre Plus about Universal Credit claimants; and the Department for 

Page 32

Agenda Item 4a



DRAFT 

 

5 

 

Education (DfE) destination measure to show more detailed information about those who 
have moved into jobs or higher education. 
 
Government departments and agencies need to share detailed data that they hold to enable 
local government to target specific cohorts and deliver economic inclusion for their 
communities. This will help paint an accurate picture of people and places as specific 
cohorts or geographical pockets of need can be masked at a regional or local level. Local 
government should not have to duplicate work to plug data gaps where it already exists. The 
available data should be used and interpreted carefully so that it is an accurate reflection of 
people or places. 
 
Meanwhile, to fill the data gap, and where they have the resources to do so, local 
government may want to conduct research and analysis on local employment trends and 
skills gaps that involves collaborating with employers and community groups to better 
understand their needs and priorities. This information can then better inform the 
development of plans and strategies to address specific barriers to economic inclusion for 
underrepresented groups, for example, the lack of access to training and education for 
particular groups – those from a Black, Asian, and minority ethnic (BAME) or disabled 
community.  
 
Strategic plans can also be used to identify and target specific industries or sectors, which 
have the potential to create jobs and economic opportunities for individuals that may be 
excluded from the local economy. For example, local government may prioritise the 
development of the growing green or digital economy, which has the potential to create jobs 
for individuals who may face barriers to employment. Leeds City Council Best City Ambition 
is focussed on three pillars: Health and wellbeing, Inclusive growth and Zero Carbon. The 
council’s inclusive growth ambition is to by 2030 have an economy that works for everyone, 
working to tackle poverty and ensure that the benefits of economic growth are distributed 
fairly across the city, creating opportunities for all. Lambeth Council ELEVATE programme 
links with its Lambeth Made initiative to provide specialised support to young people to enter 
careers in creative and digital industries. The council links its knowledge of the local needs 
of young people, who are often disproportionately impacted by unemployment, with its 
Creative and Digital Strategy which aims to foster inclusive growth in this key local growth 
sector. 
 
The specific data can also be shared with Government departments to help inform national 
programmes and funding decisions. A targeted and tailored approach that meets the specific 
needs of people and a place is likely to deliver better measurable impact than generic 
programmes and, therefore, help the levelling up mission to increase high-quality skills in the 
lowest skilled areas. For example, Tees Valley CA has launched Teesworks Skills Academy 
to tackle its low skills and high unemployment issue and ensure that its Teesworks 
employers are able to recruit local people with the right skills. 
 
Principle 2: Investment in infrastructure is vital to fully achieve economic inclusion in 
people and places. 

 
Infrastructure is fundamental to connecting people, businesses, and support services. It 
enables access to education, training, or job opportunities and is therefore key to the 
levelling up mission about increasing employment, and productivity to close the gap between 
areas. The British Chambers of Commerce (BCC) survey exploring the suitability of SMEs’ 
local training environments shows that factors such as the availability of quality public 
infrastructure, and access to skilled labour are entrenching a rural-urban divide among UK 
SMEs. The survey found that 58 per cent of SMEs in rural areas do not believe their area 
has reliable and well-connected trains, compared with 39 per cent in urban area. The rural-
urban divide is also evident when it comes to connectivity. While 82 per cent of SMEs in 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4a

https://www.leeds.gov.uk/plans-and-strategies/best-city-ambition
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/6DYQCWnBoFyjXQpHx0ojZ/
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/eEIlCVmZnCPlkE4sGAlow/
https://www.teesworks.co.uk/jobs/skills-academy
https://www.teesworks.co.uk/
https://www.britishchambers.org.uk/news/2023/03/public-infrastructure-and-access-to-labour-splits-uk-small-businesses-down-rural-urban-divide
https://www.britishchambers.org.uk/news/2023/03/public-infrastructure-and-access-to-labour-splits-uk-small-businesses-down-rural-urban-divide
https://www.britishchambers.org.uk/news/2023/03/public-infrastructure-and-access-to-labour-splits-uk-small-businesses-down-rural-urban-divide
https://www.britishchambers.org.uk/news/2023/03/public-infrastructure-and-access-to-labour-splits-uk-small-businesses-down-rural-urban-divide


DRAFT 

 

6 

 

urban areas agree their area has reliable broadband this falls to around half, 56 per cent in 
rural areas. It is pivotal for local government to continue to invest in infrastructure such as 
transport, broadband, housing, childcare provision, and community facilities to support 
economic growth and create training and employment opportunities to realise economic 
inclusion for their communities.  
 
Transport cost and connectivity 
 
Transport, due to the diverse geography, connectivity, and cost in some areas acts as a 
significant barrier for individuals, particularly in rural areas where there is possibly limited 
public infrastructure in place. Transport connectivity challenges are noted in our Work 
Local report – the lack and cost of transport in rural areas and the large disparities and 
greater socio-economic challenges in urban areas. 
 
Due to the lack of transport connectivity, there are fewer opportunities, and provider delivery 
costs are often high; resulting in limited or lack of provision totally in some areas. Effective 
measures need to be adopted to minimise the adverse impact on individuals.  
 
Many councils and combined authorities are supporting young people with costs and 
transport issues in innovative ways, for example, Derbyshire Wheels to Work offers help to 
young people who are experiencing transport issues that are preventing them from getting to 
work, through a loan scheme providing young people with bikes, e-bikes, and mopeds. 
Meanwhile, in the North East a ‘Flexibility’ smartcard has been introduced by Go North East 
and Co-Wheels that can be used for bus journeys and access to a car club.  
 
To support economic inclusion, local government may want to continue to invest in the 
transport infrastructure and develop transport solutions for underserved/excluded 
communities and ensure accessibility to improve access to job opportunities and training for 
all residents, particularly those who may face transport barriers.  
 
However, the Government’s ambition for ‘London-style transport systems’ everywhere will 
be difficult to realise as the distribution of power remains a patchwork, with significant 
anomalies and barriers remaining against levelling up to London. For example, local 
government’s influence over buses and routes is limited (in non-devolved areas) as the 
funding is awarded directly to bus operators.   
 
Digital connectivity and poverty  
 
In today’s digital age, digital connectivity is another critical factor in achieving economic 
growth. This means the extent to which individuals and businesses can access high-speed 
internet and digital technologies that enable them to participate fully in education, 
employment or training and contribute to the economy. For individual, this means having 
access to affordable digital connectivity and equipment (a computer or laptop) to study, find 
and sustain employment.   
 
However, at present, the lack of digital connectivity or digital poverty is restrictive in terms of 
both people accessing training and job opportunities. About 300,000 young people lack 
digital skills and 700 thousand young people lack access to a computer or tablet at home, 
with young people who are already vulnerable more likely to be digitally excluded. Also, 
Understanding digital poverty and inequality in the UK reports that disparities exist in levels 
and types of digital access, digital skills, usage, and outcomes across the UK. This is a 
major problem, particularly in rural areas.  
 
Analysis from the County Councils Network shows just 21 per cent of premises in county 
areas have access to gigabit broadband. Digital connectivity adversely affects the supply of 

Page 34

Agenda Item 4a

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/work-local-unlocking-talent-level
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/work-local-unlocking-talent-level
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/vision-urban-growth-and-recovery
https://www.wheelstowork.org/can-i-apply.html
https://www.transportxtra.com/publications/evolution/news/69864/combined-bus-and-car-club--smartcard-launched-in-north-east
https://www.transportxtra.com/publications/evolution/news/69864/combined-bus-and-car-club--smartcard-launched-in-north-east
https://www.onedigitaluk.com/knowledge-hub/developing-a-digital-champion-project/digital-inclusion/working-with-young-learners/#:~:text=Research%20statistics%20show%20a%20need,likely%20to%20be%20digitally%20excluded.
https://www.onedigitaluk.com/knowledge-hub/developing-a-digital-champion-project/digital-inclusion/working-with-young-learners/#:~:text=Research%20statistics%20show%20a%20need,likely%20to%20be%20digitally%20excluded.
https://www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk/publications/understanding-digital-poverty-and-inequality-in-the-uk/
https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/mps-warn-that-counties-could-become-poor-relation-to-cities-in-gigabit-broadband-rollout-with-just-one-in-five-rural-properties-connected-so-far/


DRAFT 

 

7 

 

opportunities with fewer businesses located in rural areas. Poor digital connectivity restricts 
the social and economic development of an urban area as well. Many councils and 
combined authorities are working hard to address the digital challenges. For example, 
Bradford Council has launched a new Digital Strategy to drive forward its social and 
economic development. The five-year plan sets out how it will develop the digital 
infrastructure, skills, and businesses needed to continue to build thriving and connected 
local areas. The strategy aims to enhance its digital capabilities and raise its digital growth in 
four areas; digital economy, digital inclusion, data-driven decision-making, and connected 
district.  

 
To support digital connectivity local government may want to invest in the digital 
infrastructure. For example, working with internet service providers to expand broadband 
coverage, investing in public Wi-Fi networks, and providing access to digital devices and 
software. Also, providing digital skills training to help residents and businesses develop the 
skills they need to participate in the digital economy can support help economic inclusion. 

 
A recent LGA commissioned report examined The role of councils in tackling digital 
exclusion which looked at the link between digital infrastructure and disadvantage. The 
research found that whilst there has been important progress in closing the digital 
connectivity gap, some areas are being left behind in mobile coverage. The report makes a 
number of recommendations for government and councils and combined authorities to 
support digital connectivity, including the development of local digital inclusion strategies.  
 
Principle 3: Local government may want to foster collaborative internal and external 
partnerships to maximise economic inclusion.  

 
Local government can act as leaders in supporting economic inclusion by partnering with 
other stakeholders, including government agencies, for example, Jobcentre Plus, community 
organisations, employers, and education providers. Effective partnerships can take many 
forms, including joint planning, sharing of resources and expertise, and joint funding 
arrangements. By collaborating with other stakeholders, local government can leverage the 
strengths and resources of different partners to achieve better outcomes; implement 
initiatives and programmes that are more responsive to the needs of the community and that 
have a greater impact on economic inclusion. 

 
This can involve working in collaboration to provide training and support opportunities for 
underrepresented groups, sharing best practices, and partnerships to identify and address 
barriers to accessing education, employment or training.  
 
Collaboration with different organisations offers benefits to councils. For example, partnering 
with community organisations can help to understand the needs of local residents and 
support the development of community-based solutions; collaboration with the health sector 
can help to understand the needs of those who are economically inactive due to health 
conditions and determine the type of support required to get them back into the labour 
market; and working with training providers to develop training programmes that meet the 
needs of local businesses and residents. 
 
Partnership working can also include working with training providers to identify skills 
shortages and develop training programmes that address these shortages, for example 
green or digital economy skills. Bristol City Council’s employment, skills and learning service 
(ESL) brings together apprenticeships, adult community learning, post-16 and employment 
support, and ‘Bristol One City’ is a multi-agency co-designed approach to tackling emerging 
local issues – needs and gaps. These initiatives have helped some of the most vulnerable 
and those experiencing disadvantage.  
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4a

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/browse-all-news/press-releases/bradford-council-launches-new-digital-strategy-for-the-district/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/role-councils-tackling-digital-exclusion
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/role-councils-tackling-digital-exclusion
https://www.bristolesl.com/
https://www.bristolonecity.com/


DRAFT 

 

8 

 

Cross-departmental working is also important to maximise the impact of strategies, action 
plans and interventions. By breaking down silos and aligning their strategies and initiatives, 
local government can create a more coordinated and effective approach to promoting 
economic inclusion. Sharing data and information across different departments, for example, 
housing or youth services to gain a better understanding of the needs of local residents and 
businesses. This can include sharing information on skills shortages, employment trends, 
and economic development opportunities to inform the development of policies and 
initiatives. It can also create a more evidence-based approach to promoting economic 
inclusion. Similarly by creating cross-functional teams such as Supporting Families 
Programme teams local government can ensure that different perspectives and expertise 
are brought together to create more effective solutions. It also important for councils to work 
together with other local councils, especially when young people and adults may cross 
borders for learning or work. This can help with early interventions where necessary.  
 
For example, Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils provide a tailored support offer for 
young people facing additional barriers to further education, training, and employment 
through a number of initiatives. At the Thrive Project, a multi-disciplinary team of qualified 
youth workers, teachers, curriculum experts, SEND experts, and social, emotional, and 
mental health experts, provides tailored alternative provision with 1:1 mentoring, coaching, 
personal careers advice and guidance and wider bespoke support. Meanwhile, East Sussex 
County Council ‘ESTAR’ team, based within the employment and skills team, worked with 
community sector partners to identify ways of delivering bespoke and tailored inclusive 
provision to those who are homeless and devised and trialled the Moving on Up initiative. 
 
It is also important to work with Government departments and agencies to seek guidance 
and share learning. The Equality Hub provides useful resources to support economic 
inclusion.  
 
Principle 4: Local government may want to assist businesses and employers to 
support good work practices to maximise economic inclusion in local areas. 

          
Businesses are often the primary providers of jobs and training opportunities. By 
collaborating with local businesses and public sector employers local government can create 
initiatives and programmes that facilitate job creation, skills development, and increased 
workforce participation, and thus achieve a more inclusive local economy. There are a 
number of ways the business sector can promote economic inclusion.  
 
Effective partnership work requires strong relationships between local government and 
businesses. Councils and combined authorities can establish regular communication 
channels with businesses and create forums where businesses can provide feedback on 
local economic issues. By building strong relationships, local government can gain a better 
understanding of the needs of local businesses and develop policies that are responsive to 
those needs. For example, the skills needs data from employers can help inform the 
development of bespoke training programmes to ensure a pipeline of skills. This can prove 
particularly useful in the growing or emerging sectors, for example, green or digital.  
 
Local government can encourage businesses to adopt socially responsible practices that 
promote economic inclusion. This can include promoting diversity and inclusion in the 
workplace, providing fair pay and benefits, and supporting local communities through 
corporate social responsibility initiatives. The LGA commissioned Good Work report sets out 
that there are significant benefits to creating ‘good work’ opportunities. It also helps to 
achieve the levelling up ambitions of raising pay and employment to close the productivity 
gap. Lambeth Council encourages and incentivise businesses to pay the London Living 
Wage. The council is also working with neighbouring boroughs Southwark and Lewisham to 
provide networking events for businesses. Southwark Council has developed a Southwark 

Page 36

Agenda Item 4a

https://www.themixstowmarket.org/our-services/school-support
https://sussexcommunity.org.uk/our-services/employment-support/employability-for-supported-and-temporary-accommodation-and-refuges-estar-moving-on-up/
https://sussexcommunity.org.uk/our-services/employment-support/employability-for-supported-and-temporary-accommodation-and-refuges-estar-moving-on-up/
https://www.sctp.org.uk/moving-on-up-programme/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-equality-hub
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/employment-and-skills/good-work-project
https://www.southwark.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/fairer-future


DRAFT 

 

9 

 

2030: working together for a brighter future vision. One of its Fairer Future commitment 
themes aims to tackle the barriers holding people back from securing good work. 
 
Councils and combined authorities can encourage local procurement by working with 
businesses to use local suppliers and contractors, which can support local businesses and 
create employment opportunities for local residents. This can also help to build a more 
sustainable local economy by reducing transportation costs and supporting local supply 
chains. County Durham Pound Project  brings together twelve primarily public sector 
organisations which spend nearly £1 billion between them to maximise benefits to the local 
area from their expenditure. 

 
Local government can develop comprehensive economic development strategies that 
involve employers as key stakeholders. These strategies could focus on promoting 
sustainable growth, attracting investment, and creating an enabling environment for 
businesses to thrive and supporting entrepreneurship. The Local Enterprise Partnerships 
(LEPs) transition next Spring present an opportunity for local government to enhance their 
economic development and business engagement role.  
 
Principle 5: Local government may want to promote workforce equality, diversity and 
economic inclusion as an employer. 
 
Local government have a key role to play in promoting economic inclusion as an employer. 
As large employers, councils and combined authorities can set an example by creating a 
diverse and inclusive workforce and providing opportunities for local residents to access 
employment and training.  
 
There are several ways local government can support this ambition. They can create a 
diverse and inclusive workforce by reviewing their end-to-end recruitment strategies and 
activities; by ensuring that their recruitment and selection processes are fair and transparent, 
and by providing equal opportunities for all candidates regardless of their background; 
providing opportunities for local residents to access employment and training by prioritising 
local recruitment, offering apprenticeships and work experience placements, and working 
with local training providers to develop training programmes that meet the needs of local 
communities. Local government can also support individual when employed with inclusive 
leadership by ensuring managers at all levels have the skills and capability to manage 
diverse teams. This also includes flexibility to support staff with disabilities, long term health 
conditions or caring responsibilities. 
 
As a large public sector employer, local government can lead by example and consequently 
encourage other local employers to follow the same practice. Demonstrating a commitment 
to economic inclusion can influence other employers and thus promote inclusive growth. 
economy. LGA provides a range of support and resources to help local government with 
their equality, diversity and inclusion in the workforce priorities. The LGA National 
Procurement Strategy for Local Government in England 2022 vision is to support local 
government procurement in developing from good to great. It aims to help councils deliver 
both economic and social value to communities and levelling up within and between our 
places. 
 
Many councils and combined authorities are working to promote equality, diversity and 
economic inclusion as an employer. DurhamEnable is a Durham County Council led 
Supported Employment Service for individuals who are aged 18 and above and have 
learning, physical, and/or mental health barriers to employment. The council is also 
addressing its skills needs through apprenticeships and has linked the council’s ambition for 
a thriving economy with more and better jobs to an Apprenticeship Strategy. Hackney 
Borough Council has designed a number of programmes focussing on an inclusive approach 

Page 37

Agenda Item 4a

https://www.southwark.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/fairer-future
https://www.southwark.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/fairer-future/fairer-future-commitments
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/28093/County-Durham-Pound-project-seeks-to-maximise-local-benefits-from-1billion-spend
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/workforce-and-hr-support/equality-diversity-and-inclusion-workforce
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/workforce-and-hr-support/equality-diversity-and-inclusion-workforce
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/national-procurement-strategy-local-government-england-2022#:~:text=The%20National%20Procurement%20Strategy%20for%20Local%20Government%20in%20England%202022,achieving%20community%20benefits.
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/national-procurement-strategy-local-government-england-2022#:~:text=The%20National%20Procurement%20Strategy%20for%20Local%20Government%20in%20England%202022,achieving%20community%20benefits.
https://durhamenable.info/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/28776/Apprenticeship-Strategy-2022-to-2025/pdf/ApprenticeshipStrategy2022To2025.pdf?m=637890077637600000#:~:text=The%20council's%20apprenticeship%20programme%20aims,jobs%20and%20learning%20opportunities%20with
https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/hackney-borough-council-inclusive-approach-employment
https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/hackney-borough-council-inclusive-approach-employment


DRAFT 

 

10 

 

to employment that engages and supports those experiencing disadvantage in the area, 
including, care leavers, young people with disabilities, and young Black men. Meanwhile, 
Hampshire County Council with its Inclusion Strategy is working to ensure that EDI is at the 
centre of its service provision both as an employer and also proactively engaging groups 
and individuals with protected characteristics in its skills, employment, and outdoor 
programmes. 
 
Principle 6: Local government may want to monitor and evaluate progress to ensure 
economic inclusion is achieved for everyone. 

 
To ensure effective progress is made towards achieving economic inclusion, councils and 
combined authorities may want to monitor and evaluate progress of their strategies and 
actions plans. This can involve collecting and analysing data on workforce diversity, 
monitoring training outcomes, and evaluating the impact of initiatives aimed at improving 
economic inclusion. This can help to understand the impact of policies and initiatives, 
identify areas for improvement, and make evidence-based decisions on how to allocate 
resources and support local businesses and individuals.  

 
There are several ways in which local government can monitor and evaluate their progress 
in promoting economic inclusion:  

 
Setting clear goals and targets that reflect priorities and vision for promoting economic 
inclusion in employment and skills. By setting goals and targets, local government can track 
its progress and identify areas for improvement. 
 
Gaining access to government departments and agencies held detailed data and analysing 
data on key economic indicators, such as employment rates, job vacancies, and skills 
shortages can help local government to identify trends and patterns, understand the needs 
of local businesses and residents, and assess the impact of their policies and initiatives. It is 
also essential to collect data on the demographics of the local workforce to ensure that 
economic inclusion policies are benefiting all groups equally. The Local Government 
Procurement Index is a useful tool that helps to identify what proportion of a council’s 
procurement is awarded directly to SMEs, VCSEs and locally-based suppliers, and how this 
compares with other authorities nationally. Wigan Council is working with anchor partners 
across the borough to use the public procurement as a lever to tackle some of the big 
challenges and create a fairer economy. Progressive procurement is a key part of Wigan 
Council’s Community Wealth Building strategy that ensures greater economic, social and 
environmental benefits are achieved.  
 
Councils and combined authorities can share best practices with other councils and 
organisations to learn from their experiences and improve their own policies and initiatives. 
By sharing best practices, local government can accelerate progress and create a more 
inclusive local economy. 
 
The six guiding principles outlined above are universally relevant to underpinning equality, 
diversity, and economic inclusion in employment and skills. These principles should be 
adopted in parallel to reflect the fact advancing economic inclusion requires a holistic 
approach across many different policy areas and programmes. 
 
In conclusion, to advance economic inclusion for their communities local government need 
to develop a policy framework on equality, diversity, and economic inclusion and embed it in 
all policy areas; ensure that the system is flexible and responsible for the need of all; engage 
all relevant stakeholders in implementing the policy framework to strengthen its impact; 
prepare and support leaders in developing competences and knowledge for promoting 
equality, diversity, and economic inclusion; support and monitor progress.  

Page 38

Agenda Item 4a

https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/hackney-borough-council-inclusive-approach-employment
https://www.hants.gov.uk/inclusionstrategy
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/CL_tC66VKIVmnqnf5HfXe
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/CL_tC66VKIVmnqnf5HfXe
https://www.wigan.gov.uk/Docs/PDF/Business/Council-Procurement/Community-Wealth-Building-Vision-and-Principles.pdf
https://www.wigan.gov.uk/Docs/PDF/Business/Council-Procurement/Community-Wealth-Building-Vision-and-Principles.pdf


DRAFT 

 

11 

 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4a





A                                                                                                

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion (EDI) Focus Group – 
thematic summary

May 2021

Page 41

Agenda Item 4a



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To view more research from the Local Government Association Research and 
Information team please visit: https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/research  

Page 42

Agenda Item 4a

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/research


Contents 
Purpose ........................................................................................................................1 

Interview questions .......................................................................................................2 

Question 1: ...........................................................................................................................2 

Question 2: ...........................................................................................................................4 

Question 3: ...........................................................................................................................6 

Question 4: ...........................................................................................................................7 

Additional comments: .........................................................................................................11 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 4a



 

1 

 

Purpose 
Three focus groups were held between December 2022 and January 2023. 
Participants were Economic Development Officers drawn from a range of councils in 
England: 

 
Focus Group One - Rural & Coastal 
Focus Group Two - Urban 
Focus Group Three - London and the South-East  
 
In total, 28 officers participated.  
 
The purpose of the focus groups was to explore how councils are working to improve 
equalities in employment and skills outcomes to encourage economic development 
for their communities. The focus groups aimed to develop understanding by capturing 
the thoughts and experiences of those working to advance this agenda. Each of the 
groups were asked the following questions: 
 

• What, if any, are the differences in access to employment or training 
opportunities, employment rate, and skills between groups (with different 
characteristics) in your area?  

• What, if anything, is the council doing about lessening these differences? 
• What more might be done in the future? 
• What, if any, are the barriers and enablers to lessening these differences? 

This paper provides a short thematic analysis of the responses given across all three 
groups. Where there is any difference in response by focus group this is highlighted 
in the text.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 4a



 

2 

 

Interview questions 
Question 1:  

What, if any, are the differences in access to employment or 
training opportunities, employment rate, and skills between groups 
(with different characteristics) in your area?  

Homogeneity 
Regardless of the size of the council it was evident that there was not a homogeneity 
of access to employment, training opportunities, employment rate or skills. The 
impact of this at the local level is that there is not a one size fits all approach, as this 
would not meet the specific needs of local communities. Individual groups within 
communities require support that is fit for purpose in terms of their need. For 
instance, support required by the over 50’s who wish to return to work after a 
significant period out of the employment market is different to the support needed by 
young people or those with a disability. The challenge is that the training and support 
offer that is in place does not easily map onto the nuanced local context of specific 
needs within local communities and groups.  
 
Intersectionality 
Linked to the above, there were specific groups and individuals within local 
communities that faced multiple challenge. For example, those who were older and 
from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities. This intersectionality 
was felt to further disadvantage those in communities who could not readily access 
training or employment opportunities. Ensuring that specific and relevant support 
was in place to enable those that faced multiple barriers to accessing the labour 
market was crucial, but this support infrastructure was felt not to readily be in place. 
In addition, it was noted that there was not an understanding, in a holistic sense, of 
the multiple challenges that individuals faced, both in policy but also data terms, as 
the data was not available at such a local and nuanced level to ensure that effective 
support, even when available, could be given. 

Economy and local labour market 
There were perceived to be historical reasons for differences in employment or 
training opportunities- these being due to the nature of the local economic market.  
For instance, areas that had predominantly been focused on rural or heavy industry 
economies. These historical patterns of employment were no longer in place and 
what now existed were either high levels of unemployment or employment that was  
low skilled and low paid. Issues around seasonality of employment were also raised 
by specific groups (especially those in coastal communities) who noted that where 
employment was available this was often focused on the seasonal hospitality and 
service industries with resulting in-job insecurity and below-average remuneration. 

Linked again to homogeneity issues, participants noted that even where there 
appeared to be high employment and high-wage local economies there remained an 
issue of access for specific members of the community. For example, some 
employment markets were predicated around construction where employment was 

Page 45

Agenda Item 4a



 

3 

 

often focused on younger white men, and high remuneration technical and IT related 
roles that were taken by white middle class males who commuted into the area. The 
impact on local communities looking for employment and facing multiple challenges 
due to their ethnicity or age for example, was considerable. Again, where these 
specific groups could access local employment, this was more frequently in low-paid 
and low skilled roles.  

It was noted that local economies had also altered considerably due to the COVID  
pandemic. This had resulted in the growth of significant unemployment and 
economic inactivity, especially amongst the over 50’s who had left the labour market 
and who were now finding it difficult to access employment.  Added to this, it was 
noted that the claimant rate across all ages has increased due to ill health and, going 
forward it is likely that there will be a larger number of people looking for roles at the 
local level who have the added difficulty of having to manage longer term health 
conditions. Specific support will be needed for these groups that perhaps the current 
level of provision does not adequately cater for.  

Diverse geography and transport links 
Differences in the availability of, and access to, skills and training opportunities are 
also influenced by geography. Participants noted that the ability (or not) to access 
training and support on offer can be a considerable barrier to engagement. A key 
factor in this was access to transport. Relating to transport, there were issues 
associated with both cost and access; 

Cost - participants noted that the costs of transport were a considerable barrier to 
accessing employment and training- this was felt to be particularly the case in rural 
areas. 

Access - Aside from costs, participants noted that in some areas there was no public 
transport infrastructure in place. The highly localised nature of this issue was 
highlighted, with participants noting that there are some parts of their council areas 
that are very well served and other parts (both for rural and urban councils) that had 
no infrastructure in place. For those residents needing to access training and skills 
development activity where there was little transport infrastructure, engagement was 
challenging.  

Digital connectivity 
Participants noted that a lack of digital connectivity and the costs associated with 
access to IT equipment was very restrictive in terms of people both accessing online 
training and applying for jobs. In rural areas a lack of digital connectivity was also felt 
to have adversely affected businesses with the result that employment opportunities 
were fewer as there were smaller numbers of businesses - especially small and 
medium companies. Internet access is also an issue for those in extreme poverty. 
One authority noted that the availability of distance learning and distribution of 
laptops and dongles had led to the engagement of certain groups, however, for the 
most disadvantaged, direct face to face training support is still required and so a 
more nuanced approach to technology is needed. 

 

Page 46

Agenda Item 4a



 

4 

 

Question 2:  

What, if anything, is the council doing about lessening these 
differences? 

All participants noted the challenge created by the ending of the European Social 
Fund (ESF) funding in 2023. There was uncertainty as to the level of funding that 
individual councils would receive through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 
and this was shaping what councils could do in terms of lessening difference moving 
forward. 

A range of actions and initiatives at a national and local level designed to leverage  
growth and support for communities were noted.   

Partnership working 
Participants identified the importance of the effective joint working that they had 
undertaken across agencies, specifically; government departments, local anchor 
institutions, local employers and business and community partners. This approach 
had brought together a wide range of skills and avoided duplication of effort and had  
created clear linkages for access to the local labour market. Examples of partnership 
working with these agencies included;   

Government departments - Working more closely with Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) colleagues on place-based provision strategies and a new city 
employment plan.  

Anchor institutions – The council and NHS trust working together to promote the 
wide range of job opportunities within their organisations and encouraging more 
applications from those in deprived areas from where there had previously been few. 

Employers and business - Supporting and focusing on local employers and small 
business by encouraging a review of recruitment processes making these more 
accessible, identifying systemic barriers including addressing employer concerns 
about the costs involved in making reasonable adjustments to recruit those with 
learning disabilities. Providing support in designing bespoke traineeship programmes 
and working with the construction industry by raising awareness and encouraging 
women and older workers to apply. Encouraging employers to inform the council first 
about vacancies, allowing them the opportunity to try and support individuals into 
these roles and promoting a sense of social responsibility in doing so. 

Community partners - Setting up resident and stakeholder panels or those with an 
interest in advancing equality (rather than tackling inequality) and so reframing and 
taking a positive approach. 

Local knowledge 
Participants regardless of area highlighted how they realised that the level of 
knowledge they had of their local areas as identified through data, was limited. To 
remedy this, councils were developing a greater granularity of data that more 
accurately provided a picture of community and related need which allowed them to 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4a



 

5 

 

bring services to where they are most needed. For example, developing hub-based 
approaches in smaller areas to broker learning and employment support. Building on 
this more detailed understanding of local communities and their specific needs, 
councils were recalibrating their service offer to ensure that it more fully met local 
need - for instance, one rural authority described a scheme (funded by the European 
Social Fund (ESF) which paid for driving lessons for young people who are not in 
education, employment or training (NEET), in order to allow them to access and 
travel to work and also to raise their self-esteem and aspirations. 

Provision of support 
As noted, access to relevant training and employment was not equitable to all groups 
at a local level. To address this councils were developing bespoke training and 
support that provided a tailored response to meet specific local need.  

Council procurement and ways of working 
Participants noted that council systems and structures could act both as a barrier 
and enabler to developing training and employment within their geographical area. In 
terms of barriers there was some concern around the ways in which councils, at 
times, worked within siloed structures that did not engender a joined-up approach to 
training and employment at the local level. To address this, a number of participants 
described how their councils were taking an holistic approach- for example, making 
their grant funding processes more fit for purpose to meet local need. In addition, 
councils were described as changing their practices to ensure that they were more 
able to let contracts to local business through proactive procurement and sub-
contracting, thus creating greater job opportunity at the local level.  
 
Regarding the ways in which the council itself recruited staff, it was noted that 
application processes were being streamlined to encourage greater interest from 
local communities, especially those from minority groups. Other councils were going 
further than simply refining their data sources through commissioning 
comprehensive local health inequality assessments. One council had established a 
number of equalities panels to ensure that equalities impact assessments are 
embedded within any major policy or spending decisions from the outset. Linked to 
this, councils acknowledged that they had a key role in championing EDI within local 
labour markets, and did this through the development of social value policies with 
employers, responsible business networks and through encouraging local 
recruitment and advertising for employment opportunities. 

Funding 
Councils have been considering how best to use the funding available in creative 
ways, to ensure fit for purpose approaches. Councils in London and the South-East 
noted that since the COVID pandemic, there had been an increase in unemployed 
residents wanting to open their own business or considering self-employment. As a 
result, one council had launched a business support service that would provide 
information, advice and guidance to local residents who wished to set up on their 
own.  

 

Page 48

Agenda Item 4a



 

6 

 

 

Question 3:  

What more might be done in the future? 

It is evident that all councils were committed to developing the employment and 
training opportunities for all members of their community. They highlighted innovative 
approaches that they could operationalise if they had the funds available. Areas for 
further development that were highlighted included: 

Role of council 
Councils were considering the services that they need to provide in the future, and 
therefore were carrying out a needs based assessment of their current workforce to 
identify any staffing gaps with a view to these being recruited to from local residents.  

Partnerships 
Developing partnerships with other local and community agencies (including anchor 
institutions, employers, the NHS, police, youth clubs, schools and further education 
providers) was seen as key, in harnessing a wide range of staff skills and developing 
local employment opportunities. For example, one council described the work it was 
undertaking with local employers in developing responsible business networks to 
encourage social responsibility around job opportunities and work placements. 
Another authority was developing a community learning programme for adults 
targeting those with disabilities or learning difficulties to achieve positive results. 

Local knowledge 
Participants noted that a more focused, nuanced and holistic approach was 
beneficial. Taking into account the specific local area including its geography, 
workforce and also recognising the lack of homogeneity of communities within it 
would help them target their offer more effectively and offer place-based 
approaches. For example, one authority had engaged with local frontline services 
such as the Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB), foodbank representatives and community 
engagement teams which had allowed them to ensure that service information was 
targeted directly to those who may need it and delivered in ways that were fit for 
purpose for local communities.  

Data  
As noted in the above sections, data sharing, the granularity of data and access to 
high quality local and national data was noted by councils as vital to improving their 
understanding of local areas and in identifying pockets of hidden need within them. 

Devolution  
Authorities noted that devolution provided an opportunity to develop locally designed 
services - bringing partners and resources together to do so. Authorities were 
however mindful that this would require careful planning and an awareness of any 
risks involved. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 4a



 

7 

 

National policy 
Rural and coastal and urban authorities suggested that changes to national policy 
would be of benefit. This included: 

• More flexibility around the receipt of benefits as this would help authorities 
avoid shoehorning people in according to their eligibility. They currently do not 
have discretion as there are ringfenced eligibility issues which are creating 
widespread systemic barriers.  

• Taking a more ‘whole-person’ approach would lead to better outcomes for 
individuals. Linked to this  

• Allowing local authorities to use a different type of intervention or delivery 
model based on the needs of their community would also help.  

• A more fluid and aligned approach allowing authorities to refer individuals to 
programmes or projects that would be of most use to them (regardless of the 
touchpoint of an individual) and adopting a ‘no wrong door’ approach would 
ensure that they receive the most relevant support.  

More specifically, one authority suggested nationally providing a targeted Education 
Maintenance Allowance (EMA) for young people in rural areas. This would support 
travel costs for young people to get to places where they can access services, or 
alternatively incentivize providers to deliver in rural areas and provide the funding for 
them to do so. Currently, considering how mainstream provision is delivered in rural 
areas is not factored into DWP commissioning models but is something that needs to 
be considered. Linked to this; 

In addition, streamlining funding opportunities would allow for more bespoke and 
targeted programmes to run, rather than multiple funders all competing for the same 
cohort of learners. This would then rationalise assessment, referral and progression 
pathways. 

Linking to emerging economies 
Specific to rural and coastal areas, it was noted that employment opportunities are 
developing rapidly in renewable and green infrastructure. In these emerging 
economy areas, it was suggested that support needs to be provided to residents so 
they can benefit from these employment opportunities.  

Question 4:  

What if any, are the barriers and enablers to lessening these 
differences? 

In the context of the broad funding challenges that participants had previously noted, 
a range of barriers and enablers to lessening differences were highlighted. 

Barriers: 

Fragmented Funding 
Participants noted that the fragmented nature of funding (with varied size pots of 
money being made available at different times and for different purposes), could 

Page 50

Agenda Item 4a



 

8 

 

make it difficult to provide targeted or bespoke support programmes. There were 
associated challenges in keeping track of and reporting back on the use of this 
funding, and issues relating to duplication of activity. 

Additional barriers included the fast turnaround times required in addition to specific 
government financial rubric which often meant that authorities failed to take 
advantage of available funding avenues. The resource required for councils to 
administer and manage bids for very small pots of funding could also make them not 
cost-effective to pursue.  Longevity of funding would allow councils to have a more 
streamlined and longer-term approach. 

Authorities in London and the South-East noted the following specific issues around 
funding; 

Overlapping funding systems – The funding system was felt to be geared towards 
larger adult training authorities familiar with the bidding process. Some authorities 
often have excellent community-based organisations but their access to regional 
funding schemes due to eligibility criteria, meant that the authority does not have a 
strong provider base. Greater autonomy is needed in order to make funding 
schemes more flexible and accessible. 

Changes in Adult Education Budget (AEB) funding – Changes in this funding were 
identified as problematic. Currently adult learning allows those who are economically 
inactive or not seeking employment, a more accessible route into non-accredited 
courses. 

Data 
All participants noted that there was a lack of availability, and access to, both local 
and national data. Where there is a reliance on national data, this is not broken down 
to local group level and an increased granularity of local data is needed in order to 
provide local-level insight. For example, one combined authority noted that they were 
heavily reliant on local intelligence around, for example, autism and neurodiversity 
amongst their local community, the quality of which was variable and as a result 
there was differential in terms of the success of supporting these groups and this did 
not seem a robust or consistent approach. A greater granularity of data was also 
needed to enable councils to drill down to identify hidden pockets of need and also to 
provide information to enable them to flex services around ever-changing priority 
areas in their locality. A lack of data sharing at a national level, and between 
organisations also limits council ability to cross-reference information and ensure 
that their offer is relevant. 

Accessibility 
The inability to access services was a barrier across rural and some urban 
authorities. Geographically, services were not always in the most accessible 
locations for target groups and travelling to them had cost implications. For example, 
one London authority reported that some wards are not well connected to the 
Transport for London (TFL) network and many services are located in the north of 
the area as there is less space available to house them in the south. Large rural 

Page 51

Agenda Item 4a



 

9 

 

authorities also described poor and expensive transport links to services, making 
access to them prohibitive to some target groups.  

Local labour market 
All participants noted that a lack of flexibility from local employers could create a 
barrier to work for those trying to return to the job market. A lack of flexibility around 
work hours (in order to accommodate childcare or other caring responsibilities) 
presented challenge and some employers had voiced concerns about the costs of 
making reasonable adjustments to recruit those with learning or other disabilities. For 
London authorities there was a reluctance amongst some employers to pay the 
London Living Wage making employment a less viable option for individuals. 

Siloed working 
Urban authorities noted that a siloed approach across council directorates could 
create a barrier to more effective working and that increased partnership within the 
council in addition to across the community and with key stakeholders was needed. 

Lack of skills 
For those authorities in London and the South-East, there were perceived to be 
particular issues for older people returning to the workforce due to the cost-of-living 
crisis. Low-level skills and also having had a gap in employment was making a return 
to work difficult. 

Digital divide 
Rural and coastal authorities identified a lack of digital connectivity which was a 
barrier to accessing online training and applying for jobs. Issues around access to 
hardware and the ability to use this were also noted. 

Partnership working 
Rural and coastal authorities suggested that although partnership working is positive, 
there needs to be recognition that this requires time and effort to work effectively. 
Partners can often be those who are used to being in direct competition with each 
other and this can present challenge. 

Enablers: 

Increase in funding and flexibility of funding 
Participants noted the need for increased funding and also greater flexibility around 
funding rules. This flexibility would allow them more control to ensure that providers 
deliver against their contracts at a local level and also to ensure that local-level 
employer needs are met. An increase in flexibility would provide authorities with the 
ability to better influence local priorities rather than responding to a broad DWP 
focus. 
 
Data 
As noted in the barriers section above, a greater availability of more granular data at 
both a national and local level was required. This would allow local resources to be 
targeted more effectively as intersectionality could be identified more easily allowing 
services to become more inclusive. Some relaxation of General Data Protection 

Page 52

Agenda Item 4a



 

10 

 

Regulation (GDPR) to produce a top-down agreement to allow data sharing between 
organisations with commonality of purpose was also suggested. 

Partnership working 
In addition to working with statutory agencies, increased partnership working with 
local networks, for example Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE’s) 
would allow authorities to reach individuals who may not access services via the 
more formal agency routes. For these groups a ‘one size fits all’ approach is less 
likely to work. 

Increased working with anchor institutions would enable these organisations to 
become drivers of local growth or support for communities. One authority noted that 
they had developed an EDI subgroup with local anchor institutions and had 
developed tools and training for local employers in order to tackle EDI issues around 
recruitment and employment.  

Urban authorities also noted that more joint working and a less siloed approach 
across council directorates was needed to enable more effective and linked activity. 

Local freedom/Devolution 
Participants noted that devolution and more local freedom would enable them to 
more effectively tackle some of the current challenges highlighted. The focus of job 
centres and creation of people hubs were noted as areas where authorities could 
have more control. Devolution was seen as an opportunity to bring more resources 
and partners together, however linked to this; 

Joint approach  
Urban authorities noted that a more joined up approach between DWP, job centers 
and local councils was needed was needed in order to allow them to take effective 
action at a local level. Furthermore, it was felt that local areas needed to be 
empowered and supported by a national infrastructure which would enable all parties 
to implement solutions and to plan effectively.  

Local commissioning 
Urban authorities noted that community grants programmes have achieved very 
positive results when small trusted local organisations are commissioned to deliver in 
areas where people are happy/comfortable attending, and more of this work has the 
potential to lead to impactful results at the local level. 

London and South-East authorities said that when commissioning services, they had 
developed their social value requirements within contracts in order to influence best 
practice. For example, including a requirement for jobs to be advertised locally and 
for the employer to be paying the London living minimum wage.  

Council workforce 
Rural and coastal authorities noted the importance of ensuring that the council 
recruited extremely skilled staff who understand the needs of their local communities 
well and are able to support and empower them. Additionally, the importance of 
upskilling and training existing staff to enable them to acquire any new skills required 

Page 53

Agenda Item 4a



 

11 

 

was essential to make them more effectual in their role. This links back to the earlier 
discussions regarding the importance of councils employing from within their local 
resident communities.  

Additional comments: 

At the end of the focus groups, participants were asked if they had any 
additional comments to add. Comments included:  
 

• Councils needed to ensure that they “walked the walk” when it came to their 
own job application processes and in providing flexibility for applicants. 

• Council workforces are not representative in terms of EDI and this needs to 
be addressed.  

• Councils have an ageing workforce and more young people are needed at the 
local level. Apprenticeships and internships could help with this. 

• The pre-16 education system was described as not fit for purpose as it does 
not prepare young people for the world of work or with the skills that 
employers want. 

• That improved and more efficient working relationships with DWP and other 
partners would be helpful; and 

• Longevity of funding was described as key with extended dates where funding 
is available to enable longer-term and meaningful training and employment 
support to be developed and delivered.  

 

 

 

Page 54

Agenda Item 4a



 

12 

 

 

Local Government Association
Local Government House
Smith Square
London SW1P 3HZ

Telephone 020 7664 3000
Fax 020 7664 3030
Email info@local.gov.uk
www.local.gov.uk

© Local Government Association, February 2023

Page 55

Agenda Item 4a

http://www.local.gov.uk/




  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

Theme 2: Levelling Up  

Update on the health and devolution working group with 
NHS Confederation  

Purpose of Report 
For information. 

Is this report confidential? No 

Summary 
 

This report provides an update on the newly formed health and devolution working group 
established by NHS Confederation and co-sponsored by the LGA following its first meeting 
in April 2023.  

LGA Plan Theme: Supporting local people and places 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact details 

Contact officer: Esther Barrott 

Position: Policy Advisor 

Phone no: 07464652906 

Email: esther.barrott@local.gov.uk 

Recommendation(s)

That Members note background to the health and devolution working 
group, its engagement to date and planned next steps. 

Officers will continue to work with the NHS Confederation to plan future 
meetings for the working group.

Page 57

Agenda Item 4b

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:esther.barrott@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

Theme 2 - Update on the health and devolution working group with 
NHS Confederation  

Outcome and purpose  
 

1. This work forms part of the Board’s work on levelling up and devolution. It supports the 
Board’s aim to promote further devolution to local government, putting powers and 
funding in the hands of those who know their communities well and are best placed to 
make decisions about how to improve the lives of local residents. This work aims to 
strengthen the alignment between NHS reform and local authority devolution to improve 
health outcomes and economic and social development. 

2. It also forms part of the Board’s work on the levelling up missions proposed in the 
Levelling Up White Paper. Mission 7 states that: By 2030, the gap in Healthy Life 
Expectancy (HLE) between local areas where it is highest and lowest will have 
narrowed, and by 2035 HLE will rise by 5 years. The purpose of the Board’s work on 
this area is to successfully make the case to Government that this mission will not be 
achieved with a centralised, command and control system, but by giving local areas the 
powers and resources to make decisions on a local level, based on local circumstances 
and needs.  

3. A key organisation to engage with as part of this work is the NHS Confederation. As the 
NHS membership organisation it brings together, supports and speaks for healthcare 
bodies in England, Wales and Northern Ireland. Within the NHS Confederation, Michael 
Wood, Head of Health Economic Partnerships is an important stakeholder as their lead 
on how ICSs and the NHS can support economic growth.  

4. Officers will continue work closely with the LGA’s Community Wellbeing Board as they 
lead the LGA’s policy development relating to the integration of health and care, the 
transformation of the health and care landscape, and the rollout of Integrated Care 
Systems (ICSs) and health devolution. As devolution deals in non-metropolitan areas 
progresses the People and Places Board also has an interest in the issue.   

5. The desired outcome of this work is that the three Boards can effectively influence the 
NHS Confederation’s work on how ICSs can support economic and social development, 
and that Government devolves health powers to areas that want it, with a system that 
allows for devolution deal areas and ICSs to build a partnership together. This report 
sets out how this is being achieved through the time limited health and devolution 
working group established in April 2023 and co-sponsored by NHS Confederation and 
the LGA.  

Page 58

Agenda Item 4b

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

Background 
 

6. The NHS Confederation, through its Health Economic Partnerships work programme 
and ICS Network has established a time-limited health and devolution working group. 
The aim of this group is to understand the priorities, opportunities and challenges for 
ICS leaders, how this intersects with English devolution to date and the emerging 
devolution deals. The expected output of the working group is to produce a report and 
high-level conference to highlight emerging best practice, and how learning can be 
shared throughout the sector.  

7. Following approval from City Regions Members in January, the LGA is co-sponsoring 
the working group. The three LGA policy boards with an interest in this work – the City 
Regions Board, the People and Places Board and the Community Wellbeing Board 
each have a representative on the working group and the LGA’s Deputy Chief 
Executive, Sarah Pickup, sits on it too. Cllr Gillian Ford is the City Regions Board 
representative.  

8. The group is co-chaired by Sir Richard Leese, Chair of the Greater Manchester 
Integrated Care Board (ICB) and Dr Kathy McLean, Chair of the Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire ICB and Integrated Care Partnership (ICP). Its membership comprises 
of organisations including NHS Confederation, LGA, combined authorities, public health 
leaders in councils, representatives from DLUHC and DHSC.  

9. The following areas will be considered throughout the course of the four roundtables:  

9.1 Place – How combined authorities and ICPs can support and enhance subsidiarity, 
integration and population health approaches at place level 

9.2 Paraphernalia – The tools, resources and approaches that local partners can use to 
unlock greater system working  

9.3 Practice – Highlighting where local partners are successfully collaborating to support 
their communities  

9.4 Partnerships – How ICSs should engage locally and nationally  
9.5 Policy – How to highlight devolution policy areas that directly and indirectly intersect 

with ICS roles and responsibilities  
9.6 Process – How combined authorities and ICSs can jointly develop or align more 

closely their governance and accountability arrangements.  

Update from first meeting  
 

10. The first meeting took place on 3rd April and focused on enabling members of the 
working group to reach a common understanding of health in devolution and visualise 
what ‘good’ looks like. The purpose of the session was to narrow the knowledge gap 

Page 59

Agenda Item 4b

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

and bring attendees to a similar starting point while starting to explore what good might 
look like in aligning health and devolution.  
 

11. The meeting opened with a welcome and introductions from Sir Richard Leese and Dr 
Kathy McLean setting out the scope and terms of reference of the group. Following this 
there were a series of presentations from Mark Sandford, Senior Researcher at the 
House of Commons Library, Phil Hope, commissioner of the Health Devolution 
Commission and Mubasshir Ajaz, head of health and communities at West Midlands 
Combined Authority exploring emerging policy agendas across and within sectors; 
health and devolution in practice; and realising the potential of ICPs.  

12. The group then had two discussions around ‘how can integrated health and care 
working facilitate more successful devolution?’ and ‘how can devolution best improve 
population health and address systemic health inequalities?’. Emerging messages 
included: the need to not wait for permission or further legal powers but instead use 
current legal frameworks and good practice evidence to demonstrate added value of 
devolution; devolution can provide an evidence base to prove to Government that local 
partners are more effective than national directives or a single way of doing things; ICSs 
need to add value to what is already happening at place and neighbourhood level; and 
ICSs are different from previous NHS restructures with a focus on collaboration, 
prevention, outcomes and joining the dots between health and prosperity.  

Timeline  
 

13. The group will meet a further three times – in June, July and September with meetings 
looking at issues such as how MCAs, CCAs and ICSs can align their governance, how 
devolution deal areas can support and enhance subsidiarity, integration, population 
health approaches at place level, and the wider themes outlined in Paragraph 9 of this 
report. The fourth and final meeting of the group in September will discuss and agree 
key recommendations to include in the report and officers will work with NHS 
Confederation to launch these at a national conference at the end of the year.  

Implications for Wales  
 

14. Health is a devolved function, and ICSs have only been introduced in England.  

 

 

 

Page 60

Agenda Item 4b

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 

Financial Implications   
 

15. Any financial commitments made as part of the actions identified in this report will be 
met from the Board’s existing policy budget. 

Equalities implications  
 

16. The implementation of ICSs provides an opportunity for to local government to work in 
partnership with health service providers to address health inequalities. Democratically 
elected local leaders understand the needs of their communities best and are best 
placed to tackle health inequalities.  Where local government has been given the 
powers to address population health, outcomes have improved. 

Next steps  
 

17. Members are asked to note background to the health and devolution working group, its 
engagement to date and planned next steps.  

18. Officers will continue to work with the NHS Confederation planning future meetings for 
the working group.   

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 4b

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk




  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 
 

Theme 3: Urban Resilience 

Local Resilience Act 

Purpose of Report 
For information. 

Is this report confidential? No 

Summary 
 
The independent think tank, Localis, is exploring the potential of a ‘local resilience act’ to 
help strengthen local authorities’ ability to respond to current and future risks arising from a 
changing climate. In line with the Board’s interest in urban resilience, Joe Fyans, Head of 
Research at Localis, has agreed to attend the Board meeting and provide an overview of this 
campaign. 
 

LGA Plan Theme: Stronger local economies, thriving local democracy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact details 

Contact officer: Philip Clifford 

Position: Senior Adviser 

Phone no: 07909 898 327  

Email: philip.clifford@local.gov.uk  

Recommendation(s)

That the Board note the background briefing provided by Localis, attached 
at Appendix A, in advance of a presentation at the meeting.

Page 63

Agenda Item 5a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:philip.clifford@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 
 

Local Resilience Act  

Outcome and Purpose  
1. City regions face an increasing variety of physical, political, economic and social risks. 

The Board’s work on urban resilience aims to help leaders of urban areas understand 
the nature of these risks, what it means to be resilient and how our city regions can 
become resilient.  

2. This work will also look at the implications of the Government's National Resilience 
Strategy for urban areas. The purpose of this strand of work is to influence 
Government’s plans to take forward the proposals in the strategy, ensuring they are of 
relevance and value to urban areas. 

3. This work has relevance for the LGA’s Safer Stronger Communities and Environment, 
Economy, Housing and Transport Boards. Officers will join up strands of work from 
across these three Boards and look to ensure that the work of these Boards reflects the 
challenges that urban areas face.  

Background   
4. Urban resilience has been of interest to the Board for some time. In 2020, the Board 

commissioned WPI Economics to look at the drivers of urban cost pressures. This work 
included looking at how urban areas might be particularly vulnerable to changes and 
was a useful tool for understanding what might make urban areas financially resilient. 
 

5. In January 2023 the Board heard from Lucy Vilarkin and Alex Minshull from Bristol City 
Council to present Bristol’s work in developing an urban heat resilience plan. And at the 
urban summit in March 2023, attendees had the opportunity to hear from Ed Parham, 
the Founder of Space Syntax, about the role of data in building resilient city spaces. 

 
6. Following the urban summit, LGA officers were approached by the independent think 

tank Localis, with a view to discussing their campaign for a ‘local resilience act’ – a 
mechanism to simplify and clarify the powers, funding and responsibilities for 
developing climate resilience in local communities. Consequently. Joe Fyans, Head of 
Research at Localis has agreed to attend the June Board and give a presentation on 
this project. 

Proposal 
7. Board members are asked to read the briefing note, prepared by Localis, attached at 

Appendix A in advance of a presentation on the campaign at the Board meeting. 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 
 

Implications for Wales  
8. The accompanying briefing note suggests the territorial extend of the proposed local 

resilience act would only cover councils in England. While many of the policy and 
funding levers associated with increased climate resilience are devolved, it may be 
worth exploring with the Welsh Local Government Association the extent to which they 
would support a UK-wide act. 

Financial Implications   
9. There are no direct financial implications arising from this paper. 

Equalities implications  
10. Disadvantaged or discriminated against groups are more likely to be affected by social, 

economic or environmental shocks, and deprived areas are also more likely to take 
longer to recover. For example, the LGA’s A vision for Urban Growth and Recovery 
report found that during the pandemic, low income and Black and ethnic minority groups 
were more likely to work in occupations where the risk of virus transmission was higher, 
and that low earners were 2.4 times more likely to work in a shutdown sector. Any work 
to improve urban resilience must take into account these disparities and not assume 
that all communities have the same ability to absorb or recover from shocks.  

Next steps  
11. In line with the steer from members there may be further opportunities to develop the 

theme of urban resilience as part of the next board cycle. 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk




 

1 
 

Local Resilience Act 
Localis campaign summary 

Contents 
1. About the Local Resilience Act .........................................................................................................................1 

2. Work stream ......................................................................................................................................................2 

2.1 Reports ........................................................................................................................................................2 

Climate Resilience in Local Plans: summary ...............................................................................................2 

2.2 Events ..........................................................................................................................................................2 

3. Supporting the Local Resilience Act campaign ..............................................................................................4 

 

1. About the Local Resilience Act  
As climate shifts worldwide, councils across England are being hit by increasingly extreme weather 
patterns including violent storm surges, unbearable temperatures, and widespread flooding. Even under 
the most minimal of warming scenarios, infrastructure, public health, and GDP will all worsen due to the 
weighty pressure of extreme weather events.  

If action is not taken, the UK might see damages of up to 7.4 percent reduction of its potential GDP by the 
end of the century, alongside devastating shocks to its agricultural sector and to the health of its 
population. Yet with suitable upstream mitigation and preventative measures in place, that figure would 
drop to a predicted 2.4 percent. Local authorities have the capability to enact necessary resilience 
measures for both the built and natural environment. 

However, the current funding landscape for local government to deliver resilient places is far too 
piecemeal and insufficient. Furthermore, the system is overwrought with complexity - the division of 
responsibilities between local, central government and industry are too fragmented and disconnected for 
this to be addressed as a whole place agenda. 

To address these problems, Localis proposes the drafting of legislation and construction of cross-sectoral 
support for a Local Resilience Act (LRA). 

The LRA would serve to: - 

• Ensure funding for place resilience to meet a statutory duty upon local authorities, as a core 
service line, to provide the best adaptation measures for the built and natural environments in the 
coming generations. 

• Streamline existing legislation – including the current Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill currently 
going through parliament - to allow the absolutely necessary changes to happen at the local 
level. 

  

Page 67

Agenda Item 5a



 

2 
 

2. Work stream 
Because the level of place is where climate change adaptation is most able to mitigate the risks of 
dangerous weather changes. Changes to transport, buildings, local businesses, land use and biodiversity 
are all required and can be enacted by local authorities.  These changes, however, can only be affected 
at the level of place if the role of local government in directing resilience is consolidated, and if the 
necessary funding and revenue streams are provided. 

To support this argument, Localis will be producing a series of short reports, comment pieces and other 
analysis over the course of 2023, beginning with an analysis of the current role of climate adaptation and 
mitigation in recently-adopted local plans. These analyses will aggregate up to a comprehensive case for 
a Local Resilience Act, as well as scoping out its possible contents and parameters. 

2.1 Reports 
The first short paper, Climate Resilience in Local Plans, was released in March 2023. A second paper, 
Defining Resilience, will be released in June 2023. 

Climate Resilience in Local Plans: summary 
The purpose of this short report is to evaluate the role that Local Plans currently play in driving climate 
change resilience across England, and where the planning system falls short of providing the protection 
necessary for people and communities against the impacts of a changing climate. The research involved 
reading 88 Local Plans, all adopted after 2018, and drawing out instances where climate change impacts 
have been included as informing the development strategy, either in a background or a primary manner. It 
is evident that where there is a duty place on local authorities to enact adaptation to climate change, 
adaptation will occur. 

Much work is already being done in the drive to net zero and reducing carbon emissions, coming off the 
back of the Climate Change Act of 2008 alongside efforts to reduce waste and support sustainability. 
Local authorities are devoted to ensuring the best possible strategies for development and the highest 
quality of life for constituents and as such will enact as much change as possible for the benefit of people, 
communities, and the environment, provided there are the resources and support available. As a result, 
there are plenty of examples of best practice when it comes to adaptation to environmental change and 
climate extremes. However, when guidance, no matter how practical and detailed, is vague and in need 
of balancing with multiple other obligations, it is difficult for all local authorities to respond substantially to 
potential risks. 

Every part of the country should be allowed the highest level of multi-dimensional resilience to the risks of 
climate change. A strategy focused on the risks of climate change alone is, at this stage, necessary. The 
inconsistencies in adaptation must be eliminated in order that best practice becomes common practice 
across the UK. Local authorities are placed in optimum position to provide tailored adaptation to the 
impacts of climate change. There needs to be open-access climate risk data that considers risk at the level 
of place, consideration of risk at all levels and of all kinds, and there needs to be suitable responses to risk 
– alongside the funding and opportunity to enact these responses. Legislation must be able to ensure that 
action is being taken in all required aspects of climate adaptation, in a way which is readily available for 
public scrutiny. This is a case of consolidating and strengthening what exists, whilst raising the baseline 
across local authorities for a consistent national approach. 

2.2 Events 
We are also holding webinars to support the publication of the research papers, with a view to holding in-
person receptions and panel discussions if funding can be obtained.  

Our first webinar was Resilience in Local Planning, held on 8th March with panelists: 

Page 68

Agenda Item 5a



 

3 
 

• Alastair Brown, Director, Arete Consultancy & Management Ltd 
• Ben Smith, Director of Climate and Sustainability Services, Arup 
• Harry Steele, Infrastructure Specialist, Royal Town and Planning Institute 
• Jo Wall, Strategic Director – Climate Response, Local Partnerships LLP 

Our second webinar, Defining Resilience, will be held on 5th June with panelists: 

• Chitra Nadarajah, Head of Climate Change and Environmental Strategy, Hampshire County 
Council 

• Catriona Riddell, National Strategic Planning Specialist, Planning Officers’ Society 
• Professor Samer Bagaeen, Localis Fellow 

  

Page 69

Agenda Item 5a



 

4 
 

3. Supporting the Local Resilience Act campaign 
Localis is hoping to work with a range of diverse project partners in 2023 to construct a broad and 
supportive coalition drawn from across parliament, from councils and the local government family, from 
business and industry, from the third sector and civil society, to support our campaign for a Local 
Resilience Act. 

This will involve, we hope, a series of staged activities and events throughout the year, at major industry 
and party conferences to promote the concept of a LRA and to influence the party manifestos. We are 
seeking funding to run these events and support the research workstream, with ample opportunities for 
sponsors to co-brand events and feed into their design and content.  

If you or your organisation are interested in feeding into or supporting our campaign a Local Resilience 
Act, please contact Localis chief executive Jonathan Werran at jonathan.werran@localis.org.uk. 

Page 70

Agenda Item 5a



  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chair: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

V1 2023 
 

Theme 5: Supporting Economic Growth and Prosperity 
Update 

Purpose of Report 
For information. 

Is this report confidential? No 

Summary 
This report provides an update for City Regions Members on the work of the board 
supporting local economies.    
 

LGA Plan Theme: Stronger local economies, thriving local democracy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact details 

Contact officer: Esther Barrott/ Jasbir Jhas  

Position: Adviser/ Senior Adviser 

Phone no: 07464652906/ 02076643114  

Email: esther.barrott@local.gov.uk / Jasbir.jhas@local.gov.uk  

Recommendation(s)

Members are asked to note the two reports supporting local economies: A guide 
for economic development services: their role and future skills needs (Appendix 
A) and Supporting the Integration of Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) 
(Appendix B). 

Members are also asked to note the letter sent from LGA Board Chairs, 
Councillor Kevin Bentley and Mayor Marvin Rees, in response to Government’s 
information gathering exercise following the Chancellor’s announcement to 
withdraw financial support for LEPs from April 2024 (Appendix B). 

Page 71

Agenda Item 6a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:esther.barrott@local.gov.uk
mailto:Jasbir.jhas@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chair: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

V1 2023 
 

Theme 5: Supporting Economic Growth and Prosperity Update  

Background   
 

1. Councils have a key role to play in driving forward inclusive and sustainable 
economic growth and prosperity, by bringing partners together, bridging the skills 
gap, helping businesses to thrive, delivering regeneration schemes and more. 
This paper provides an update for members on the board’s projects supporting 
local economies.  

Project updates  
 

2. Last autumn the LGA commissioned Shared Intelligence as part of the LGA’s 
Government-funded support offer to explore the future skills needs of councils’ 
economic development teams and support the LEP integration process.  
 

3. Shared Intelligence attended the January Board and had a wider discussion with 
members about the emerging findings of the two projects. The discussions 
explored what new support needs might emerge for local government from LEP 
integration as well as new capabilities and skills members would like to see in 
economic development teams to enable them to play a bigger role both 
individually and collectively.  
 

4. The final reports have now been published and are appended to this paper. The 
report supporting the integration of LEPs is also available on the LGA website.   

Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Integration update  
 

5. On 15th March the Chancellor announced that Government is ‘minded to’ 
withdraw financial support for LEPs from April 2024. Following the 
announcement, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities ran 
a LEP future funding information gathering exercise and questionnaire on the 
impacts of its decision to end LEP core funding. Local authorities were 
encouraged to respond.  
 

Page 72

Agenda Item 6a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/supporting-integration-local-enterprise-partnerships


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chair: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

V1 2023 
 

6. LGA City Regions and People and Places Board Chairs, Mayor Marvin Rees and 
Cllr Kevin Bentley co-wrote a letter responding to the Chancellor’s announcement 
(Appendix B), drawing on the report to outline key messages form the sector to 
inform the information gathering exercise.  
 

7. The letter supports the transfer of functions to drive economic growth and provide 
greater accountability and visible public leadership. However, it highlights the 
need for a swift response to the information gathering exercise, clarity on the 
integration of these private organisations and their assets into the local 
government landscape, challenges around recruitment, retention and skills, and 
the need for a clear statement on how councils will be supported to resolve 
matters such as Enterprise Zones or Freeports locally to avoid unnecessary 
delay and greater costs to the public purse. 

Next steps 
 

8. Officers will keep members updated on any further announcements and 
Government are expected to publish a final decision on guidance and next steps 
by summer 2023.  

Implications for Wales  
 

9. Economic development is a devolved responsibility. Officers will look to share 
any lessons emerging from the projects with the Welsh Local Government 
Association, however the research projects relate to English councils.  

Financial Implications   
 

10. The research has been funded from the LGA’s budget for improvement work.   

Equalities implications  
 

11. The content of these two projects aims to support councils to have the tools to 
target economic development activities locally.  

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 6a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk




 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A guide for economic development 
services: their role and future skills needs 
 

 

 

 

 

 

A report by Shared Intelligence  

 

 

April 2023 
 

  

Page 75

Agenda Item 6a



 

2 
 

Foreword  
 
Local leaders want to create inclusive, sustainable and thriving local economies where 
people want to live and work, and where employers want to invest.  
 
At a local level this means attracting investment and capitalising on opportunities created by green 
growth, automation and new global markets as well as existing industries which can lead to high-
quality jobs for our residents. With the right levers and approaches, councils can also address social, 
regional and economic inequalities within and between places. 
 
Local government’s economic development teams have a vital, cross-cutting role in achieving this. 
While these teams come in a variety of shapes and sizes, they are all unique in being able to bring 
together knowledge, expertise and skills about their local area – more so than any other single local 
or national institution. Their work is critical to the places they serve, but combined, it is also vital for 
England plc too.   
 
National government is increasingly recognising this through recent policy shifts including working 
through councils and devolved authorities to target economic growth funding alongside a move to 
integrate Local Enterprise Partnership functions into local government structures. These are positive 
developments, which have both the potential to support more effective local decision making and 
address recruitment and retention challenges by making way for an expansion of economic 
development services. 
 
This guide shares examples of what councils’ economic development teams do and how they are 
delivered, so councils can learn from each one other. It goes on to highlight emerging issues that are 
landing on their desks and what future skills, knowledge, and abilities they might need to address 
these, with signposting for further support.  
 
It really is a must read for new and existing officers and elected members with direct involvement in 
economic development, or anyone else that wants to better understand or connect with these 
services. 
 
 

Cllr Kevin Bentley      Mayor Marvin Rees 

Chair, LGA People and Places Board   Chair, LGA City Regions Board 

 

  

Page 76

Agenda Item 6a



 

3 
 

Executive Summary  
 

Economic development services are “about making things happen that the 
market on its own won’t deliver”. 

Economic development officer, district council 

This guide explains what local economic development (ED) services do for the communities they 
serve, why they are important, the challenges they face, and the skills and knowledge they will need 
in the coming years. It builds on a 2022 report by CEDOS, the professional body for economic 
development. The aim of this guide is to help councillors and senior officers get the most from their 
ED services and enable them to maximise their impact in a changing landscape.  

Economic development services come in a variety of shapes and sizes from single officers to large teams. They 
help create the conditions for sustainable and inclusive growth, use data to provide councils with vital 
intelligence to understand and support the local economy. Teams will also develop evidence-based business 
cases for regeneration projects and local economic interventions such as community wealth-building 
approaches, including to support their town centre and high street economies, by linking with a range of other 
council services. They have direct connections to local businesses and public employers unique to their area – 
large to small and across all sectors, and help existing employers expand and attract new ones through inward 
investment. This in turn helps them understand employers’ skills needs and increases local employment 
opportunities. In addition to local knowledge, they bring strong, local democratic accountability when 
translating national government policy to local infrastructure investment. All of this enables councils to target 
economic support quickly and accurately. This was the case during the pandemic, where ED services were able 
to target grant relief using their direct and strategic relationships and networks. 

For central government, ED services provide a proven delivery mechanism for place-based funding, 
along with local capacity to create, identify, and appraise candidate projects.  

In recent years there has been a deliberate shift of government policy to put councils front and 
centre in delivering local economic outcomes. Policies for levelling up, UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
(UKSPF) and a clear economic focus within city and county deals are all examples of this. ED services 
act as the bridge between national economic policy, and local action based on local need. They do 
this using their ability to influence other services through which they create the conditions for 
growth including housing, planning, procurement, education, and skills. Many have built their 
reputation and capacity through decades of successful delivery of EU structural funding for 
economic development. More recently they have taken a lead role co-ordinating the £9 billion of 
Government place-based funding currently being invested to reduce geographic inequalities (UK 
Community Renewal Fund, UK Shared Prosperity Fund, and Towns Fund and to a lesser extent, 
Levelling Up Fund). The combined work of these local teams is vital to the growth of England plc. 

Four factors are shaping the context in which ED services operate 
1. The Government’s commitment to broader and faster devolution, including the 

integration of Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) into local government. It is nothing new 
for Government to shift responsibility for economic development between different 
organisations, and local government’s role has always been the constant factor. But the 
acceleration of devolution now puts local government front and centre.  
 

2. The replacement of EU structural funding with a domestic funding regime. Some councils 
have reported capacity constraints with responsibility for programmes such as UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund but it also creates real opportunities to define outcomes locally. 

Page 77

Agenda Item 6a

https://www.cedos.org/future-of-economic-development-research-2/


 

4 
 

 
3. Continued pressure on local government budgets affects non-statutory services like ED the 

most. Added to this, shorter-term, competitive, national bidding rounds adds pressure on 
councils and ED services to commit scarce resources into writing competitive bids. These 
second and third factors strengthen the case for inter-authority collaboration on ED services 
(where appropriate), and the need to innovate both operations and policy.  
 

4. Recruitment, retention, and capacity. Beyond the wider staffing pressures in local 
government, entry to the ED profession is less clear compared to other professions and lacks 
structured work-based or qualification routes beyond graduate entry.  

What this guide recommends  
Recommendations for local authority economic ED services. Given the importance of ED services 
and the scale of change, it is vital that they have the capacity, knowledge, skills, and ability to 
deliver. They should:  

1. undertake rapid reviews of the core objectives of the economic development service and 
align council service plans accordingly 

2. review knowledge, skills, and abilities of ED services and ensure staff can provide what is 
required to deliver the council’s aims and objectives for economic development 

3. explore how closer joint working with other councils could help meet the needs of the 
functional economic area, make the most of scarce resources, reduce duplication, and 
maximise economies of scale where it makes sense to do so. 

To enable council ED services to deliver point 2 above (staff skills), this guide identifies 19 areas of 
essential skills, knowledge, and abilities which council ED services will need in the coming decade. It 
recommends ED services look at which of the 19 skill areas they need according to the type of 
service they offer. A simplified typology of economic development services has been provided and 
mapped to the 19 skill areas. The detail of this approach can be found in section 3 of this guide.  

Recommendations for portfolio holders. This guide recognises that elected members have a key 
strategic role in local economic development and identifies two ways they can provide support: 

1. Members can help ensure ED services are fully aligned with council objectives for the local 
economy and understand which communities could benefit from economic growth.  

2. Members can support ED services to build sustainable partnerships with key local 
businesses, employers, and anchor institutions so they know what contribution may be 
required in the long-term. 

Recommendations for national stakeholders. To meet recruitment and capacity challenges action is 
also needed at a national level. This guide identifies four opportunities for national stakeholders to 
improve career development support. They should:  

1. produce a clear career pathway for new and existing economic development roles  
2. explore the development of an apprenticeship standards in ED services to aid work-based 

progression and provide development for the existing ED workforce  
3. promote the ED profession through action by partner agencies, employers, learning 

providers (in further and higher education) and the ED professional body  
4. develop the CPD offer for ED services to ensure it is visible and joined up. 

Page 78

Agenda Item 6a



 

5 
 

1. Introduction  
This guide focuses on the future skills needs of economic development services based in councils 
and other local democratic institutions. It builds on a 2022 report by CEDOS, the professional body 
for economic development, which explored the structures within which economic development 
operates across local government and an overview of skills and capacity gaps.  

This guide explains what local economic development services do for the communities they serve, 
why they are important, the challenges they face, and the skills and knowledge they will need in the 
coming years. The aim of this is to help councillors and senior officers get the most from their ED 
services and enable them to continue making an impact in a changing landscape.  

The content of this document comes from interviews with local government officers, elected 
members, and others involved in local economic development. It has also been developed and 
tested with a working group convened by the LGA and CEDOS 

 

 

2. Current and future opportunities and drivers of change 
In considering the future skills needs, we first look at the contextual changes in central and local 
government which affect the role of ED services. 

Factors driving change over the past five years 
Four factors are currently shaping the context of ED services and the skills needs of their staff.  

“The LEP news [acceleration of integration] is a game changer for the delivery of 
economic development services in the future.” 

Elected member, county council 

• Devolution and integration of local economic partnerships (LEPs) into councils (or other 
local democratic institutions like combined authorities), presents short-term challenges but 
has the potential to be a major opportunity for ED services. ED services have always had to 
adapt to the creation and disbanding of various other organisations such as Training and 
Enterprise Councils (TECs) and Regional Development Agencies (RDAs). Nonetheless, the 
current integration of LEPs presents a major opportunity for local government ED services. 
There is also an opportunity to build up staff skills by taking on specialisms held within each 
LEP. Across the country, local government has a short window of time to build their own 
capabilities by recruiting former LEP staff with knowledge of key sectors, of inward 
investment strategies and relationships with the Department for Business and Trade (DBT) 
on international markets. Furthermore, skills and knowledge around bringing business voice 
into local economic decision-making can be developed through new governance models. 
These considerations all have an impact on future skills required. 
 

• Greater flexibility in the post-Brexit domestic replacement for EU structural funding. The 
replacement of EU structural funding has resulted in a shift in responsibility from LEPs and 
county councils towards district councils including through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
(UKSPF) and UK Rural Prosperity Fund (UKRPF). Some councils have reported that this shift 
has created capacity constraints, but it has also provided real opportunities to define local 

Page 79

Agenda Item 6a

https://www.cedos.org/future-of-economic-development-research-2/


 

6 
 

outcomes. Skills to define outcomes locally and to design effective evaluation frameworks 
are increasingly important in the absence of a national framework from government. A 
clearer understanding of what works will unlock innovative approaches and new ways to 
understand impact. Finally, finding ways to link funding and demonstrate additionality 
across different government departments is becoming increasingly important.  
 

• Continued pressure on local government budgets falls disproportionately on non-statutory 
services including economic development. Funding pressure is now a long-term issue. But in 
the short term this has also been exacerbated by competitive national bidding rounds 
(notably the £4.8 billion Levelling Up Fund, £3.6 billion Towns Fund, £220 million Community 
Renewal Fund, as well as several other smaller funds). As a result, councils and specifically 
ED services have been drawn into committing scarce resources to writing competitive bids. 
Interviewees described veering from the short-term detail of high street recovery projects to 
big questions about the future of local sectors.   
 

• Recruitment, retention, and delivery capacity. In part this is due to the ED profession having 
less-well defined career paths than other local government professions. The broad skill sets 
required by ED services contribute to this, as do blurred distinctions in some places between 
ED and other services (notably regeneration). Added to this, ED services are often reliant on 
a carousel of short-term project funding which makes staff retention and progression 
difficult. In the very short term, the effects of LEP integration on the economic development 
profession as a whole, provide added uncertainty. However, LEP integration will likely be a 
driver for local authorities to expand their ED services and sets a challenge to attract talent 
from other sectors including education and industry. The cross-sector learning that can be 
achieved through this approach could strengthen ED services and capacity. To further 
enhance this, career progression routes should be considered to upskill and motivate the 
local government workforce. These are set out in section 5 of this guide. 

Opportunities and challenges over the coming decade 
Those leading and delivering local ED services foresee many challenges in the coming decade but 
four come up with the greatest consistency. 

• The case for joint working across ED services is growing. With devolution deals now 
covering more than 50 percent of England, local authorities have a genuine moment to seize 
– to work even closer with one other on economic development, to create multi-authority 
growth strategies where these make sense locally, more ambitious inward investment 
offers, and ensure economic growth meets locally determined goals. In the mayoral 
combined authorities (MCAs) even greater opportunities to shape local economies are 
presented by devolved funding and all are reframing economic policy in line with LEP 
integration. At a district level, UKSPF provides an opportunity for jointly commissioned 
delivery of place, business, and skills outcomes. Alongside these pull factors are also strong 
push factors for joint working, stemming from budget pressure on discretionary non-
statutory functions, as a result of long-term demands from social care, compounded by 
Covid and the cost-of-living crisis. 
 

• ED services will need to become more innovative both in their external work, and in how 
they operate internally. Changes across the economy (Brexit, the pandemic and its 
aftermath, structural changes in the labour market, and levelling up policies), new 

Page 80

Agenda Item 6a



 

7 
 

technology and evolving government policy are all major drivers for ED services. In order to 
get ahead of these structural shifts, external and internal innovation by ED services is vital. 
The coming decade will see sectors evolve, new occupations emerge which don’t exist 
today, and changes in expectations about economic growth. New gigabit broadband targets, 
pro-innovation regulation of digital technologies, and expansion of the Catapult network are 
a few examples of the new knowledge base that must be acquired to ensure economic 
opportunities are delivered. Internally within their own operations ED services will have to 
become more commercial in order to generate new sources of revenue as council budget 
pressures continue. This will require skills in innovation, assessing and managing risk, and 
the ability to translate approaches from other fields. 

“We need to find ways to develop new approaches even though they take more 
time, introduce more risk, and are harder work more generally – perhaps appraisal 

tools geared towards assessing and designing novel approaches?” 

Senior officer, mayoral combined authority 

• ED services must respond to the changing role and uses of data. Understanding data has 
always been a core role of ED services and professionals. But the limitations of official 
national data are increasingly apparent, especially with the most recent census data 
gathered during the pandemic. The data that is available today is a fraction of what will be 
available over the next few years as new sources develop and as data is used in different 
ways. The volume of data created, captured, copied, and consumed worldwide is predicted 
to nearly double from 2022 to 2025 (97 zettabytes to 181 zettabytes). This means ED 
services must build their skills to understand many different data sources and challenge how 
data is used to form business cases.  

“Data data data! Covid showed us the power of machine learning to identify and 
predict and we need the skills to use and commission this properly.” 

CEO, local enterprise partnership  

• Local zero carbon focus will move from jobs and skills to infrastructure and 
competitiveness.  Creating and attracting green jobs remains critical in our economy. ED 
services will need to understand future trends in accelerating decarbonisation and work to 
prepare employers and employees for labour market changes. The focus of local ED services 
will also need to extend to understand the capacity and availability of local and regional 
energy infrastructure. As the cost of energy and emissions rise, sustainable energy 
infrastructure will become a critical competitiveness factor. This will require ED services to 
acquire skills and knowledge and work with those who understand energy infrastructure, to 
understand and influence energy supply, storage, decarbonisation, and energy finance. 
 

  

Page 81

Agenda Item 6a

https://catapult.org.uk/about-us/why-the-catapult-network/
https://www.statista.com/statistics/871513/worldwide-data-created/#:~:text=The%20total%20amount%20of%20data,to%20more%20than%20180%20zettabytes.


 

8 
 

3. Economic development services vary in form and focus 

One of the biggest challenges when discussing and comparing ED services nationally, is that they 
vary greatly in what they do, what they view as important, and the skills and knowledge they 
require. This can make it hard for those outside of ED services to understand their role and impact. It 
is also a factor which makes career progression into and within ED less distinct than for other local 
government specialisms.  

In this section, the guide sets out what is common to ED services, a simplified typology of ED services 
with examples of how they differ and goes on to consider what role elected members play. 

The most common roles and functions played by ED services include: 

• Acting as conveners and connectors and supporting local stakeholders and partnerships. 
• Translating national policy into local opportunities and creating new ways to level up. 
• Signposting employers to business support so they can access support at a national, regional 

and / or local level. 
• Working with skills providers to ensure the needs of local communities and the business 

population is influencing provision.  
• Using evidence and data to identify skills requirements for local residents and businesses in 

order to influence economic prosperity. 
• Using their understanding of regeneration processes and business case development to 

unlock or accelerate projects. 
• Attracting inward investment, either through stakeholder management or drawing on local 

need to bring forward funding, often using their ‘own leverage and economic muscle’. 

ED services come in many forms 
One of the products of this work is a typology of ED services which takes into account a number of 
factors including the characteristics outlined below. Identifying which service model most closely 
describes each council’s own ED service will enable them to make the most of this guide. 

Simplified typology of economic development services 
Solo act, up to 1 full-time post, focused on 
influencing and collaboration. 
 

Large strategic, little or no direct delivery, 
large, commissioned programmes, wide range 
of strategic capabilities (influence, data, 
policy). 
 

Small hands-on, focused on business support 
and skills. 

Large hands-on, multiple projects delivered 
directly and with partners.  
 

 

Large and small teams, commissioners, and hands-on delivery 
What ED services do vary significantly between authorities. In many places, ED services have been 
shaped by their role managing European Structural Funds and they are also shaped by other factors 
like the type of authority in which they are based. Where ED services sit within a council’s structure 
can also affect what they do. Some are in the same managerial group as statutory service areas, such 
as trading standards, planning or highways, while others are grouped with non-statutory services like 
culture, or as part of a chief executive’s policy unit.  

Page 82

Agenda Item 6a



 

9 
 

Some ED services have a narrow focus as a consequence of limited resources. For example, they may 
concentrate on high street regeneration and place marketing. Often these are ‘solo acts’ comprised 
of just one officer. 

Other services have a broad range of functions enabling them to intervene in the local economy in 
multiple ways; setting local economic policy, creating sector-based strategies, working with adult 
and community learning, supporting regeneration, developing business cases using HM Treasury 
“Green Book” appraisals or “Five Case” models. These activities require broader knowledge and 
competencies, including specialist skills. In this guide they are referred to as ‘large strategic’.   

Some ED services deliver interventions directly, for example, running job brokerage schemes or 
business networks. These can be delivered even with quite limited resources but require specific 
technical skills. In this guide, these are referred to as ‘small hands-on’ (often found in districts) or 
‘large hands-on’ (often found in counties) models.  

By contrast, some ED services are strategic commissioners of projects and interventions rather than 
running them themselves. This requires procurement and contract management skills. Unitary 
authorities often use a combination of direct delivery and commissioned services, which means they 
need both skillsets. UKSPF funding has made it more common for ED services to combine direct 
delivery with commissioning especially among ‘solo acts’.  

Partnership skills and the ability to acquire sector knowledge quickly 
ED services have been described as leaders and enablers and partnership building skills are often 
cited as essential. Internally across the council, connecting up with different services including 
community safety, culture, public health. property, transport, licensing to name but a few can bring 
real benefits in developing policy and interventions. They must also be able to write place-based 
narratives for funding bids and for uniting public, private, and community partners under a common 
vision.   

Administrative geography affects how ED services operate and the skills they need. Messy 
geographies (where tiers of local government and / or boundaries of other public bodies are not 
coterminous) make it harder to set shared priorities compared to coterminous areas. This requires 
additional relationship building skills. 

ED services provide many different local stakeholders with data, commercial insight, and guidance 
on economic strategy – in relation to different sectors of the local economy. As a result, one of ED 
officers’ primary skills is the ability to acquire relevant sector knowledge quickly and often (a skillset 
now needed in a great many occupations far beyond local government). For example, an ED officer 
might have to quickly develop deep knowledge of health and care, or digital gaming, to address 
issues of local priority. A consultee from the What Works Centre for Economic Growth described ED 
officers as needing to have a lot of specialisms rather than being generalists.  

Budgets shape teams and recruitment patterns 
Like all non-statutory services in local government, ED services are under increasing budget 
pressure. Some ED services consist of just one officer based in a larger team (for example, 
regeneration, planning or regulatory services). Individuals in this situation are likely to be highly 
stretched and more likely to rely on generalist skills.  

The current funding landscape is geared towards short-term recovery and quick wins. While there is 
a need to develop short term investment opportunities, it risks displacing activity focused on longer-

Page 83

Agenda Item 6a

https://whatworksgrowth.org/


 

10 
 

term goals and ED services must develop the ability to balance their time between short and long 
term even under these pressures.  

While heavy reliance on short-term or project-based funding is the norm for many ED services, it 
presents recruitment and retention challenges. This means it is often the norm for ED professionals 
to seek another job towards the end of their current project rather than remaining in that team. This 
has led to personal flexibility being a core skill for ED professionals but makes it hard for ED services 
to build up knowledge and experience. 

Teams with access to core funding tend to have a longer-term, less project-specific focus, and can 
build-up specialisms and stable roles. The interviews highlighted how over the coming years, ED 
services will need to access more specialist skills, for example, using machine learning to exploit 
data, or ethnography to get deeper insight into community needs. They will therefore need more 
stable budgets. Some ED services have been able to secure private sector funding for specific 
activities or access to tranches of funding from planning gain. These go some way to providing 
budget stability.  

Elected members influence the approach of ED services to economic growth 
When elected members are involved with economic development and provide political leadership, 
this can have a significant and positive impact on the direction of ED services. Differences in political 
direction make a practical difference to the approach and focus of ED services. In some councils 
elected members seek for instance community wealth building or inclusive growth approaches, 
which aim to ensure economic growth is distributed fairly and creates opportunities for all locally. 
Others take a mission-based approach, where growth is a means to achieving specific goals such as 
decarbonisation or developing new technology clusters as part of a long-term vision. In other places 
the pattern of economic growth is left to the market to determine. As a director in a combined 
authority put it: “the presence of politicians in discussions has brought in challenge about the 
distribution of benefit, whereas officer-only discussions can still fall back into an ‘all-growth-is-good’ 
mindset.” 

The ability to work within political environments is a key skill for ED officers. Having elected 
members who are well-briefed and supportive of their ED service, and an ED service with clear and 
consistent goals, improves business confidence and ED service influence. Elected members can be 
supported in their decision making by ED officers who provide data and an understanding of key 
economic principles. It is important for ED officers to have the skills to engage with members and 
demonstrate robust evidence of impact.  

For this reason, one of the key recommendations of this guide is that ED services should have service 
plans which clearly state their goals and approach to economic development.  

  

Page 84

Agenda Item 6a



 

11 
 

4. What economic development services achieve 
 

Economic development services are “about making things happen that the 
market on its own won’t deliver”. 

Economic development officer, district council 

Economic development (ED) services provide councils with vital intelligence about the local 
economy, and connections to local businesses and employers. Many take the lead on supporting 
their town centres and high streets. They enable councils to provide economic support quickly and 
accurately as they did during the pandemic and in its aftermath, through direct and strategic 
relationships, networks, and business databases. They influence the availability of employment 
opportunities by attracting employers to the area, supporting inward investment, and helping 
existing employers expand.  

ED services also bring local knowledge and accountability to national infrastructure investment. They 
provide central government with a delivery network for place-based funding programmes, and local 
capacity to create, identify, and appraise candidate projects. This includes the £9 billion of place-
based funding currently being invested to reduce inequalities through the UK Community Renewal 
Fund (£220 million), UK Shared Prosperity Fund (£2.6 billion), and Towns Fund (£3.6 billion) and to a 
lesser extent, Levelling Up Fund (£4.8 billion).  

A national focus on recovery during the pandemic put pressure on ED resources to fund short-term 
recovery interventions relating to high streets, trade, issuing grants and administering government 
schemes to support businesses. This redirection of resources meant that there are tensions between 
the short-term needs of councils and the long-term impacts that ED services are expected to make. 

The most effective ED services are the ones that can guide long-term place-making and place-
shaping by connecting employment, education and skills, business, and investment together through 
long-term strategies.  

The best way to illustrate what ED services achieve is through practical examples and case studies. 
Here are seven ways in which ED services add value, each is illustrated with a short case study: 

1. Closing the skills gap between employers and the local community. 
Essex County Council – Aviation academy 
Essex County council’s ED service used its data and relationships to create the conditions for 
developing the Stansted Airport College. The new college is an £11 million technical skills facility 
opened in 2018 and it is the first purpose-built on-site college at a major UK airport and the only 
further education centre in Uttlesford. 

The opening of this new centre is a key moment in tackling skills shortages in Essex but also more 
widely in the South East Local Enterprise Partnership (SELEP) area, which also covers Kent and East 
Sussex. This employer-led project directly tackles challenges identified from the respective skills 
strategies of Essex County Council and SELEP to create clear and direct paths for local young people 
into important engineering roles. The new facility was built on a one-acre site on land made 
available by the airport. The project also received: two separate £3.5 million grants from SELEP, 
Local Growth Fund and Essex County Council; £600,000 from Harlow College; and was also 
supported by a £300,000 grant from Uttlesford District Council. 

Page 85

Agenda Item 6a



 

12 
 

The skills strategies highlighted challenges, including having nearly 180,000 young people in the area 
with no qualifications, and skills below the national average. The college shows what can be 
achieved when employers, education providers and local authorities collaborate.  

The county council is also supporting the transition from fossil-fuel to electric vehicles (EVs) with a 
new electric vehicle centre at Harlow College. The project will fund 50 free places over a 24-month 
period to train EV technicians. Community learning workshops will raise local awareness for current 
and would-be EV owners.  

Role of the ED service: it has provided detailed understanding of the local jobs and skills landscape. 
This in turn comes from having good data and strong partnerships with Stansted and Harlow College 
(to connect them together), and from having an elected member who understands and values their 
ED service to help drive the project forward at a senior level. It is a good example of how ED services 
can support long-term strategies for economic growth by creating an environment where skills and 
training are designed around what employers want, including many businesses at the airport.  

2. Designing employment support for local businesses and start-up support for 
entrepreneurs. 

Hull City Council – Business Support 
Employment support: In 2019, Hull City council set up the employment hub using business rates 
uplift from the successful development of their Enterprise Zones. The council also managed to 
secure 3 years of funding from DWP grants (years 2 and 3 were secured following the success of the 
first year). Over 2,500 people have been supported in some way with 350 people directly securing 
employment.  In addition, training and employment through the national Kickstart scheme was 
delivered through the employment hub infrastructure which engaged more than 150 businesses. 
The council has also linked apprenticeship and grant opportunities with the end of the Kickstart 
scheme as the additional cost of employment at the end of the programme often became a difficulty 
for businesses. As a result, if a Kickstart alumnus is retained at work after 3 months, the business 
becomes eligible for grant and apprenticeship support. 

The success of the employment hub renewed the council’s commitment to their business support 
service. Using the uplift from business rates in their enterprise zone, the council is creating 
additional staff positions in the business support team. This additional team resource means they 
can directly provide a wider range of benefits and more comprehensive support that meets the 
needs of local businesses. One of the shortcomings of the current landscape is that a lot of business 
support is, and has been, tied into programmes like ERDF and more recently UKSPF which restricts 
the type of business support provided.   

Start-up support for entrepreneurs: The ED service also has a team focused on micro business and 
youth enterprise with a particular emphasis on helping those facing barriers to self-employment. The 
focus of this team is to upskill individuals and develop their confidence in getting into employment 
as well as providing a pathway into self-employment and advice around starting businesses.  

While it had regular engagement with large scale businesses, Hull City ED service wanted to increase 
engagement and collaboration with its SME base. So the council set up an “Hull city - your future” 
event which 80 businesses attended. The event brought together a diverse range of businesses, from 
100-employee businesses to sole traders and was an opportunity for the council to communicate 
their business support offer and enable smaller businesses to build networks to help their 
organisations grow. The council is now looking to hold an event every six months. 

Page 86

Agenda Item 6a



 

13 
 

Role of the ED service: it developed a comprehensive service by gaining support for their work from 
across the council and with senior leadership.  The service demonstrates the value of their work 
using data on the enterprise zone and employment hub. This has allowed ED officers to request 
more internal funding post-ERDF. The council understands that socioeconomic deprivation results 
from a lack of skills and opportunities to employment and therefore, understands the value of their 
ED service in connecting and partnering with businesses. This innovative approach focuses on 
businesses as an area to develop skills, alongside the work of further education institutions.  

3. Creating growth strategies with input cross sectors. 
Staffordshire County Council – Economic Growth strategy 2023 to 2030 & growth programme 
Staffordshire’s ambitious Economic Strategy is their roadmap to delivering ambitions for the local 
economy.  

The county boasts a diverse economy with significant strengths in automotive (Jaguar Land Rover, 
Gestamp), aerospace (Moog), energy (General Electric, ABB), medical technologies, (Cobra Biologics, 
Biocomposites), construction (JCB, KMF), logistics (Amazon, DHL), digital (Risual) and agri-tech. In 
addition to this, most of the businesses in the area are small and medium enterprises.  

The council has created a new growth strategy from 2023 to 2030 that covers the challenges and 
opportunities presented through levelling up and devolution, climate change and housing whilst also 
working with several different partners including Midlands Engine, Midlands Connect, Stoke-on-
Trent & Staffordshire Local Enterprise Partnership and Staffordshire University among others. The 
strategy considers both longer-term economic and shorter-term priorities, through a flexible 
economic growth programme. 

Role of the ED service: it played a strategic role in convening and connecting different organisations 
and different priorities under one overarching and long-term strategy. It was able to achieve this by 
having a detailed understanding of the priorities of both large and small businesses in the area and a 
data-led understanding of where the strengths of the local area lie. ED officers played a central role 
in pulling together and understanding the priorities across local needs, national and local politics and 
policy, the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, and cabinet members’ priorities, into one strategic 
document. 

4. Place and destination management including supporting retail cores / town centres 
and tourism. 

Devon County Council – Made in Devon 
“Made in Devon” is a scheme set up by Devon County Council to help businesses promote genuinely 
local products and services and encourage consumers to buy from local independent businesses. 
Any business that is based in Devon or uses Devon materials wherever possible and has been 
operating for more than six months can apply to join. Consumers who want to buy from trustworthy 
Devon companies can look on the Find a Local Business page, seasonal campaign pages or the Love 
to Shop Local page and know they are supporting a local, Devon business that has trading standards’ 
stamp of approval.   

“Made in Devon” was set up as an add-on to the nationally recognised “Buy with Confidence Trading 
Standards” approval scheme to provide additional support and resilience to local businesses. 
Member businesses are assessed on their legal compliance, their commitment to sustainability, how 
they currently contribute to their local communities, and their specialist skills.  

Page 87

Agenda Item 6a



 

14 
 

Funding from Devon County Council from 2021 to 2023 enabled up to 125 Devon-based businesses a 
year to join the scheme for free. This funding provided each business with a free audit by Trading 
Standards, and free membership of the scheme for their first year where they could take part in 
promotional opportunities.  

The project demonstrated how councils can ensure every local business is contributing to the 
priorities of the local community, while simultaneously promoting local products in the area. The 
scheme also aimed to build Devon as a brand and establish the region as a place for high quality 
goods and services. 

Role of the ED service: the Devon Economy Enterprise and Skills service delivered this by taking 
advantage of the commercial experience within their team. They understood that by promoting local 
products they could create a more sustainable and circular local economy. By using externally 
funded free membership the service was able to build trust with the business community which has 
enabled a self-sustaining model from March 2023. Additionally, the service was able to use their 
existing relationships with businesses to better connect them with Heart of the South West Trading 
Standards and Business Support which was mutually benficial. 
 

5. Attracting inward investment from private and public sources. 
Lincolnshire County Council – Team Lincolnshire 
Investment in Lincolnshire has primarily been made by businesses who are already based in the 
county. The county council and partners had undertaken work to attract inward investment for 
some years, but wanted to step up efforts. Recently, the council has recognised that inward 
investment promotion materials tend to be generic, all describing "a well-located area, a skilled 
workforce, and access to ports/airports”. The council understood that an inward investment offer 
that stood them apart from others was needed, rather than creating a generic offer that investors 
could access anywhere across the country. To help them do this, they focused on three themes:  

1. An advocacy programme led by the private sector. 

Team Lincolnshire is a partnership of around 150 Lincolnshire businesses who help to promote the 
area. They attend meetings with private investors alongside the council team and colleagues from 
district councils, have their own steering group, which is facilitated, not led, by the council. 

2. A focus on the area’s strengths by sector. 

The ED service produced six investor propositions which describe specific sites, values, supply chains, 
and support mechanisms for the sectors in which Lincolnshire has a competitive advantage. In doing 
this, money has been moved away from generic place-based investment promotion to more 
targeted promotion, including using social media and as proactive attendance at sector events to 
identifying target businesses. 

3. Knowledge of the factors that really affect investors’ decisions. 

The ED service has developed their team’s knowledge of banking and accountancy finance. 
Ultimately investment decisions are based on whether the finances stack up and the ED service is 
now better able to understand the detail of what matters to each potential investor. They have also 
started developing knowledge in energy management/supply due to its critical role in investment 
decisions in rural areas. 

Page 88

Agenda Item 6a



 

15 
 

As a result, Lincolnshire County Council is currently dealing with more investment enquiries than 
ever before and are already at the ‘heads of terms’ stage over new investments which will adapt and 
modernise the county’s industrial composition. 

Role of the ED service: it understood the need to step back and challenge whether what they were 
doing was effective and whether there was a need to move away from “doing”, to taking on a role as 
a facilitator. Although it was a difficult decision, they understood that their skills and resource better 
suited a more strategic role. Additionally, development of their targeted communications through 
social media and greater knowledge on banking and accountancy finance attracted outside 
businesses to Lincolnshire who had not previously considered the county, and created better 
understanding internally of what investors want.   

6. Working across regeneration and planning to shape contributions from business. 
Bristol City Council – City Centre Recovery and Renewal 
Bristol city centre is the primary economic centre in the West of England region, home to 120,000 
jobs, 2,200 businesses, well-known retail brands alongside the city’s growing independent retail and 
hospitality sectors, night-time economy, and flagship cultural attractions. Like many UK city centres, 
Bristol has been impacted by changes in shopping habits and working practices as a result of the 
Covid-19 pandemic, which accelerated trends towards online and out of town shopping and 
increased home working.  

The council’s ED service has attracted over £5 million of investment to support the recovery of the 
city centre and nine other priority high streets. As restrictions were lifted across the UK, it focused 
on the recovery of the city centre. The ED service worked with partners to boost footfall and visitor 
numbers, support recovery of the culture and events sectors and re-establish the city centre as a 
prime visitor location within the region. In doing this the service has been working with a range of 
creative, community and business partners to deliver an events programme throughout 2022. This 
has attracted over 75,000 visitors to the city centre and generated almost £1.4 million of additional 
spend in Bristol's businesses and supported 216 paid jobs in culture and events. 

Additionally, the Vacant Commercial Property Grant Scheme is used to bring vacant commercial 
properties back into use, supporting diverse businesses across the city. The council have supported 
70 new and expanding small businesses, charities and social enterprises, allocating £604,000 in 
grants to open new shops and premises. The scheme has created over 300 new jobs, and to date, 
has supported a decrease of nearly 2 percentage points in city centre vacancy rate. 

The council has provided £400,000 investment for greening and street scene improvements within 
the city centre.  This investment will complement physical regeneration of Bristol Shopping Quarter, 
Castle Park and St James’ Barton Roundabout, which will be guided by a development and delivery 
plan led by the regeneration service.  The plan will consider potential long-term changes to 
buildings, spaces and streets and the way spaces are used and consider what is needed to support a 
thriving city centre in the context of the climate, ecological, economic, and social pressures.   

Role of the ED service: the service has facilitated extensive joint working across Bristol City Council 
services – economic development, regeneration, planning, property, transport, licensing, public 
health, community development, waste, street scene, culture, community safety. Working with 
partners is also critical to success and the ED service facilitates the City Centre Recovery Group 
which co-ordinates activities with the three city centre area Business Improvement Districts 
(representing over 1,000 businesses) and shopping centre managers for Cabot Circus and The 
Galleries. 

Page 89

Agenda Item 6a



 

16 
 

7. Building partnerships to deliver greater outcomes for local places. 
Cotswold District Council – RAU innovation village 
The innovation village at the Royal Agricultural University (RAU) in the Cotswolds is a concept for a 
sustainable, carbon neutral, innovation village which will be home to a community of entrepreneurs, 
policymakers, practitioners, and researchers committed to addressing major global challenges.  

Role of the ED service: the proposed £100 million development, on a 29-acre site at RAU’s 
Cirencester campus, was originally proposed to be sold off but the ED service and its lead elected 
member saw the opportunity for the site to benefit the local economy and add value for the RAU. It 
made the case at officer and political level for the RAU to develop the site themselves. The land is 
now central to the RAU’s vision and aims to support industry, food producers, farmers, and 
landowners in developing sustainable solutions for healthy land and nature, food production, and 
resilience in rural communities. 

The university will be liaising with local residents and stakeholders to shape the proposals as they 
progress with a view to submitting a planning application to Cotswold District Council. There are 
many intended benefits of the scheme. 

• New businesses – doubling the current outputs of RAU’s Farm491 agritech incubator and the 
local Growth Hub within first five years of operation, representing additional £35 million of 
investment, 120 jobs created, and support for 200 start-ups and SMEs. 

• Provision of skills, training, employment, and affordable housing, targeted towards 
improving retention of 16–24-year-olds. 

• Research funding – attracting annual research income of £10 million p.a. by 2030, growing 
from current baseline of £2 million p.a. 

• High-value job creation – new academic and R&D opportunities estimated at 50 FTE. 

• Increase in conferencing business and associated revenue growth – estimated value of £5 
million p.a. 

This project is a notable example of the ability of ED teams to create opportunities that the market 
will not themselves deliver. By using their experience and relationships with local businesses and 
stakeholders, the local authority - through their ED service - were able to create a more ambitious 
and place-shaping project than was planned. 

  

Page 90

Agenda Item 6a



 

17 
 

 

5. Future skills needs of economic development services 
Career pathways and promoting the ED profession  
It is clear that more needs to be done to promote the ED profession in local government to attract 
and retain the right skills.  In producing this guide, issues around recruitment, retention and skills 
were often identified as challenges by ED services and other stakeholders. As referenced earlier, this 
is partly due to the ED profession having a less-well defined career compared to other local 
government professions. The broad skill sets required by ED services contribute to this, as do blurred 
distinctions in some places between ED and other functions (notably regeneration). Added to this, 
ED services are often reliant on a carousel of short-term project funding which makes retention and 
progression difficult.  

Currently, the effects of LEP integration on the economic development profession is creating added 
uncertainty. Councils play a dual role, operating their own ED services, while at the same time also 
serving as the accountable body to the LEP, or providing Growth Hub services for their own locality. 
In the longer term LEP integration will act as a driver for councils to expand their ED services and to 
attract talent from other sectors including education and industry. The cross-sector learning that can 
be achieved through this could strengthen ED services and capacity.  

Economic development future skills needs 
Building on the work produced by CEDOS in 2022, this guide aims to provide greater clarity on the 
future skills, knowledge, and abilities needed in ED services. The contributions from interviewees 
enabled the identification of 19 areas of essential skills, knowledge, and abilities which council ED 
services will need in the coming decade. The intention is to use these to help inform career 
pathways, continuous professional development, and other qualification routes such as 
apprenticeships for ED professionals.  

Top technical skills: 
1. Evidence-based business case development and appraisal – theories of change, HM Treasury 

Green Book and Five Case Model. 
2. Data and trends analysis – data acquisition, manipulation, analysis. 
3. Project and programme management. 
4. Commercial skills – income diversification and value-creation for ED services themselves. 
5. Commissioning and clienting. 
6. Planning – development, transport. 
7. Managing capital and regeneration programmes. 
8. Financial risk management. 

Top knowledge areas: 
9. Economic geography – national issues of regional drivers/disparities, local issues of local 

business base and their needs. 
10. Labour market economics – macro issues of ‘good jobs’ and automation, micro issues 

upskilling, local labour, inactivity. 
11. Equality diversity and inclusion. 
12. Inclusive growth and community wealth building approaches – scale of challenge, what 

works. 
13. Zero carbon – how to appraise interventions, how to quantify (such as the definition of 

green jobs), economic impact. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 6a

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/749086/Project_Business_Case_2018.pdf#page=[19]


 

18 
 

Top abilities: 
14. Rapid acquisition of new subject knowledge – mastering new subject knowledge quickly on 

areas where ED can have influence. 
15. Cross-boundary political management – across two or more authorities. 
16. Communicating vision and purpose. 
17. Discovering stakeholder needs – business, employers, delivery partners, residents. 
18. Advocacy for economic development. 
19. Self-management of continuing professional development (CPD). 

Continuous professional Development  
The background research conducted to produce this guide confirmed there is a good supply of 
continuous professional development (CPD) support for staff working in ED services. This is provided 
by the Chief Economic Development Officers Society (CEDOS), the Association of Directors of 
Environment, Planning and Transport (ADEPT), and the Institute for Economic Development (IED). 
The What Works Centre for Local Economic Growth also plays a vital role by providing access to 
evidence about effectiveness, and knowledge of how to apply evidence-based approaches to 
economic development. A handful of universities also run masters level programmes. However, 
these are not offered in a systematic way, which in part relates to the issues described about less-
well defined career paths.  

There is more detail on these CPD offers in section 7 at the end of this guide.  

 

Future skills needs by type of economic development service 
One of the key recommendations of this guide is that council ED services review their own 
knowledge, skills and abilities to self-assess their capacity and capability to deliver the council’s 
economic development aims. This guide provides a checklist of skills needs by ED service according 
to the four types identified in section 3. This checklist can be used as a self-assessment tool to help 
councils develop a learning and development plan for their ED service, which this guide also 
recommends.  
 
 

Simplified typology of economic development services 
Solo act, up to 1 full-time post, focused on 
influencing and collaboration. 
 

Large strategic, little or no direct delivery, 
large, commissioned programmes, wide range 
of strategic capabilities (influence, data, 
policy). 
 

Small hands-on, focused on business support 
and skills. 

Large hands-on, multiple projects delivered 
directly and with partners.  
 

 

Page 92

Agenda Item 6a

https://www.cedos.org/
https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/
https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/
https://ied.co.uk/
https://whatworksgrowth.org/


 

19 
 

Type of skill Skills requirement 

So
lo

 a
ct

 

Sm
al

l h
an

ds
-o

n 

La
rg

e 
ha

nd
s-

on
 

La
rg

e 
st

ra
te

gi
c 

Technical skills 1. Evidence-based business case 
development 

X X X X 

Technical skills 2. Data and trends analysis X X X X 
Technical skills 3. Project and programme management X X X X 
Technical skills 4. Commercial skills  X X X 
Technical skills 5. Commissioning and clienting   X  X 
Technical skills 6. Planning – development, transport    X X 
Technical skills 7. Managing capital programmes   X X 
Technical skills 8. Financial risk management   X X 
Knowledge 9. Economic geography X X X X 
Knowledge 10. Labour market economics X X X X 
Knowledge 11. Equality diversity and inclusion X X X X 
Knowledge 12. Inclusive growth and community wealth 

building approaches 
X X X X 

Knowledge 13. Zero carbon X X X X 
Abilities 14. Rapid acquisition of new subject 

knowledge 
X X X X 

Abilities 15. Cross-boundary political management X X X X 
Abilities 16. Communication vision and purpose X X X X 
Abilities 17. Discovering stakeholder needs X X X X 
Abilities 18. Advocacy for economic development   X X 
Abilities 19. Self-management of CPD X X X X 

 

Alt text for above table.  

1. Evidence-based business case development is a technical skills requirement for solo act, 
small hands-on, large hands-on and large strategic ED teams. 

2. Data and trends analysis are technical skills requirement for solo act, small hands-on, large 
hands-on and large strategic ED teams. 

3. Project and programme management are technical skills requirement for solo act, small 
hands-on, large hands-on and large strategic ED teams. 

4. Commercial skills are technical skills requirement for small hands-on, large hands-on and 
large strategic ED teams. 

5. Commissioning and clienting are technical skills requirement for small hands-on and large 
strategic ED teams. 

6. Planning – development, transport is technical skills requirement for large hands-on and 
large strategic ED teams. 

7. Managing capital programmes are technical skills requirement for large hands-on and large 
strategic ED teams. 

8. Financial risk management are technical skills requirement for large hands-on and large 
strategic ED teams. 

9. Knowledge of economic geography is a skill requirement for solo act, small hands-on, large 
hands-on and large strategic ED teams. 

Page 93

Agenda Item 6a



 

20 
 

10. Knowledge of labour market economics is a skill requirement for solo act, small hands-on, 
large hands-on and large strategic ED teams. 

11. Knowledge of equality diversity and inclusion is a skill requirement for solo act, small hands-
on, large hands-on and large strategic ED teams. 

12. Knowledge of inclusive growth and community wealth building approaches is a skill 
requirement for solo act, small hands-on, large hands-on and large strategic ED teams. 

13. Knowledge of zero carbon is a skill requirement for solo act, small hands-on, large hands-on 
and large strategic ED teams. 

14. Rapid acquisition of new subject knowledge is an ability required of solo act, small hands-on, 
large hands-on and large strategic ED teams. 

15. Cross-boundary political management is an ability required of solo act, small hands-on, large 
hands-on and large strategic ED teams. 

16. Communication vision and purpose is an ability required of solo act, small hands-on, large 
hands-on and large strategic ED teams. 

17. Discovering stakeholder needs is an ability required of solo act, small hands-on, large hands-
on and large strategic ED teams. 

18. Advocacy for economic development is an ability required of large hands-on and large 
strategic ED teams. 

19. Self-management of CPD is an ability required of solo act, small hands-on, large hands-on 
and large strategic ED teams. 

  

Page 94

Agenda Item 6a



 

21 
 

6. Key findings and summary recommendations at a glance 
For economic development services  
Key finding: The variety of forms ED services take, and their rapidly evolving role mean those outside 
the service including key stakeholders may not understand the aims and impact of the service.  

Recommendation: Undertake rapid reviews of the core objectives of the ED service and align service 
plans accordingly. A formal service plan should address the changing purpose, goals, and 
relationships to other council functions, model (for example, to anticipate the absorption of LEP 
roles and funding) and priority ED service actions. 

 

Key finding: The 19 areas of skills, knowledge, and abilities identified here are key to ensuring ED 
services have the skills they need for the future. 

Recommendation: Review knowledge, skills and abilities of ED services and ensure these provide 
what is required to deliver the council’s aims and objectives for economic development. Produce an 
internal learning and development plan (covering the service’s essential knowledge, skills, abilities) 
to ensure ED is maintaining capabilities to fulfil their role. In doing so, ED services should make full 
use of the CPD and professional learning available from CEDOS, ADEPT, IED, and the What Works 
Centres. 

 

Key finding: The case for joint working across neighbouring ED services is strengthened by a 
combination of LEP integration, accelerated devolution, and budget pressures. 

Recommendation: Explore joint working across neighbouring council ED services to meet the needs 
of the functional economic area, share resources, reduce duplication, and maximise economies of 
scale.  ED services with limited resources should consider pooling capacity with others, for example 
on bid writing and investment preparedness, to maintain broad capabilities and operational 
effectiveness. 

For portfolio holders 
Key finding: Elected member leadership and engagement helps ensure ED services support 
economic growth in ways which fit with the political vision. 

Recommendation: Members should proactively engage with ED services and vice versa ensure they 
are fully aligned with the administration’s objectives for the local economy, while understanding 
which communities could benefit from economic growth.  

 

Key finding: Direct support from elected members can be key to the success of partnerships with 
local businesses and anchor institutions in unlocking important projects and initiatives.   

Recommendation: Members should support ED services to build sustainable partnerships with key 
local businesses, employers and anchor institutions, so they know what contribution may be 
required in the long-term. 

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 6a



 

22 
 

For national organisations  
Key finding: Lack of structured career development for ED professionals in local government is a 
large part of the recruitment and retention challenge and requires national effort to solve. 

Recommendations:  

• National organisations should produce a clear career pathway for new and existing 
economic development roles. This pathway would include existing entry qualifications and 
use the new skills, knowledge and attributes identified in this guide.  

• National organisations should explore the development of an apprenticeship standards in ED 
services to aid work-based progression and provide development for the existing ED 
workforce. Lessons can be drawn from other professions for example, the apprenticeships 
pathways developed in the public health profession.  

• National organisations should promote the ED profession through action by partner 
agencies, employers, learning providers (in further and higher education) and the ED 
professional body. These stakeholders should work closer together to promote the ED 
profession to young people, graduates, and career changes in related professions to match 
skills needs of current and future ED services.   

• National organisations should develop the CPD offer for ED services to ensure it is visible and 
joined up. 

  

Page 96

Agenda Item 6a



 

23 
 

7. Existing sources of skills support for professional CPD 
There are many routes for ED services to build their knowledge, skills and abilities through formal 
learning, seminars, and peer networks directly aimed at economic development professionals. Much 
of this is provided by sector organisations including the LGA and others, as well as post-graduate 
qualifications provided by universities.  

Sector Organisations 
• CEDOS the Chief Economic Development Officers’ Society offers regular programme of 

events, knowledge seminars and online briefings. 
• ADEPT the Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning and Transport offers: 

o a Leadership Development Programme delivered by SOLACE for aspiring place 
directors 

o an Excellence in Place Leadership delivered by Amey 
o a Large peer programme of Live Labs and subject boards. 

• IED the Institute of Economic Development offer: 
o Excellence in Economic Development, which is a self-assessed standard for 

professional practice 
o a Certificate/Advanced Certificate in Economic Development, which is a modular 

qualification accredited by the IED. 
• What Works Centre for Local Economic Growth have a wide range of training on use of 

evidence in economic development including training in logic models and commissioning 
evaluation. The Centre also offers bespoke support for impact evaluations, through their 
evaluation panel. 

• The Future of London and Future of Manchester is the network for built environment 
practitioners, offering place-based leadership programmes for urban professionals 
(London/Manchester cohorts). 

Universities 
• London School of Economics hosts a MSc Local Economic Development. 
• University of Glasgow offers a MSc Economic Development. 
• University of Cambridge - Bennett Institute has a (Certificate) on The Wealth Economy: a 

Framework for Sustainable Prosperity 'Beyond GDP’ 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 6a

https://www.cedos.org/
https://www.cedos.org/events/
https://adeptnet.org.uk/programmes/excellence-place-leadership-programme
https://adeptnet.org.uk/programmes/adept-leadership-development-programme
https://adeptnet.org.uk/programmes/excellence-place-leadership-programme
https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/livelabs
https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/groups/subject-board
https://ied.co.uk/
https://ied.co.uk/skills_training/excellence_in_economic_development/
file:///C://Users/Ben%20Lee/Downloads/IED_Continuing_Professional_Development_Programme-2.pdf
https://whatworksgrowth.org/
https://whatworksgrowth.org/training/
https://whatworksgrowth.org/our-support/
https://www.futureoflondon.org.uk/
https://futureofgreatermanchester.com/
https://www.futureoflondon.org.uk/leadership/
https://futureofgreatermanchester.com/leadership/gm-leaders-plus/
https://www.lse.ac.uk/
https://www.lse.ac.uk/study-at-lse/Graduate/degree-programmes-2023/MSc-Local-Economic-Development
https://www.gla.ac.uk/
https://www.gla.ac.uk/postgraduate/taught/economicdevelopmentwithfinancepolicypathways/
https://www.bennettinstitute.cam.ac.uk/
https://advanceonline.cam.ac.uk/courses/the-wealth-economy-a-framework-for-sustainable-prosperity-beyond-gdp
https://advanceonline.cam.ac.uk/courses/the-wealth-economy-a-framework-for-sustainable-prosperity-beyond-gdp




 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
                               Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

 
 

LEP Information Team, DLUHC 
lepinformation2023@levellingup.gov.uk 
 
19 May 2023 
 
 
Dear LEP Information Team  

 

LEP Integration 
 

Following the Chancellor’s announcement on 15 March that the Government is ‘minded 

to’ withdraw financial support for Local Enterprise Partnerships from April 2024, we are 

writing to you as the Chairs of the Local Government Association’s (LGA) cross-party City 

Regions and People and Places Boards to outline the key messages from the sector and 

to inform your information gathering exercise.  

 

As leaders of place, local authorities have an important role to play in shaping the 

conditions for growth locally and the LGA has long called for the Government to deliver 

real devolution of economic powers and funding to councils and combined authorities.  

 

We therefore support transferring the functions of Local Enterprise Partnerships to local 

democratic structures. We see this as a welcome opportunity for councils and combined 

authorities to better integrate these activities with their wider range of responsibilities for 

driving economic growth as well as providing greater democratic accountability and visible 

public leadership. 

 

As part of the previous transition pathway, in October 2022 the LGA commissioned 

Shared Intelligence to provide support for councils and combined authorities undertaking 

LEP integration and to share good practice and learning. The final report, the findings 

from which we have drawn upon to inform this letter, is attached at Appendix A.  

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 6a

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


  

 

Councils told us that a swift response to the information gathering exercise and a quick 

decision from Government will be imperative in supporting a decisive and clear way 

forward for them and their local business communities. This should include clarity on the 

integration of these private organisations and their assets into the local government 

landscape.  

 

Issues of integration are likely to be further complicated where LEPs have been involved 

in setting up Enterprise Zones or Freeports. A clear and unequivocal statement of how 

councils will be supported to resolve these matters locally will help to avoid unnecessary 

delay and greater costs to the public purse. 

 

Prior to the announcement there was a clear pathway for LEP integration through 

devolution deals. The Government’s ‘minded to’ decision on LEPs creates an accelerated 

timeline for areas looking to develop detailed plans for transition. It is essential that 

Government now presses ahead with level two devolution deals, ensuring those who do 

not intend to pursue a mayoral devolution model are given equal prioritisation alongside 

those who do.  

 

Councils’ economic development (ED) teams are positive about the role they will play in 

this new landscape. However, they tell us that recruitment, retention and skills continue to 

be a challenge. While it is partly due to the ED profession having a less-well defined 

career pathways compared to other local government professions, they are also 

continually reliant on a carousel of short-term project funding. LEP integration can be a 

driver for councils to expand their ED services and to attract talent from elsewhere but we 

are also keen to work with Government to put these vital services on a more stable 

footing, and will shortly be publishing an online guide on their role and future skills needs. 

 

We would welcome an opportunity to meet to discuss how the transition could be 

implemented in a way which would empower local areas to lead the growth agenda and 

Page 100

Agenda Item 6a



  

 

strengthen local communities, while ensuring important capabilities closely associated 

with LEPs are safeguarded in an integration process.    

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

  

 

 

Cllr Kevin Bentley     Mayor Marvin Rees  

Chair of the People and Places Board   Chair of the City Regions Board 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101

Agenda Item 6a



  

 

Learning note from engagement with combined and local authorities on LEP 
integration  
 

1. Introduction 
 

Purpose of this document 
 

The Local Government Association (LGA) commissioned Shared Intelligence (Si) to provide 
support for councils and combined authorities undertaking LEP integration and to share good 
practice/ learning. 
 
This commission flowed from the Levelling Up white paper and subsequent ministerial letter in 
March 2022. This went to LEP chairs, combined authorities and GLA setting out pathways for LEP 
integration into (mayoral) combined authorities or institutions with devolved powers for the 
purposes of hosting a county deal.  
 
This note summarises key themes from engagement with several areas in the first tranche of 
integration and a selection of other areas. 
 

Timing and impact of March 2023 budget announcement about future of LEPs 
 

This note focuses on learning from research between November 2022 and mid-March 2023. The 
majority of this research was conducted before the 15th March 2023 budget announcement in 
which the chancellor stated that he was “minded to” end funding to LEPs from April 2024 and for 
their functions to be delivered by local government in the future. This is now going through a 
consultation process.  
 
For many who had not yet started to consider integration because they were not yet on a 
devolution pathway, the government’s announcement will create an urgent need to consider 
options for future arrangements. At the time of writing (March 2023), local authorities are still at an 
early stage in considering the implications of the budget announcement and this may change the 
emphasis of the findings described. Nevertheless, this note aims to provide insight for all areas 
that now need to consider how existing LEP functions will be delivered in the future, drawing on 
the learning from the winter 2022/23 fieldwork. 
 

Background and context 
 

LEPs were established in 2010 and originally conceived as local business-led partnerships 
between the private and public sector that would drive local economic growth. Routes for 
engaging locally with a business voice had existed before the creation of LEPs, through local 
partnership arrangements and through predecessor local organisations. While functions and 
geography do not map directly, these included Training and Enterprise Councils (1990 to 2001) 
and regional development agencies (1998 to 2012).  
 
38 LEPs were established on functional economic market areas (FEMAs). Boundaries were 
reviewed in 2018, resolving some overlaps, but it remains the case that there is variety in their 

Page 102

Agenda Item 6a

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1066191/Letter-and-Guidance-on-integrating-Local-Enterprise-Partnerships-_LEPs_-into-local-democratic-institutions.pdf


  

 

size and how they mesh with local administrative boundaries. While some are coterminous with 
county or combined authority areas, several cover adjacent upper-tier local authority areas. 
 
The role of LEPs increased significantly in 2015 when they were handed responsibility for £12 
billion local growth deal funding over six years. They also led the development of strategic 
economic plans and then local industrial strategies, with mayoral combined authorities in relevant 
areas, under the government’s national Industrial Strategy.   
 
During this period, there have also been several reviews of the governance frameworks for LEPs 
and more recently of their roles and responsibilities. Following a review in 2017 by Mary Ney, a 
Non-Executive Director of the then Department for Communities and Local Government, the 
Government published Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships which covered various 
changes to arrangements for LEP leadership and accountability (July 2018). This also proposed 
closer working between LEPs and MCAs. A further review was undertaken by the government 
between early 2021 and the publication of the February 2022 Levelling Up white paper. This led 
on to the ministerial letter proposing LEP integration. 
 
The recent period of review; the post 2019 election transition from the national Industrial Strategy 
to the Plan for Growth; publication of the Levelling Up white paper; and the last year’s changes of 
prime minister and ministerial teams has created uncertainty about the future role of LEPs. Well 
before the latest budget announcement, funding had been declining, for example with a 50% 
reduction in funding for growth hubs in 2022/23. The integration announcement was also couched 
as an incremental change: “LEPs will eventually fully integrate into local democratic institutions in 
line with our mission to offer a devolution deal to everywhere that wants one by 2030”. 
 
This recent history sets an important backdrop when considering LEP integration. LEPs saw a 
rapid expansion of their role, followed by an incremental tailing off of central support and funding. 
In 2016, a National Audit Office (NAO) report noted that: “funding uncertainty has also made it 
difficult [for LEPs] to recruit and retain skilled staff.” That theme has continued, and “uncertainty” 
is a word that has been integral to the LEP experience. Several of the themes identified in this 
note reflect the impact of an incremental central approach to LEP reform. This learning note 
however, is intended as a practical guideline for areas through LEP integration, including those 
who would not have expected to for this to be a short-term priority prior to the March 2023 budget.  
 
Findings about current state of play 
 

Pre budget 
 

There is a distinct first tranche of active LEP integration projects covering MCA areas and 
London: Greater Manchester; Liverpool City Region; Greater London; South Yorkshire; Tees 
Valley; West Midlands; West of England; and West Yorkshire. These areas submitted integration 
plans between summer 2022 and early 2023 and are on course to establish business boards. 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough integrated its LEP into the combined authority and established 
a business board in April 2018. 
 
The March 2022 ministerial letter indicated that the pathway and timing of integration in other 
areas should depend on the level of devolution adopted locally, as per the Devolution Framework 

Page 103

Agenda Item 6a

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728058/Strengthened_Local_Enterprise_Partnerships.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/build-back-better-our-plan-for-growth


  

 

in the Levelling Up white paper. Very broadly, integration required areas to adopt either level 3 or 
level 2 arrangements from the Devolution Framework so would need a (mayoral) combined 
authority or county deal. 
 
From our research, we found that: 
 

• Integration streams have been initiated in areas where county deals have recently been 
signed. In other areas, corresponding to those in Pathway II or Pathway III as described in 
the Government’s March 2022 letter, there was a mix of approaches. In some areas there 
was some pragmatic work in place ahead of devolution deals to promote joint working with 
secondments or to refine existing LEP board structures to match emerging priorities. Other 
areas were at an early stage of thinking – contingent on their wider approach to devolution 
or assessing the potential implications of devolution applying to different parts of an 
existing LEP geography at different timescales. 

How has the context changed with the 15 March 2023 Budget announcement? 
 

While still a “minded to” announcement, the budget is necessarily creating a new and urgent focus 
for all non-tranche 1 areas, irrespective of their likely future devolution arrangements. All areas 
now need to consider the future of current LEP functions within a 12-month timescale. For those 
pursuing devolution, but not expecting a deal to be agreed in this period, this may create the 
further complication of requiring a short-term, interim arrangement for the handling of current LEP 
activity after April 2024 but before any new devolved institution comes into being. Those not yet 
on course to agree a deal will now need to develop and accelerate integration plans over the next 
12-months with a pace not previously anticipated.  
 

2. What do local areas value in the work of current LEPs? 
 
Integration was seen by the areas we engaged with as a chance to reconfigure strategic and 
operational arrangements for services that exist to serve the interests of the area. Arrangements 
vary from place to place and in some areas, local authorities have been playing a strong role 
alongside LEPs in supporting their delivery work.  
 
There is an important policy question about where accountability for local economic growth should 
sit and the budget announcement was couched in terms of an opportunity to empower 
democratically elected local leaders. However, it is also helpful for areas considering the future of 
LEP functions to consider, in purely practical terms, the work that LEPs currently deliver. Councils 
told us that they recognised a number of capabilities, closely associated with LEPs, that they 
consider important to safeguard in an integration process. In addition to separately funded 
functions, including growth hubs and careers hubs, these include: 
 

• Data – being a single source of business data and intelligence, and labour market 
intelligence. This links to a strong role in evidence-based strategy making – eg leading on 
local industrial strategies. Other business support organisations (Chambers of Commerce, 
Federation of Small Business etc.) and local government do not often have a similar offer.  
 

Page 104

Agenda Item 6a



  

 

• Quality apolitical decisions – LEPs over time have developed strategic priorities with 
strong business influence as well as assessment frameworks in order to assess funding 
bids (for example local growth fund, regional growth fund etc.). While local government 
does a similar role with competitive business case development, LEPs have been seen to 
make decisions based on technical evidence, embracing private sector challenge. There 
were cases where it had been helpful to be able to explain decisions when they were not 
politically based.  
 

• Functional economic geography – LEP geography is not ideal in all cases and has been 
the subject of debate and reform in the last five years. However, it was intended to be 
rooted in functional economic geography and does offer an institutional focus to working 
across local authority boundaries which may be at risk (for those pending progress with 
devolution deals). There is also the question of economy of scale – breaking down cross 
authority functions may require more aggregate resource to replicate them at local 
authority or devolution deal level. 
 

• Continuity – LEPs are not governed by the same four-year local political dynamic as local 
government. This can help to provide practical momentum and continuity to economic 
support. This can be complementary to the vision and convening legitimacy of political 
leaders and so gives confidence to businesses and investors.  
 

• Expertise in bidding – Many LEPs have strong expertise in driving funding bids. They 
have managed the bidding process for programmes such as regional growth funding and 
local growth funding. Many LEPs have also supported local government with recent 
bidding rounds - eg Levelling Up Funding and UK Shared Prosperity / Rural Prosperity 
Funding. Allied to this is experience in providing the infrastructure for the distribution of EU 
funding. This is an important capability area for linking technical evidence and place-
marketing. 
 

• Assurance function – LEPs went through a process of designing and developing a 
National LEP Assurance Framework in 2014 with the then Department for Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG). This resulted in a guide to support local decision making 
with accountability, transparency and value for money. While local government has strong 
governance and processes, LEPs built in the business voice to their assurance through, 
for example, a public annual review. LEPs have also developed a strong monitoring role 
and understanding of HM Treasury Green Book requirements. These are all capabilities 
that are beneficial to an area – whether they sit in a LEP or elsewhere. 
 

• Engagement of business – for example, LEPs have been recognised as strong 
deliverers of inward investment. This has been made easier by the fact that the 
Department for International Trade (DIT) has been able to work with 38 LEPs covering the 
entire country. They also have proactive and ongoing engagement with a large scale of 
businesses and across sectors most relevant to local growth ambitions.  
 

Page 105

Agenda Item 6a



  

 

• Ability to attract people with business understanding – the part private sector make 
up of LEPs was seen as a factor in helping them to be successful in attracting senior 
executive talent with commercial experience. This is important in a context where local 
authorities continue to face recruitment challenges for their economic development work. 
This appears to be linked to the non-statutory nature of the council function at a time of 
funding pressure and less-well defined career paths than other local government 
professions as identified in: A handbook for economic development services: their role and 
future skills needs.  
 

• Lobbying – LEPs are proactive in lobbying, delivering business briefings and do have 
good access to MPs. The LEP Network plays a role in lobbying for the economy. How this 
works alongside other institutions does vary according to local circumstances – the 
changing role of lobbying and creating dialogue with central government will be different in 
areas with and without devolved mayoral authority. 

The way that these capabilities are exercised and experienced will vary between current LEP 
areas. A key aim in the integration process should be to understand what capabilities are 
delivered with a benefit to the area and to consider how they can be delivered in the future and in 
a way consistent with enhancing local democratic accountability.  
 

3. Themes from Tranche 1 areas 
What arrangements are emerging? 

For most, where geography is co-terminous, integration means a re-focusing of the business 
voice role for a context where there will no longer be a LEP actively engaged in making decisions. 
They are taking the opportunity of integration to focus the new business board to advise on areas 
that are priorities for the mayor and combined authority. This is the main strand of activity in areas 
where many operations and staffing were already well integrated. In some areas, there are also 
operational streams of work to do with integrating functional parts of existing LEPs, notably growth 
hubs.   
One exception in the first tranche is the West Midlands where specific functions within each of its 
current three LEPs will integrate into the WMCA. There is an added complication in that 
Warwickshire (part of one of the current LEPs) is not part of the combined authority area. The 
overall approach will be “hub and spoke”, notably for careers services and business support - eg a 
regional business support hub will lead on commissioning activity with the local areas acting as 
the delivery spokes. 
London has also adopted a slightly different approach. The LEP’s work is being folded into the 
London Partnership Board, a cross sector board of senior London leaders, including the mayor, 
business representatives, other senior public sector and civil society members. Sub-groups with 
business representation will facilitate integration with related agendas including skills and UKSPF 
funding. 

Opportunities identified 
A number of opportunities have been identified by tranche 1 areas which are beginning to form 
models of delivery, and which could be applied to other parts of the country. 

• Focus. Focusing the role of the business board to fit closely with strategic priority areas 
for their city region and its key investment themes. For example: 

Page 106

Agenda Item 6a

https://www.lepnetwork.net/
https://www.businessgrowthwestmidlands.org.uk/
https://www.london.gov.uk/who-we-are/what-mayor-does/priorities-london/londons-recovery-coronavirus-crisis/london-partnership-board?ac-58465=171138


  

 

o Greater Manchester CA – creating a proactive focus for board members on city 
wide strategic priorities and future business needs. 

o Liverpool City Region – creation of thematic cluster boards to drive competitive 
advantage. 

 
• Simplification of the economic support landscape. Setting the agenda and clarifying 

responsibilities in areas where there is a risk of overlap or challenges of co-ordinating the 
work that LEPs and local authorities deliver, such as: 

o Business support, including inward investment. 
o Career support.   
o Integration of employment and skills with adult education budget work and taking a 

lead in connecting the business voice to this. 
o Transport – a chance to more closely integrate strategic advice on transport 

requirements with the delivery role of a combined authority. 
 
This would provide an opportunity to introduce more consistency across the whole 
business board area. 
 

• Cementing the relationship of (M)CAs with central government on the growth 
agenda. As a consequence of the removal of the LEPs’ role in allocating central funds, 
there is an opportunity for (M)CAs to lead and steer dialogue with the centre about the 
direction of economic growth policy.   
 

• Reassert the importance of strategic advice from a business board. Areas are 
planning to develop the local business voice as a strong role, in the context of devolution 
budgets and potentially in articulating further devolution asks: 

o South Yorkshire CA – expecting to call the business board the “Mayor’s Economic 
Advisory Council”. 

o Liverpool City Region – expecting the board to articulate the demand side for major 
cross cutting themes such as such as net zero, equalities and skills. 

 
Challenges identified 
 
• Funding: delays to funding announcements, on growth hubs and the general trend of 

reduced funding and short-term settlements has made it very difficult for areas to plan with 
certainty. This also sits in a context where: 

o There is increased competition for funding across more funds which support a 
growth agenda.  

o There have been challenges with the UKSPF timescales (production of investment 
plans; time for approval; and late change to allow use of theme 3 in 2023/24). 

o CAs themselves have their own funding challenges, so making up shortfalls from 
previous funding at short notice would be very challenging.  

 
• Staffing: funding uncertainties have created very uncertain employment conditions for 

staff, and have done since the LEP review process began, with a resultant loss of staff and 

Page 107

Agenda Item 6a



  

 

knowledge. This will also now be a key point for non-tranche 1 areas who will need to work 
quickly to identify new team structures and retain key staff in new post-LEP arrangements. 
 

• Business voice: while the advisory role is seen as an opportunity, there is recognition of 
the challenge of maintaining board member motivation for an advisory role. This requires 
care, and areas recognise: 

o The importance of showing the business board how its advice is acted on. 
o The need to adapt secretariat arrangements with shorter papers and less 

bureaucracy. 

Messages from Tranche 1 areas for others 
Based on discussions with Tranche 1 areas, we identified some messages for other areas 
focusing on LEP integration. This was based on discussions prior to the March 2023 budget 
announcement. Nevertheless, these may be helpful considerations during the government’s 
period of information gathering and as other areas consider their own way forward. It is, however, 
important to note that much of the Tranche 1 learning is linked to the role of a metro mayor – as a 
convenor who can encourage businesses to continue to engage in the context of devolved 
funding. Experience may translate differently to areas not pursuing a mayoral devolution model.  
 

• Build a vision of the big picture for the future operating model for former LEP 
functions. This will be important in order to drive a clear path through the complexity of 
practical issues to resolve. This includes a clear remit for a business board, and a view of 
what success would look like. 
 

• Importance of CA / local authority early engagement with existing LEP members. It 
is important to recognise the time that individual current LEP members have given and not 
present them cold with a proposed new priority focus. Existing members should be 
engaged early, offered one to one opportunities to give their input; and there should be an 
emphasis on explaining the expected benefits of a new focus or set of arrangements.  
 

• Business voice. A business board is not the only source of business voice. A board of 
c15 members does not automatically constitute a representative voice for a community of 
thousands of businesses. Consideration is needed to how it can operate as a focus for 
wider dialogue with businesses and other business groups. 
 

• Communication to existing LEP and future business board members. In the context 
of a move to more advisory focused business boards as planned by most Tranche 1 
areas, communication to current members is very important to set the strategic context. 
For new members, a strong induction will be important. Work will also be needed to 
ensure the business board members and politicians have, as far as possible, a shared 
understanding of the overall CA / local authority vision. 
 

• Diversity. Related to this is the importance of moving the business boards to be more 
representative of the diversity of the areas they represent across people and business 
demographics. Integration is an opportunity to consider board make up and the 

Page 108

Agenda Item 6a



  

 

opportunity for political leaders to champion improvements where they are needed, in line 
with wider equality programmes. 

 
4. Themes from non-Tranche 1 areas 

 
Opportunities identified 
 

Areas identified a range of opportunities from the LEP integration agenda, which resonate with 
those from the Tranche 1 group, including: 
 

• Clarity of economic vision. Some areas highlighted that integration is an opportunity to 
bring together a single economic strategy for the area (if co-terminous) rather than have 
LEP owned and local authority owned versions.  
 

• Efficiency gain. Some areas highlighted that there was an opportunity to deliver some 
efficiency gain, particularly in areas where there may be overlap of activity or an artificial 
divide.  
 

• Pro-active working with business. Without funding being passed through LEPs, this is 
an opportunity to frame a proactive rather than “sign off” relationship. 

Based on discussion, there are a number of themes about how future arrangements could be set 
up. While this is a high-level representation of emerging “models”, these points aim to highlight 
some of the considerations. 
 

• Integration of economic growth levers.  
o This is an opportunity to create a more integrated economic growth / levelling up 

structure locally. This could draw in and help to develop, for example, town deal 
boards and the partnership groups convened for the purposes of UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund and UK Rural Prosperity Fund planning. 

o It could also be an opportunity for local authorities to work more closely with sector 
boards that are currently LEP convened to “hear an unfiltered message”. 
 

• Role and structure of business voice. Some options for business input include: 
o A fully business led advisory board (an important role where more resources were 

devolved). Several areas expressed a wish to create an advisory role that allowed 
for meaningful early engagement with business – without funding being passed 
through LEPs. This is an opportunity to frame a proactive rather than “sign off” 
relationship for local government in the future. 

o Having two levels of business voice – overall economic strategy, supported by 
specialist groups that oversee levelling up and ensure various funding is coherent 
and its impact consistent.  

o A business board working alongside a partnership-based growth board. 
o Questions remain about whether a business board would or should have a role in 

decisions about strategy and resource allocation. Options include having a 

Page 109

Agenda Item 6a



  

 

nominated voting business member on any new devolved institution with influence 
over strategy but not funding allocations. 

o LEP boards often involve larger businesses – but the on the ground voice comes 
from elsewhere (eg business representative organisations, such as Chambers of 
Commerce and Federation of Small Business). Some areas have stressed a wish 
to include more small business and social enterprise voices. 

 

The balance of considerations will be influenced by:  
• The vision and geographic coverage of any devolution settlement and in a mayoral 

model, would depend on the view of the mayor. 
• Current structures and partnerships, and whether a local authority area has 

established a growth board or equivalent (separate from the LEP). 

 
Taking integration forward 
 

Risks and identified issues in relation to integration to date include:  
 

• Delivery within local government. It is important to recognise that LEPs have always 
received substantial support from councils in the form of resource, funding and 
expertise. It is also noted that there is a mix of approaches to economic development 
in local authorities, and significant variations in where focus is placed. A recent report 
for the LGA: A handbook for economic development services: their role and future 
skills needs identified a typology of current models: 

 
 
 
 

Simplified typology of economic development services 
Solo act, up to 1 full-time post, focused 
on influencing and collaboration. 
 

Large strategic, little or no direct delivery, 
large, commissioned programmes, wide 
range of strategic capabilities (influence, 
data, policy). 
 

Small hands-on, focused on business 
support and skills. 

Large hands-on, multiple projects 
delivered directly and with partners.  
 

 
To integrate LEP functions that build on these different models of existing local economic 
development work will require a transition, and the nature of this will vary from area to 
area. This will also need to take account of factors such as: 
 

o Understanding the resource demands of current LEP functions.  
o Recognition that continued pressure on local government budgets affects non-

statutory services like economic development the most.  

Page 110

Agenda Item 6a



  

 

o Addressing the current difficulty of recruiting economic development professionals 
into local authorities.  

 
• Staffing. Long-standing questions about funding and future responsibilities for LEPs had 

created very uncertain conditions for their staff. The budget announcement has 
exacerbated this in the short term, but this presents an opportunity to close any expertise 
gaps in council economic development teams. This will need to be balanced financially 
and will depend on what government funding may or may not come forward from 2024.   
 

• Transition of initiatives, structures and assets. LEPs are still leading with initiatives 
such as Enterprise Zones and Freeports as well as growth hub assets, such as offices and 
websites. This will take some time to decouple from current governance models as well as 
from delivery and finance arrangements. This is likely to become a key challenge as the 
timelines have been reduced by the budget announcement.   
 

• Coordination with other sub-regional structures. There is a range of other geographic 
boundaries that link to LEPs’ work, such as Local Skills Improvement Partnerships, 
Jobcentre Plus districts, and Integrated Care Systems. While some match LEP boundaries 
and some do not, removing LEPs risks complicating the dialogue with these entities / 
partnerships on economic growth matters. 
 

• Maintaining business engagement. Several areas have expressed concern about how 
to maintain the interest of unremunerated senior business representatives in being a 
business voice, with no influence over funding, that is much closer to the public sector. 
This risk may be mitigated in areas with devolution deals. However, it is important that 
consideration is given to keeping business board agenda strategic – focusing on priority 
not fine detail. 

In order to support local government to consider their own bespoke approach, this research has 
identified a number of self-assessment questions for self-reflection. While there are no right or 
wrong answers to these questions, they will help to understand where planning needs to focus. 
This tool can be found in the appendix.  
 

5. Conclusion 
 
The integration of LEP functions to local democratic structures is a great opportunity for local 
government, combined authorities and new devolved entities linked to devolution deals. It allows 
for democratic scrutiny of a range of economic growth functions, for tighter linkage of these to 
other policy areas, and to focus the voice of business to provide strategic advice on priorities.  
However, there are challenges associated with this. LEPs have been a construct that business 
has been comfortable engaging with, and this has been demonstrated over time by the significant 
presence of industry representatives from well-known national and global companies. As this 
research heard from Tranche 1 areas, early engagement with existing board members to explore 
how to secure the business voice going forward is critical.  
 

Page 111

Agenda Item 6a



  

 

This early engagement should also be extended to councils across existing LEP geographies and 
beyond those boundaries. Functional economic market areas have shifted over time with growth 
in housing and industry and Covid accelerated this balance with travel to work patterns being 
disrupted. Open dialogue at this stage will encourage new models of delivery and create an 
opportunity for joint economic visions and action plans. 
 
The LEPs have also developed a range of capabilities that support their areas which, even setting 
aside funding challenges, will be difficult to replicate in local authorities. The March 2023 budget 
announcement means that the time is now to develop detailed plans for transition irrespective of 
the appetite for devolution. The insights from Tranche 1 areas presented in this document, along 
with the opportunities identified and the self-assessment tool, aim to offer a starting point 
framework for developing a vision for what to consider going forward.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix – Self-assessment tool 
 
This tool is split into five sections: vision and commitment, business voice, capacity and capability, 
transition, and funding. It is designed for local authorities who are beginning their integration 
journey and wish to explore options. It is not designed for every question to have an answer, but 
as a way for places to consider what is relevant in their own local context.  
 
Table 1 – self-assessment tool 

Vision and Commitment 
 

• Does your council have a vision and strategy for its economy?  
 

• Is this vision consistent with the vision and strategy already held by the LEP?  
 

• Have your council and partners identified the potential benefits and challenges of 
LEP integration? 
 

• Is there a shared understanding of what successful integration of the LEP would 
look like among partners and stakeholders? 
 

• Is your LEP seeking to continue as a separate organisation and what would be the 

Page 112

Agenda Item 6a



  

 

implications of this for your area?  
 

• At what geography should future strategy take shape?  
 

• Where a LEP is not co-terminous with upper tier local government boundaries, is 
your council discussing geographic options for LEP functions with your neighbours. 
Can this be considered alongside future devolution deal planning? 
 
 

Business Voice 
 

• Has early engagement with current LEP board members taken place to explore the 
business role and vision going forward?  
 

• Have you considered the make-up of the current LEP board; does it reflect the 
local business community for example in demography, sector and geographical 
terms?  
 

• Is there an existing local authority convened structure that already involves a voice 
of business? What would an integrated “business board” add to this? 

 
• Has the role of future business voice been clearly defined in partnership with the 

business community?  
 

• Has the business voice been involved in developing the future vision in 
collaboration with other important stakeholders? 

 
 

Capacity and Capability 
 

• How would your council articulate the value that the LEP brings to the local 
economy? How important is it that this continues? 

 
• What activity does the LEP deliver? Is there a clear understanding of current 

economic activity, such as business support, inward investment, partnership 
working and monitoring and evaluation.  

 
• Is there a clear understanding of all the roles played in the LEP and the 

specialisms they bring?  
 

• Has a staffing structure or organigram been shared which sets out employment 
terms for example numbers of staff (FTE or PT): 

o Directly employed 
o Under contract to provide services (contractors) 
o Temporary staff 
o Secondees. 

  

Page 113

Agenda Item 6a



  

 

• Is it clear how all LEP staff and contractors are funded for example on fixed-term 
or permanent contracts, or part funded by different funders?  
 

• Has the council identified gaps in their own economy or wider teams which could 
be used to secure staff early to prevent loss of core skills under integration?  
 
 

Transition 
 

• What assets does the LEP have? These could be physical (for example a building 
or furniture in an office) or virtual (for example a brand, campaign, website or data 
packages). 
 

• Are these assets solely owned by the LEP or is there a partnership structure to 
consider?  
 

• What geography do these assets cover? Does that map across co-terminous 
boundaries?  

 
• Is there a plan in place for each asset held or activity delivered? For example, loan 

funds, Enterprise Zones, Investment Zones, contract novation for growth or career 
hubs, asset ownership etc.? 

  
• Have the risks of LEP integration been documented?  

 
• Have the end users or beneficiaries of LEP services been engaged?  

 
Funding 

 
• Is it clear what the LEPs current operating costs are? Are there any current budget 

gaps for 2023/24? 
 

• How are these costs broken down? What is the proportion or government / local / 
other funding sources? 
 

• What are the timescales on all of these funding streams?  
 

• Has a transition budget been established to ensure an action and governance plan 
can be developed over the next 12-months? 

 
• Have conversations with other authorities in the LEP area commenced to 

understand future funding considerations?  
 
 
 

 

Page 114

Agenda Item 6a



  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

V1 2023 
 

Theme 5: Growth Funding 

Growth Funding Update 

Purpose of Report 
For information. 

Is this report confidential? No 

Summary 
This report provides an update on recent work to improve the provision of growth funding 
from national to local government highlighting correspondence with the Secretary of State 
relating to the Levelling Up Fund. 
 

LGA Plan Theme: Stronger local economies, thriving local democracy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact details 

Contact officer: Philip Clifford 

Position: Senior Adviser 

Phone no: 07909 898 327  

Email: philip.clifford@local.gov.uk 

 

Recommendation(s)

That Board Members note the update.

Page 115

Agenda Item 6b

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:firstname.surname@local.gov.uk


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

V1 2023 
 

Growth Funding Update 

Purpose 
1. With the People and Places Board, the Board advocates for a new 'defragmented' 

approach to growth funding that strengthens alignment with local priorities, is more 
efficient and better matches need with funding availability. This has included a recent 
focus on suggesting improvements in the processes associated with the Government’s 
Levelling Up Fund 

Background 
2. The Levelling Up Fund was announced as part of the 2020 Spending Review. At the 

time, the LGA welcomed the fund, and the idea that this might help to tackle the 
complex and fragmented funding system faced by English local government.  

3. However, our response also flagged concerns about introducing yet another competitive 
bidding process, particularly at a time when councils were focused on protecting 
residents and communities from the ongoing impacts of the pandemic. 

4. Following a discussion at both the City Regions Board and the People and Places 
Board, regarding the experiences of councils in bidding for the second round of the 
levelling up fund, members asked officers to draft a letter to the Secretary of State for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, setting out their concerns. A copy of this letter 
is attached at Appendix A. 

5. The Minister for Levelling Up, Dehenna Davison MP, has recently responded on behalf 
of the Government, noting the feedback from Members and agreeing to meet once 
more information regarding the timeline and format of round three of the fund is 
available. A copy of this letter is attached at Appendix B. 

6. More recently, many of these concerns have been highlighted by a report from the 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities Committee Funding for Levelling Up. Our on 
the day media response called on the Government to cut costly competition for much 
needed local investment and to provide better information about total public spending in 
a local areas, to support a more co-ordinated approach across government and with 
local leaders 

Proposal 
7. Members are asked to note the update. Once a date for the meeting has been 

arranged, officers will prepare a briefing in line with the Board’s established position. 

Page 116

Agenda Item 6b

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/40145/documents/195720/default/
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/news/cut-costly-competitive-bids-fulfil-projects-lga-responds-luhc-committee-report-levelling


  
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 

  
 
 

 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ      www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      
Local Government Association company number 11177145 
Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 
Chairman: Councillor James Jamieson   Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd CBE   President: Baroness Grey-Thompson 

V1 2023 
 

Implications for Wales  
8. Economic development is devolved to the Welsh Government. In November 2020 it was 

announced that the Levelling Up Fund would operate in England, with the Welsh 
Government receiving Barnett consequential funding. However, in February 2021 the 
UK Government decided it would deliver the fund on a UK-wide basis. The issues 
raised by Members of the People and Places and City Regions Board are therefore 
similar to those experienced by Welsh local authorities. 

Financial Implications   
9. There are no direct financial implications arising from this work. 

Equalities implications  
10. The process for allocating the Levelling Up Fund includes an equalities analysis. As part 

of the process, Ministers received equalities analysis for the places that had been 
provisionally selected to received Levelling Up Funding compared with the list of places 
which were provisionally unsuccessful so that they were able to consider the potential 
impact of the decisions on equalities. The LGA has consistently raised the issue that 
those areas experiencing the most significant levels of regional inequality are at risk of 
missing out on investment due to the competitive nature of the allocations process. We 
will continue to put this issue to Government. 

Next steps  
11. Once a date for the meeting has been arranged, officers will prepare a briefing in line 

with the Board’s established position. The actions from this meeting will be brought 
back to a future board meeting. 

Page 117

Agenda Item 6b

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk




Appendix A  

Dear Secretary of State,  

Levelling Up Fund  

Following the announcement of the allocation of the second round of the Levelling 
Up Fund, we wanted to write to you to outline our experiences, and to ask for an 
open review of the process ahead of any future rounds of funding. Whilst we 
welcome the additional funding which can be transformative for communities across 
the country, we have serious concerns about the process by which the funding was 
allocated.  

The LGA has consistently argued that wasteful competitive bidding processes are 
not a sustainable approach to economic development or public service delivery. 
Competitive bids are costly for councils – for example, Norwich City Council 
submitted two bids to second round of the Levelling Up Fund, allocating £120,000 
from business change reserve to support development of applications to the 
Levelling Up Fund and Shared Prosperity Fund. Neither of these bids were 
successful. Councils’ ability to pursue these bids varies greatly, with those with 
greater resources better able to make speculative bids. At a time when councils are 
facing increasing cost pressures, this means councils with fewer resources are 
having to make difficult decisions as to whether it is worth risking losing money in 
order to bid for additional funding.   

In this instance, the frustration felt by unsuccessful areas was compounded by the 
inconsistent messaging around whether areas could receive funding from both the 
first and second round of the fund. This led to councils such as Birmingham 
submitting five bids for the second round, at a cost of £305,806, and Nottingham 
submitting three bids at a cost of £195,000, along with the cost of two members of 
staff working on these bids three days a week for two months. As both Birmingham 
and Nottingham were allocated funding in the first round, these bids were deemed to 
be ineligible for the second round. These councils were not aware that they were not 
eligible until after the successful bids were announced, and some councils were 
even advised and encouraged by civil servants to submit bids for the second round 
following successful bids in the first round.  

As we look ahead to the third round of the Levelling Up Fund, we urge Government 
to reconsider the process for allocating the remaining £1 billion in the fund. Instead 
of another round of costly competitive bidding, the fund should be allocated on the 
basis of robust evidence and local need. We would welcome an opportunity to meet 
to discuss how this could be implemented in a way which would both be cost 
effective and empower local areas to level up their communities.  

Yours sincerely 

Cllr Kevin Bentley     Mayor Marvin Rees  

Chair of the People and Places Board   Chair of the City Regions Board 

Page 119

Agenda Item 6b





Page 121

Agenda Item 6b





 
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 
 

  

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  
Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

City Regions Board Annual Report 
 

Purpose of report 

For information. 

Summary 

This report summarises the Board’s activity over the past year. It sets out key achievements 
in relation to the priorities for the City Regions Board in 2022/23 and looks forward to next 
year’s priorities.  

 

Is this report confidential? Yes ☐ No ☒ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact officer:  Rebecca Cox 

Position:   Principal Policy Adviser 

Phone no:   0207 187 7384  

Email:    rebecca.cox@local.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation/s

Members are invited to: 

1. Note the achievements against the board’s priorities for 2022/23; and 

2. Note the board’s proposed priority areas for 2023/24

Action/s

Officers to take forward actions as appropriate. 

Page 123

Agenda Item 8

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 
 

  

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  
Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

Background 

1. The City Regions Board provides a clear voice and resource for non-metropolitan 
authorities within the LGA. This year the Board has had a particular focus on building a 
coalition to identify and address the future needs and opportunities of cities, exploring 
three key questions: what are cities; what do we need them to be; how do we get there? 
Alongside this, the Board has also continued to develop work in relation to employment 
and skills, growth funding, levelling up and devolution.  
 

2. Members are asked to consider the achievements of the board over the last year and the 
proposed priorities for next year.  

Priorities and Achievements 

Future of Cities 

3. The LGA’s second urban summit was held in March 2023, with over a hundred people 
attending in person. Attendees heard from Andy Haldane, Chief Executive of the RSA 
who set out the initial findings of the RSA’s UK Urban Futures Commission, including 
how UK cities lag behind their global competitors on productivity and growth, and 
highlighted the links between income and health disparities. 
 

4. The summit was supported by an open letter to Michael Gove, Secretary of State for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities signed by the leaders of Core Cities, Key Cities 
and London Councils. This set out our ambitious offer to government: that, with the right 
policies, finances, and space to deliver, cities can produce better outcomes, not just for 
urban areas, but also for the whole country. 
 

5. The City Regions Board will be hosting a reception at the LGA’s Annual Conference to 
hear more from the RSA on their work and to begin the process of shaping these 
emerging findings ahead of Party Conferences in the Autumn. 
 

6. As part of the LGA’s wider work in this area the Board also commissioned six videos 
from city residents, describing their experience of living in urban communities and setting 
out their hopes for the future. The videos were launched at the summit and form part of a 
wider collection of essays, data and analysis on the LGA’s Future of Cities Hub. 

      Levelling Up 

7. The LGA’s Levelling Up Locally Inquiry report was published in March 2023, broadening 
the conversation around levelling up through five roundtable discussions, commissioned 
research and analysis of demographic trends. The inquiry explored how the 
Government’s levelling up agenda might better strengthen local areas by looking beyond 
the Levelling Up White Paper to explore the role local leadership can play in shaping a 
recovery that reduced inequality for all. The report was launched at a hybrid event with 

Page 124

Agenda Item 8

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/devolution/future-cities
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/campaigns/levelling/levelling-local-inquiry


 
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 
 

  

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  
Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

over 100 attendees and speakers included Sarah Longlands from CLES, Professor 
Francesca Gains from Policy at Manchester and Professor Michael Kenny from the 
Bennett Institute.   
 

8. The Board approved the creation and co-sponsorship of a health devolution working 
group with the NHS Confederation. This working group has met once and provides an 
opportunity to ensure that learning can be shared between local government, the NHS 
and Integrated Care Systems (ICSs). The three boards with an interest in health 
devolution (the City Regions Board, the People and Places Board, and the Community 
Wellbeing Board) all have a nominated representative on the working group, with Cllr 
Gillian Ford representing the City Regions Board on the group. Sarah Pickup, Deputy 
Chief Executive of the LGA is also a member of the working group. 
 
Employment and skills 
 

9. Since last summer’s publication of our employment and skills devolution proposals ‘Work 
Local: Unlocking talent to level up’, we have engaged a wide range of parliamentarians 
and stakeholders on how it could improve services. To build on the growing support for 
the Board’s proposals, over the coming months, we plan to develop further methods to 
communicate our proposals to decision makers and stakeholders as well as to look at 
ways it can be implemented.   
 

10. We continue to promote the role of local government in employment and skills and our 
Work Local objectives through select committees. For instance, in January, Cllr Toby 
Savage gave oral evidence on behalf of the LGA at the Work and Pensions Select 
Committee’s inquiry on the DWP’s Plan for Jobs and employment support. Our written 
submission was cited widely by committee members. Alongside this we responded to the 
APPG for Youth Employment Committee inquiry into how young peoples’ mental health 
is affecting labour market outcomes. More recently in May 2023, the Boards responded 
to the APPG for Youth Employment Committee inquiry into Place-based approaches to 
youth employment with Cllr Gillian Ford representing the LGA at an evidence session. 
 

11. Work in ongoing to influence the outcomes of the Commission on the Future of 
Employment Support which is looking at ways in which employment support and 
services could be more effective. This include an LGA evidence session from Cllr Toby 
Savage. 
 

12. Building more strategic relationships with Government departments including the 
Departments for Work and Pensions and Education (DWP and DfE) are important for 
both the LGA and councils to improve policy making at national level and create stronger 
ties locally. Devolution areas already have a relationship with these departments, so the 
LGA has proactively sought to develop links with councils not currently in a devolution 
area. In the last year, working with our local government partners, we have set up an 
LGA/DWP advisory group for councils to discuss issues related to labour market policy. 

Page 125

Agenda Item 8

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/work-local-unlocking-talent-level
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/work-local-unlocking-talent-level
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/111632/pdf/
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/111632/pdf/
https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/lga-submission-appg-youth-employment-committee-inquiry-how
https://appgyouthemployment.org/
https://www.youthemployment.org.uk/appg-for-youth-employment-launches-new-inquiry-in-to-place-based-approaches-to-youth-employment/
https://www.youthemployment.org.uk/appg-for-youth-employment-launches-new-inquiry-in-to-place-based-approaches-to-youth-employment/
https://www.employment-studies.co.uk/commission
https://www.employment-studies.co.uk/commission


 
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 
 

  

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  
Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

The group last met in February and discussed youth hubs, contracted employment 
programmes and economic inactivity. It will next meet in June. We have also had 
positive discussion with DfE to establish a similar grouping.   
 

13. With LEP transition under a year away and an increasing focus on the role of councils in 
growth, the councils’ economic development (ED) functions will change. Working with 
councils, we have developed a guide to economic development teams – their role and 
skills needs. The report shows how ED services are delivered across England, shares 
learning across the sector with examples and top tips of what works and sets out the 
future skills and capacity challenges they face and where they can go for support. It will 
be published as an online guide on our website. 
 

14. A joint piece of work developed by People and Places, City Regions and Community 
Wellbeing Boards has explored the role of local government in addressing economic 
inactivity and what factors could be driving this locally. We aim to publish the work in the 
summer.   
 

15. The People and Places and City Regions Board jointly agreed to examine how the role 
of councils in supporting equality, diversity, and economic inclusion could be advanced 
to help unlock talent and level up local areas. The work will conclude in June with a 
compendium of case studies and the LGA ‘Economic Inclusion Principles’ paper to share 
learning across councils to guide the advancement of economic inclusion in their 
communities.  

Urban Resilience  

16. City regions face an increasing variety of physical, political, economic and social risks. 
The Board took the decision to begin work to explore the nature of these risks, what it 
means to be resilient and understand how our city regions can become resilient. The 
initial focus of this work centred on the consequences of climate change for urban areas, 
particularly the risks associated with higher temperatures. Members heard from Bristol 
regarding the creation of a heat vulnerability index and from Space Syntax as part of the 
urban summit. Consequently, the Board is exploring the potential of a ‘local resilience 
act’ with the think-tank Localis, to strengthen the ability of urban leaders to manage 
change. 

Green Jobs 

17. The People & Places and City Regions Boards have been supporting the local 
government representative on the Ministerial Green Jobs Delivery Group, securing a 
time limited Local Capacity and Capability sub group (LCCG). The LCCG comprises of 
representatives from skill providers, business, industry, national and local government, 
with the sector being represented by the LGA, Solace, ADEPT, MCA Network and 
UK100. It has explored a range of issues including a national definition of green jobs, the 
strategic mapping of key net zero infrastructure projects, the opportunities and barriers to 

Page 126

Agenda Item 8

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 
 

  

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  
Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

developing the workforce needed to deliver net zero and local delivery mechanisms. This 
has been an opportunity to promote the Work Local model. The LCCG will be developing 
recommendations by July. 
 

18. In tandem with the work of the LCCG, the City Regions and People & Places Board will 
be developing policy positions on the place-based approach needed to develop the 
workforce and jobs needed to deliver net zero, utilising the new partnerships the LGA 
has created through the LCCG. This work will be done to complement the net zero and 
climate change work of the EEHT Board.  
 

Growth Funding 

19.  The City Regions and People and Places Boards commissioned Shared Intelligence to 
provide support for councils and combined authorities undertaking LEP integration and to 
share good practice and learning. The project saw a series of interviews and workshops 
carried out and the final report draws on learning from research between November 
2022 and March 2023 and DLUHC officials attended the sessions. It will be used to 
inform the Board's response to the Government’s consultation process following the 
Chancellor’s announcement in the 2023 budget that he was ‘minded to’ end funding to 
LEPs from April 2024.  
 

20. The Board, working with the People and Places Board, commissioned Shared 
Intelligence to capture learning for policymakers in central and local government from 
eight place-based programmes that have been delivered over the last 20 years. The final 
report identifies eight key lessons for policymakers to consider. The report has recently 
been published on the LGA’s website. 
 

21. Following the announcement of the allocation of the second round of the Levelling Up 
Fund, the City Regions Board and People and Places Boards sent a letter to the 
Secretary of State outlining experiences and asking for an open review of the process 
ahead of any future rounds of funding. Dehenna Davison MP has agreed to meet with 
both Board Chairs ahead of the third round of the Levelling Up Fund to discuss how the 
fund could be implemented in a way which would both be cost effective and empower 
local areas to level up their communities. 
 

22. The People and Places and City Regions Board jointly commissioned WPI Economics to 
explore councils’ future role in driving growth and prosperity. This is due for completion in 
June 2023 and will help inform the LGA’s manifesto asks ahead of a forthcoming general 
election. 
 

23. The City Regions and People & Places Boards has been active in ensuring that DHLUC 
continue to work with local authorities as they introduce the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
(UKSPF). In November, the Chair called on the government to approve local authority 
investment plans and calling for greater flexibilities on how the fund can be used across 

Page 127

Agenda Item 8

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/news/lga-councils-call-urgent-clarity-future-uk-shared-prosperity-fund


 
City Regions Board 

7 June 2023 
 

  

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  
Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

the three years. Following the approval of the plans in December, the Chair called for 
there to be flexibility between year spend. In January, DHLUC confirmed that lead 
authorities could spend allocations between years, subject to a credible plan, with a 
further announcement made in March on the introduction of the flexibility to spend 
UKSPF on the People & Skills Priority in 2023/24. 
 

24. The People & Places and City Regions Board commissioned Shared Intelligence to 
undertake action learning sets to support local authorities with the introduction of UKSPF 
and the Rural England Prosperity Fund (REPF) in early 2023. This has provided a space 
for local authorities to network and share learning. As there has been significant interest 
in participating, the LGA has created a wider informal officer network to share learning. 
The LGA will publish the learning from the action learning sets by the beginning of June 
and will continue to support continual officer engagement with DHLUC and DEFRA for 
both UKSPF and REPF.        
 

25. Working with councils, we have developed a guide to economic development 
teams – their role and skills needs. The report shows how ED services are 
delivered across England, shares learning across the sector with examples and 
top tips of what works and sets out the future skills and capacity challenges they 
face and where they can go for support. It will be published as an online guide on 
our website. 

 

26. Programme of work and priorities  
 

27. The Board will look to build on its successes as it plans for the 2023/24 board cycle. 
Areas of focus are likely to include: 

27.1. Making the case for investment in urban areas and city regions ahead of the 
upcoming general election. 

27.2. Influencing national policy on levelling up and devolution, including widening 
the scope of powers available and deepening of existing deals.  

27.3. Exploring the policy levers needed to improve resilience in urban areas and 
city regions.  

27.4. Embedding our Work Local proposals into national policy, including specific 
policy proposals to support green jobs and net zero.  

27.5. Streamlining local growth funding and implementing the learning from 
existing funding programmes. 

27.6. Supporting councils with the transitions of LEPs to local government and 
removing barriers to councils’ abilities to support local inclusive growth. 

 

Next steps 

28. Officers to take forward actions as appropriate to draft a work programme for the board. 

Page 128

Agenda Item 8

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/news/lga-responds-approval-councils-ukspf-investment-plans


Document is Restricted

Page 129

Agenda Item 9





Document is Restricted

Page 145

Agenda Item 10a





Document is Restricted

Page 149

Agenda Item 10a




	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the last meeting
	3 Theme 1: Future of Cities
	Purpose of Report
	Summary
	Background
	Proposal
	Implications for Wales
	Financial Implications
	Equalities implications
	Next steps

	4a Supporting Economic Inclusion
	Purpose of Report
	Summary
	Purpose and outcome
	Background
	Proposal
	Implications for Wales
	Financial Implications
	Equalities implications
	Next steps
	Appendix 1 - Draft EDI Principles Paper 30 May 2023
	Councils have statutory responsibilities to ensure that all young people up to the age of 18 (25 for those with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) or an Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan) have access to opportunities that allow them to participate in education, employment and training and thus contribute to the economy. Councils also have
	Corporate Parent responsibilities for children who are looked after and care leavers. This includes supporting initiatives and programmes that can help these children and young people overcome barriers to economic inclusion.
	Many councils run adult and community learning (ACL) provision in devolved and non-devolved areas supporting around 600,000 adults every year to develop skills for work and life. Mayoral Combined Authorities (MCAs) and the Greater London Authority (GLA) continue to shape their adult skills offer locally and bring the further education sector together through a devolved Adult Education Budget (AEB).

	Appendix 2 - Supporting economic inclusion - Thematic summary
	Purpose
	Interview questions
	Question 1:
	Question 2:
	Question 3:
	Question 4:
	Additional comments:



	4b Update on the health and devolution working group with NHS Confederation
	Purpose of Report
	Summary
	Outcome and purpose
	Background
	Update from first meeting
	Timeline
	Implications for Wales
	Financial Implications
	Equalities implications
	Next steps

	5a Local Resilience Act
	Purpose of Report
	Summary
	Outcome and Purpose
	Background
	Proposal
	Implications for Wales
	Financial Implications
	Equalities implications
	Next steps
	Item 3 - FINAL 2023-05-30 - UR LRA - CR - APPENDIX A
	Contents
	1. About the Local Resilience Act
	2. Work stream
	2.1 Reports
	Climate Resilience in Local Plans: summary

	2.2 Events

	3. Supporting the Local Resilience Act campaign


	6a Supporting Economic Growth and Prosperity
	Purpose of Report
	Summary
	Background
	Project updates
	Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Integration update
	Next steps
	Implications for Wales
	Financial Implications
	Equalities implications
	Supporting Economic Growth and Prosperity - APPENDIX A
	A guide for economic development services: their role and future skills needs
	Foreword
	Executive Summary
	Four factors are shaping the context in which ED services operate
	What this guide recommends

	1. Introduction
	2. Current and future opportunities and drivers of change
	Factors driving change over the past five years
	Opportunities and challenges over the coming decade

	3. Economic development services vary in form and focus
	ED services come in many forms
	Large and small teams, commissioners, and hands-on delivery
	Partnership skills and the ability to acquire sector knowledge quickly
	Budgets shape teams and recruitment patterns

	Elected members influence the approach of ED services to economic growth

	4. What economic development services achieve
	1.	Closing the skills gap between employers and the local community.
	Essex County Council – Aviation academy

	2.	Designing employment support for local businesses and start-up support for entrepreneurs.
	Hull City Council – Business Support

	3.	Creating growth strategies with input cross sectors.
	Staffordshire County Council – Economic Growth strategy 2023 to 2030 & growth programme

	4.	Place and destination management including supporting retail cores / town centres and tourism.
	Devon County Council – Made in Devon

	5.	Attracting inward investment from private and public sources.
	Lincolnshire County Council – Team Lincolnshire

	6.	Working across regeneration and planning to shape contributions from business.
	Bristol City Council – City Centre Recovery and Renewal

	7.	Building partnerships to deliver greater outcomes for local places.
	Cotswold District Council – RAU innovation village


	5. Future skills needs of economic development services
	Career pathways and promoting the ED profession
	Economic development future skills needs
	Top technical skills:
	Top knowledge areas:
	Top abilities:

	Continuous professional Development
	Future skills needs by type of economic development service

	6. Key findings and summary recommendations at a glance
	For economic development services
	For portfolio holders
	For national organisations

	7. Existing sources of skills support for professional CPD
	Sector Organisations
	Universities



	Supporting Economic Growth and Prosperity - APPENDIX B
	1.	Introduction
	Purpose of this document
	Timing and impact of March 2023 budget announcement about future of LEPs
	Background and context

	Findings about current state of play
	Pre budget
	How has the context changed with the 15 March 2023 Budget announcement?

	2.	What do local areas value in the work of current LEPs?
	3.	Themes from Tranche 1 areas
	What arrangements are emerging?
	Opportunities identified
	Challenges identified
	Messages from Tranche 1 areas for others

	4.	Themes from non-Tranche 1 areas
	Opportunities identified
	Taking integration forward

	5.	Conclusion
	Appendix – Self-assessment tool


	6b Growth Funding Update
	Purpose of Report
	Summary
	Purpose
	Background
	Proposal
	Implications for Wales
	Financial Implications
	Equalities implications
	Next steps
	2023-05-30 - GFU - CR - APPENDIX A
	Appendix A

	2023-05-30 - GFU - CR - APPENDIX B

	8 City Regions Annual Report
	9 Theme 4: Green Jobs and Skills
	10a Councils' Future Role in Driving Growth and Prosperity
	2023-05-30 - G&P - CR - APPENDIX A


